Public Document Pack

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL
Meeting to be held in remote on
Thursday, 4th March, 2021
at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
B Anderson
K Brooks
C Campbell
C Gruen (Chair)
S Hamilton
J Heselwood
D Ragan
J Shemilt
P Wray
R Finnigan

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on
the ‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=950&MId=10070&Ver=4

Agenda compiled by:
Andy Booth
Andy.Booth@leeds.gov.uk
Governance Services
Civic Hall
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:No exempt items or information have
been identified on the agenda

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS

3

To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)
DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE
PECUNIARY INTERESTS

4

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.
5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6

MINUTES - 28 JANUARY 2021

7 - 12

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 28 January 2021.
7

Rothwell

APPLICATION 17/06933/FU - SUGAR HILL
CLOSE, OULTON DRIVE, WORDSWORTH
DRIVE, OULTON, LEEDS, LS26 8EP - APPEAL
DECISION

13 50

Members are requested to note the attached report
of the Chief Planning Officer regarding the appeal
decisions regarding an application for the
demolition of existing dwellings and construction of
70 dwellings and associated infrastructure.
8

Hunslet and
Riverside

APPLICATION 20/06034/FU – 49 COLWYN
ROAD, BEESTON, LEEDS, LS11 6LQ.
To receive and consider the attached report of the
Chief Planning Officer regarding an application for
the retention of single storey extension to rear.

51 62

Item
No

Ward

9

Farnley and
Wortley

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPLICATION 20/08124/OT – OLDFIELD LANE,
UPPER WORTLEY

63 84

To receive and consider the attached report of the
Chief Planning Officer regarding an outline
application for housing development (up to 61
units) including adopted highway access and
associated external works.
10

Guiseley and
Rawdon

APPLICATIONS 20/01306/FU & 20/01307/LI –
MICKLEFIELD HOUSE, NEW ROAD SIDE,
RAWDON

85 102

To receive and consider the attached report of the
Chief Planning Officer regarding an application for
the change of use and alterations of former council
building to form eight flats with parking.

11

Kirkstall

APPLICATION 20/08541/FU – KIRKSTALL
FORGE, ABBEY ROAD, KIRKSTALL
To receive and consider the attached report of the
Chief Planning Officer regarding the variation of
conditions 12 (completion of eastern and western
accesses) and 13 (provision of bus route) of
approval 15/04824/FU to amend wording of
conditions.

12

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 1 April 2021 at 1.30 p.m.

103 132

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable
those not present to see or hear the proceedings
either as they take place (or later) and to enable
the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the
recording protocol is available from the contacts
named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of
practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees.
In particular there should be no internal editing
of published extracts; recordings may start at
any point and end at any point but the material
between those points must be complete.

2

a)
b)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL
THURSDAY, 28TH JANUARY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor C Gruen in the Chair
Councillors B Anderson, K Brooks,
C Campbell, S Hamilton, J Heselwood,
D Ragan, J Shemilt, P Wray and
R Finnigan

47

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals.

48

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no exempt information.

49

Late Items
There were no late items.

50

Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations.

51

Minutes - 10 December 2020
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 2020 be
confirmed as a correct record.

52

Application 20/05885/FU – Phase 2 of the Kirkstall Forge Development
(Plots E and F), Kirkstall Forge, Abbey Road
The report of the Chief Planning Officer presented a reserved matters
application for 213 houses and apartments (Use Class C3), up to 2,076
square metres of commercial space (Use Classes A1, and/or A2, and/or A3,
and/or A4, and/or A5, and/or B1, and/or D1, and/or D2), amenity space and a
new public square for phase 2 of the Kirkstall Forge Development (Plots E
and F), Kirsktall Forge, Abbey Road, Leeds.
Site plans and photographs were displayed and referred to throughout the
discussion of the application.
Further issues highlighted in relation to the application included the following:

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 7















There had been two previously approved applications for these plots in
2017 and 2018.
The commercial floor space provision was up to 2,076 square metres
and not 2,400 metres as detailed in the report.
Access arrangements to and within the site.
The application site was set between the new internal road and the
A65 with an established line of Woodland on the side of the A65.
Creation of the ‘stitch’ which would be a public realm and pedestrian
access area.
The plots were situated above the already developed office block which
was situated between the plots and the rail station.
The proposals were very similar to the previously approved
applications. Details of the previously approved applications were
displayed and changes to the applications explained. Main alterations
included changes to the blocks E2 and E3 at either side of the pavilion
building and the stitch. Comparison images were displayed.
Car parking – reference was made to parking and travel arrangements.
It was proposed that there be a further condition to the application for a
Travel Plan and Parking Strategy.
Floor layouts for the apartments were displayed.
Design detail to reflect the history of Kirkstall Forge.
CGI images of how the proposals would look when completed were
displayed.
It was recommended that the application be approved with the
additional condition for a travel plan.

In response to questions and comments, the following was discussed:









It had not been necessary to carry out any projected wind modelling on
the proposals.
Recreation - there would be opportunities within the pocket park for
children’s play area and opportunity for woodland and canal side walks.
Design of the apartments. Apartments would be larger than the
national space standard requirement.
There would be secure long term storage for 229 bicycles with an
additional 31 short stay spaces. Electric bicycle charging could be
considered in the scheme.
Balconies to apartments would be large enough to accommodate a
table and chairs and provide a suitable amenity space.
Car parking – residents would be aware of whether they had facility for
parking before taking on their accommodation. The rental market
showed a lower demand for parking spaces. Should there be
additional demand for parking, the travel plan would include
arrangements for additional provision. The main aim was to promote
and encourage sustainable travel.
With regard to Policy EN1, reference was made to the requirement to
carry out a sustainability appraisal. An energy statement had been
provided which gave ideas as to how this policy would be met. There

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 8












would be a range of measures and there was confidence that policy
requirements would be met by condition.
It was felt that the housing mix was policy compliant and with this
revision of the scheme there had been a move to introduce more 3
bedroom apartments.
There would be the required amount of disabled parking spaces and
these would be located in accessible positions.
The children’s play area would be located in the pocket park. The
pocket park would also have landscaped walks.
Bicycle charging points would be available within the storage areas and
in the stitch square.
With regards to Policy EN1 and EN2 the scheme preceded the Core
Strategy. Information was shown to demonstrate the targets to reduce
carbon emissions through the use of renewable energy and would be
in excess of policy requirements. The energy strategy for the scheme
and sustainability statement submitted also addressed policy
requirements.
The provision of traditional style play equipment for the children’s play
area could be considered.
Design of the buildings and materials used.
Members broadly supported the application although some concern
was expressed about policy compliance in relation to Policies EN1 and
EN2 and the housing mix.
Members were reminded that permission had previously been
approved for a very similar scheme and that the reserved matters
would be dealing with siting of the buildings, design and development,
external appearance of buildings and landscaping.

RESOLVED - That Reserved Matters approval be granted (the details relating
to the siting, design, external appearance and landscaping of the
development) subject to the conditions set out in the report and a condition to
cover the following matter:


53

The submission and approval of a Travel Plan and Parking
Management Strategy.

Update on Application 17/06933/FU and Application 18/00846/FU
The Panel was given verbal updates on the following applications:
Application 17/06933/FU – Land at Sugar Hill Close, Oulton Drive,
Wordsworth Drive, Oulton, Leeds, LS26 8EP
Following an appeal, the decision of the Inspector overturned the decision of
the Panel to refuse the application. A revised plan had been submitted by the
appellant that addressed one of the reasons for refusal which related to
garden size. Planning permission was subsequently granted and the appeal
against the Council for costs was dismissed. Eleven affordable units would
be included within the development and a further eleven units would be made
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 9

available to existing tenants of the site who had regulated assured tenancies.
A full report would be brought to a future meeting of the Plans Panel.
Application 18/00846/FU – Former site of Benyon Centre, Ring Road,
Middleton, Leeds
The Panel granted permission in 2019 for a retail unit on the former site of the
Benyon Centre. This was against officer recommendation. This decision was
challenged by Asda by judicial review where the Panel decision was upheld
and then subsequently appealed to the Court of Appeal when the appeal was
dismissed.
54

Position Statement - Application 19/01670/FU – Land off Cockshott Lane,
Armley, Leeds
The report of the Chief Planning Officer presented an application (position
statement) for the development of eleven houses, one block of four
bungalows with staff facilities and one block of thirteen houses with one staff
accommodation unit at land off Cockshott Lane, Armley, Leeds.
Members were asked to note the content of the report on the proposal and to
provide views in relation to questions posed to aid the progression of the
application.
Site plans and photographs were displayed and referred to throughout the
discussion of the application.
The following was highlighted:











The application was for a hybrid development with 11 private dwellings
and a block of four bungalows with staff facilities and a block of thirteen
flats with one staff accommodation unit.
There would be creation of a landscaped area in the existing
greenspace on site.
The site previously housed a 1930s public house building which was
demolished in 2004. The site had since become overgrown with selfseeded vegetation.
Some of the trees on the site benefit from Tree Preservation Orders
(TPOs) that were made in 2004.
The site had been used for fly tipping and temporary fencing had been
erected to prevent further unauthorised access.
There was a public right of way through the site.
Access arrangements to the site.
Details of the proposed site plan with new access road.
Details of house types and internal layouts.
Details of the supported living accommodation proposed for the site.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 10






It was expected that a registered social landlord with experience of
providing supported living services would manage the supported living
accommodation.
Positioning of protected trees within the site and how they would be
affected by the proposals. There would be continued discussion with
the applicant with regards to this.
The greenspace had become overgrown and it was aimed to
reinvigorate the area with access for all. There would also be
additional tree planting as part of the biodiversity gain.
There was an emerging energy statement which would address policy
requirements and this made reference to materials to be used and
energy usage.

In response to comments and questions, the following was discussed:




It was requested that detailed information demonstrating that the
proposals would meet Policies EN1 and EN2 be submitted along with
the application.
Public rights of way across the site – there were established routes
across the site though now partly overgrown and blocked off. These
would be resurfaced and reintroduced as part of the proposals.
Not all trees on the site were covered by TPOs. Some of the older
trees were covered by the TPOs and it was believed that two of these
had been lost before the applicant took control of the site. There were
good quality trees to be retained on the south and west boundaries to
the site. It was difficult to gauge how many protected trees would be
lost due to the overgrowth on the site. Further discussion with regard
to trees included the different categories of the protected trees; which
trees would be affected by the proposals and the types of trees that
could be planted as part of the landscape plan.

The applicant’s representative addressed the Panel. The following was
highlighted:





There had been a lot of discussion with Planning and there had been
many amendments to address concerns.
There was a fine balance in providing the private housing alongside the
supported living housing while keeping important elements of the
landscape and trees.
Further amendments could be considered to retain trees.
Planting of heavy duty trees rather than feathered trees would be
considered.

In response to questions and comments, the following was discussed:


Social spaces within the supported living housing. All the apartments
would be designed for accessibility and lifetime living and there would
be opportunities for communal areas both externally and internally.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 11




There would be some additional space for the bungalows but was more
likely to be used for staff purposes.
There was concern expressed that there should be more communal
spaces to tackle isolation.
In response to questions that were outlined in the report to seek the
views of the Panel, the following was highlighted:
o Further to questions regarding the landscape plan, layout and
arboricultural plan, Members raised concerns about the potential
loss of protected trees and requested that the layout be revisited
to retain trees, and in particular trees T3 and T6. Members
noted that this may require a re-configuration of the layout or a
less intensive scheme. Members also requested that substantial
tree planting be included as part of the scheme. Members noted
officer concerns in respect of the proposed landscaping for the
area of public open space and requested that heavy standard
trees should form part of the landscaping scheme.
o Members requested that further information be presented to
Panel evidence the net gain in bio-diversity and how that would
be achieved. It was considered that the points raised in
response to earlier questions should help in increasing the biodiversity offer.
o Some Members raised concerns about the external appearance
of the dwellings. To highlight the point it was considered that the
architectural treatment, and detailing, be revisited with a view to
breaking up the visual mass of some elevations. It was also
requested that more information be provided to aid the
understanding of the design and how it responds to its local
context. Attention was drawn to the architecture of the building
that previously existed on the site. It was requested that further
information be provided to help inform the Panel’s
understanding of the design approach and this should include
the use computer generated imagery.
o The Panel considered that the design of the scheme should be
discussed with Ward Members and the Chair, and their views
taken into account, prior to reporting the application back to
Panel for a decision.

RESOLVED – That the report and discussion be noted.
55

Date and Time of Next Meeting
Thursday, 4 March 2021 at 1.30 p.m.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Originator:

Nicole Walker/David
Newbury

Tel:

0113

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
SOUTH & WEST PLANS PANEL – SUMMARY OF APPEAL DECISIONS
Date: 4th March 2021
Subject: 17/06933/FU - Demolition of existing dwellings and construction of 70
dwellings and associated infrastructure at Sugar Hill Close, Oulton Drive, Wordsworth
Drive, Oulton, Leeds, LS26 8EP
APPLICANT
Pemberstone (Oulton
Properties) Ltd

DATE VALID
N/A

TARGET DATE
N/A

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Rothwell

Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Ward Members consulted
(referred to in report)

Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: Members to note the report.
INTRODUCTION:
1.

This report provides a summary of two appeal decisions concerning the above
stated development. The first relates to an appeal against the decision of the council
to refuse planning permission and that appeal was allowed and planning permission
granted. The second relates to an application for an award of costs made by
Pemberstone, the appellants, against the council and this was refused. The appeal
was heard at a Public Inquiry held over 8 days between the 6th and 16th October
2020. Each decision is summarised in turn.
BACKGROUND:

2.

The planning application was determined at the South & West Plans Panel of 3rd
October 2019 where Members resolved not to accept the officer recommendation
Page 13

that planning permission be granted and that planning permission should be refused
for the following reasons:
1.

Given the particular circumstances of this application, and having specific
regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty, it is considered that the adverse
impacts of granting permission, namely the potential and disproportionate
harm that would result to the existing local community, particularly to those
with protected characteristics relating to age and disability, through the loss
of their existing homes and the dissipation of the community, would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits associated with the
development contrary to the General Policy of the Core Strategy (as
amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review 2019) and paragraphs
8(b), 9 and 91(a) of the National Planning Policy Framework (February
2019) which are material considerations that outweigh the Local Plan
(“RR1”).

2.

The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposed layout and
quantum of development has resulted in a number of gardens that are
considered to be deficient in size and/or depth which will lead to poor
amenity space provision when taking into account other factors such as
orientation and tree cover. This will result in harm to residential amenity by
failing to provide adequate private external space for families to use. This
is contrary to policies GP5 and BD5 of the UDP, and to guidance contained
within SPG 13 Neighbourhoods for Living (“RR2”).

3.

In the build up to the Inquiry the appellant submitted a revised layout plan to address
concerns about garden sizes as expressed in the second reason for refusal. The
Inspector noted that the revised plan only resulted in modest changes to the layout
and that the consideration of the plan no prejudice would be caused to any party in
considering the plan as part of the appeal. As a consequence reason for refusal 2
fell and was not considered at the Inquiry. Members will be aware that when such
amendments can be made during the course of the appeal process it is important
that parties act reasonably to achieve suitable compliance with the refusal reason in
question. The agreement to RR2 was considered appropriate in these
circumstances.

4.

Members should also note that local residents who had a formal Rule 6 status
during the course of the appeal “Save Our Homes”(“SOH) took a full part in the
proceedings of the Inquiry (SOH gave evidence to the Inquiry and employed a
barrister to lead their case).
SUMMARY OF PLANNING APPEAL DECISION:

5.

In considering the arguments posed against RR1, the Inspector considered the
following to be the main issues in the appeal:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

The effect on the local community of the loss of the existing homes on the
appeal site;
The effect of the proposed development on the significance of the nondesignated heritage asset of the Airey houses;
Whether the proposal would be consistent with the Development Plan;
The effect of other considerations on the overall planning balance.
Page 14

6.

The Inspector considered each of the main issues in turn and a summary of his
findings are set out in the following paragraphs.
i.

Loss of Existing Homes

7.

It was established that the community stretches beyond the red line on the plan that
identified the extent of the land subject to the actual development, with residents
using nearby facilities such as the sports centre, school and shops, and visiting
friends in the local area. However, a more tightly defined local community with an
identifiable culture could be recognised in respect of the appeal site.

8.

The Inspector made the following observations about the occupation of the
dwellings at the appeal site. That the properties are owned and let by the Appellant.
At the date of the inquiry, 14 of the houses were unoccupied. There are three types
of tenancy within the appeal site: regulated, assured and assured shorthold.
Together there are 11 regulated and assured tenancies, which both offer the tenant
statutory protection of the tenancy for life (the protected tenancies). The other 45
occupied houses are subject to assured shorthold tenancies (AST), which are
arranged for a fixed term. A landlord may end such a tenancy by serving a section
21 notice: the period of notice required is normally two months, but is currently six
months as a result of regulations introduced in response to the coronavirus
outbreak3.

9.

With regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty it was noted that at least 33
households were identified which include persons with one or more protected
characteristic. A public authority must have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination and to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not share it. The Appellant pointed out
that there would be no discrimination in the loss of existing homes as all would be
demolished and all tenants would be required to move irrespective of protected
characteristics. However, the effects of this action are likely to have a greater impact
on more vulnerable residents. The Inspector agreed with both equality witnesses
that the displacement could have a disproportionate effect on the young, old and
disabled residents and noted there were at least 16 households with these protected
characteristics who only benefited from AST’s and would likely have to move from
the site. He commented that whilst those with other protected characteristics would
also be affected by the redevelopment, there was nothing before him to indicate that
such effects would be materially different from those experienced by residents who
do not share those characteristics.

10.

The 11 households with protected tenancies (i.e. non-AST) will be rehoused on site
in better quality housing, although the Inspector acknowledged these individuals
would be affected by the disruption of moving house and the weakening of networks
built up with existing neighbours who would be unable to remain on site.

11.

It was noted that council housing stock in the Rothwell area is limited and the area is
an area of high demand. Private sector rented properties in the area are more costly
than the appeal properties. Thus it is likely that many households being displaced
would have to seek alternative accommodation away from the local area, dissipating
the community in the Airey houses. The Inspector gave limited weight to the
disruption caused to those on protected tenancies as they were to remain on site.
As regards the other households, the Inspector remarked that, “the dispersal of the
greater part of the households from the appeal site would have a harmful effect
upon that local community with its own culture”.
Page 15

12.

The Inspector set out his conclusions on this issue at paragraph 23 of his decision
letter with reference to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):
“The evidence before me is that the households on the appeal site comprise a
strong, vibrant and healthy community: the social objective in paragraph 8b of the
NPPF supports such communities: similarly, support in paragraph 91(a) of the
NPPF for healthy, inclusive and safe places which support social interaction is
applicable to the existing community. I conclude that the proposed development
would have a damaging impact on the community of existing residents within the
appeal site. Older residents, children and the disabled would be more susceptible to
the change brought about by redevelopment, and there would be a significant
adverse impact for those households unable to relocate into the new houses.”
ii.

Non Designated Heritage Asset

13.

It was common ground between all parties that the existing Airey houses are a local
non-designated heritage asset.

14.

Whilst the Inspector went in to some detail as to the heritage value of the properties
(paragraphs 24-26) he also noted that the structural condition of the houses was a
factor that must be taken into account. A report prepared for the Inquiry which was
not disputed concluded that structural intervention was required in all but two houses
by March 2022. The Inspector considered that the work that would be required in a
full refurbishment would erode the evidential and historic value of the houses.
Further, an alternative solution involving the addition of structural cladding, would
affect the historic and aesthetic value of the asset and lessen its significance to an
extent.

15.

The Inspector summarised his findings at paragraph 28 of his decision letter as
follows:
“The appeal proposal would result in the complete loss of a non-designated heritage
asset, and it would conflict with Policy P11 of the Core Strategy, which requires that
the historic environment, including locally significant undesignated assets and their
settings, is to be conserved and enhanced. I conclude that redevelopment would
inevitably cause considerable harm to the significance of the asset, notwithstanding
that a record could be made. However the asset cannot be retained without works
being undertaken which would have an adverse effect on its significance, and that is
a consideration which I take into account in the planning balance.”
iii.

Consistency with Development Plan

16.

It was the council’s case that the proposal breached the General Policy of the Core
Strategy (which reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out
at paragraph 11 of the NPPF). There are therefore three strands – economic, social
and environmental. The Inspector gave limited weight to the economic benefits of the
proposal. In terms of environment, the Inspector agreed that there would be
environmental benefits but that these were outweighed by the harm caused to the
historic environment through the loss of the Airey homes. In terms of the social strand,
the Inspector concluded that the disruption caused to residents and the dissipation of
the community would cause significant damage to the extent that the proposal fails to
comply with the social strand.

17.

The Inspector then went on to assess other relevant policies in the Development Plan
(paragraphs 33-42). He found, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the General
Page 16

Policy, that the proposal would largely comply with policies concerning the principle of
development and other policies concerning such matters as affordable housing,
accessible housing, carbon emission reduction and water efficiency, housing mix,
design and greenspace. Conflict was noted with heritage policy but referred to the
conclusion he had reached at paragraph 28 of his decision (see paragraph 15 of this
report above). Consequentially the Inspector concluded that the proposal complied
with the development plan considered as a whole.
iv.

Other Considerations

18.

Addressing the condition of the Airey houses the Inspector found that action was
needed to better the structural condition of virtually all of the existing houses in the
near future. The Inspector was not convinced that refurbishment was a viable option –
there had been no detailed assessment of the costs of applying structural cladding.

19.

Turning to the issue of the sale of the site, at paragraph 56, the Inspector stated:
“Consideration has been given to the sale of the site. A number of registered
providers of social housing were approached about the prospect of a joint approach to
bring the site forward for redevelopment, but none has subsequently sought to
acquire the site with its present status. Nor has the Council pursued purchase of the
site, although reference was made to such a possibility in a letter from the Director of
City Development to SOH (CD 07.10). SOH has been critical of the nature and extent
of this activity. Even if there were the prospect of sale of the appeal site, I agree with
the Appellant that this alone would not provide a response to the problem of the
condition of the existing housing stock.”

20.

The Inspector stated, at paragraph 58: “On the evidence before me, I am firmly of the
view that the appeal proposal to redevelop the site represents the most realistic option
to address the deteriorating condition of the Airey houses at Sugar Hill Close and
Wordsworth Drive, and it is a matter to which I give substantial weight.”

21.

The Inspector assesses the proposal against the NPPF (paragraphs 59-62), assesses
the planning obligations in the S106 Agreement (paragraphs 63-66), and discusses
necessary conditions (paragraphs 67-71). With regard to the NPPF the Inspector
noted that the proposal would deliver a number affordable housing units, a proportion
of adaptable and accessible dwellings, a mix of housing sizes, it would deliver an
inclusive and balanced community, the quality of housing stock would be improved
with greater energy efficiency and, over time, a reduction in carbon emissions. At
paragraph 62 the Inspector concluded:
“…Whilst the appeal proposal would make contributions in each of these areas, the
dissipation of the existing community and the loss of a non-designated heritage asset
are significant negative consequences. I have found, however, the proposed
development would comply with the Development Plan considered as a whole.
Therefore, it follows from paragraph 11(c) of the NPPF that the appeal proposal is a
sustainable form of development.”
INSPECTOR’S CONCLUSIONS ON PLANNING APPEAL:

22.

The Inspector found that the proposal complied with the Development Plan
considered as a whole.

Page 17

23.

In terms of adverse effects the Inspector considered the loss of the non-designated
heritage asset and the dissipation of the community. The Inspector attached
significant weight to these adverse effects, running counter to the environmental and
social objectives of the NPPF.

24.

In terms of benefits the Inspector took the view that the new houses would be built to
modern standards and would be more energy efficient, providing a healthier living
environment. There would be a proportion of adaptable and accessible dwellings and
importantly would be secured affordable housing.

25.

The condition of the Airey houses was a key consideration and the Inspector said the
following (paragraphs 75 and 76):
“A key consideration in the planning balance is that the proposed development
represents the most realistic response to the deteriorating condition of the Airey
houses. There is no doubt that action is required within a relatively short period of
time. Refurbishment has not been demonstrated to be commercially viable, and both
of the options discussed at the inquiry would reduce the heritage significance of the
existing houses, which lessens my concern about the conflict with Core Strategy
Policy P11. Moreover, refurbishment is expected to lead to a higher cost of
accommodation in most cases, which would be likely to cause the dissipation of the
community in any event. Taken together with the benefits of the proposal, these
factors are sufficient to outweigh the harm which would be caused.
I acknowledge that the disturbance and uncertainty occasioned by the loss of their
homes would be likely to have a greater impact on the elderly, children and the
disabled, particularly those who would have to move away from this part of Oulton.
However action is required to address the condition of the existing houses, and the
appeal proposal itself, involving the demolition of all the existing houses, would not
discriminate against those with a protected characteristic. The courts have held that
the best interests of children should be a primary consideration. The data on
protected characteristics indicates that all households with persons aged up to 16
would leave the site as they do not have protected tenancies. That is an undesirable
outcome, but one which, for the reasons given earlier, I expect to occur irrespective of
the decision on this appeal. The loss of their homes would represent an interference
with the rights of existing residents under Article 8 of the European Convention on
Human Rights, as incorporated into UK law by the Human Rights Act 1988. However,
taking into account all material considerations, including the legitimate aim to address
the structural problem of the existing houses, I am satisfied that that interference is
necessary and proportionate.”
SUMMARY OF COSTS DECISION:

26.

The appellant made an application for an award of costs against the council on the
following basis:
•
•
•
•

The proposal accords with the development plan;
The council relied on a ‘General Policy’ that was unsuited to be used as reason for
refusal;
Exceptionally limited weight was given to important benefits;
The council put no evidence on the viability of refurbishment and it was
unreasonable that the council asserted that the appellant’s case on refurbishment
was unproven;
Page 18

•
•
•

27.

The council failed to substantiate it’s case and relied on vague, generalised or
inaccurate assertions that the grant of planning permission would result in the
dissipation of the community;
A significant proportion of the appeal could have been avoided if the LPA had
recognised that the decision on the appeal proposal could have no effect on the
Appellant’s ability to seek possession of the majority of the existing houses.
Following the exchange of evidence, the Appellant gave the LPA the opportunity to
reduce the costs associated with the appeal and to avoid this application by
withdrawing its objection. That offer was not accepted, which was an unreasonable
position to take.

A summary of the council’s response is set out as follows:
•
•
•
•

The application of planning policy is a matter of professional judgement. It was the
professional view of the council’s planning witness that the proposal offended the
General Policy of the Development Plan.
The evidence explained how the effects of the proposal would impact on those
with protected characteristics and reflected the circumstances of the case.
The Appellant’s rights under housing law have been acknowledged, but the
material issue is the weight to be given to the fallback position, which is a matter of
planning judgement.
As there was conflict with policy and planning harm would occur, the opportunity to
avoid that harm by means of an alternative proposal should be considered.

INSPECTOR’S CONCLUSIONS ON THE COSTS APPEAL:
28.

The Inspector came to the following conclusions:
•
•
•
•

29.

The General Policy was relevant to the appeal and the Inspector agreed with the
council that the proposal failed to comply with that policy.
That the evidence produced by the council was sufficient to substantiate the
reason for refusal.
The council’s references to refurbishment amounted to generalised assertions,
which were unsupported by objective analysis. That was unreasonable behaviour.
SOH gave notice of its intention to submit evidence in support of its view that the
existing houses were capable of satisfactory repair. The appellant engaged with
SOH at the Inquiry. No additional evidence was required by the appellant to
respond to the council on this matter and, consequentially no unnecessary
expenditure was incurred by the appellant.

At paragraph 19 of his Costs decision the Inspector set out his overall conclusion on
this matter:
“I conclude that the LPA has not behaved unreasonably in respect of its consideration
of the Development Plan and material considerations, the contested reason for refusal
and the principle of referring to an alternative proposal. I also conclude that it was
unreasonable for the LPA to make generalised assertions in respect of the
refurbishment of the existing houses, but that this unreasonable behaviour did not
cause the Appellant to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.
Consequently an award of cost is not justified.”
IMPLICATIONS ARISING FROM THE DECISIONS:
Page 19

30.

This was a highly sensitive and difficult planning case in light of the likely
consequences that flowed from the grant of planning permission and, specifically, the
implications for an existing and well established local community. The circumstances
of this case also appeared unique. In the run up to the appeal the council’s appeal
team analysed appeal decisions from across the country and could not find an appeal
on a case with similar circumstances. SOH, the local residents and community group,
were represented at the appeal and were able to set out their arguments and
concerns to the Inspector. It is clear that SOH made a significant contribution in
fighting the appeal and in persuading the Inspector that the reasons for the refusal of
planning permission were justifiable.

31.

The most significant implications that arise from this decision relate to the potential,
and likely, impacts on the existing community. This is strictly now not a planning
matter.

Background papers:
Planning application file 17/06933/FU.

Page 20

Costs Decision
Inquiry opened on 6 October 2020
Site visits made on 21 October 2020
by Richard Clegg BA(Hons) DMS MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 15 January 2021

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/N4720/W/20/3250249
Wordsworth Drive & Sugar Hill Close, Oulton, LS26 8EP
•
•
•
•

The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78,
320 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5).
The application is made by Pemberstone (Oulton Properties) Ltd for a full award of costs
against Leeds City Council.
The inquiry was in connection with an appeal against the refusal of planning permission
for the demolition of the existing dwellings and the erection of 70 dwellings including
associated infrastructure.
The inquiry sat for eight days: 6-9 & 13-16 October 2020.

Decision
1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
The submissions for Pemberstone (Oulton Properties) Ltd
2. The application was made in writing (Document O1): the gist of the
submissions is as follows. The proposal accords with the Development Plan,
and was recommended for approval by the Local Planning Authority’s (LPA’s)
planning officers. It was accepted by the LPA’s planning witness that the
proposal complied with policies in the Development Plan other than the social
aspect of the General Policy. This policy is unsuited to being used as a reason
to refuse planning permission. Exceptionally limited weight is given to
important benefits, due to consideration of a refurbishment option rather than
the site as existing. Moreover the LPA put in no evidence on the viability of
refurbishment, and it was unreasonable to assert that the Appellant’s case on
refurbishment was unproven.
3. The LPA failed to produce evidence to substantiate the reason for refusal
remaining in issue. The witness on equalities impact focussed almost entirely
on general community impacts. No reference was made to the application of
the public sector equality duty by the LPA’s officers, or why a different
conclusion was justified. Nor was consideration given to the particular
circumstances of the case concerning tenure and structural condition of the
properties. The LPA had no evidence to show that existing tenants would
require or be eligible for housing assistance from the Council.
4. The LPA’s case rested on vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions that the
grant of planning permission would lead to the dissipation of the community,
with a disproportionate effect on those with protected characteristics, and that
refurbishment was a viable option which would avoid that harm. The first
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 21

Costs Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

assertion ignored the legal rights of the tenants and the need for a solution to
the condition of the houses. No evidence was presented in support of the
refurbishment option.
5. In the absence of clear conflict with planning policy and/ or other harm, the
relative advantages of alternative schemes were normally irrelevant. The LPA
had relied upon a vague and unviable alternative proposal as a yardstick
against which to measure harms and benefits, which was contrary to wellestablished case-law.
6. The Appellant was obliged to engage expert witnesses to respond to the
unfounded assertions of harm. The position that refurbishment was a viable
alternative strengthened Save Our Homes’ (SOH) conviction on this matter,
resulting in more evidence being submitted and more inquiry time taken. A
significant proportion of the appeal could have been avoided if the LPA had
recognised that the decision on the appeal proposal could have no effect on the
Appellant’s ability to seek possession of the majority of the existing houses.
That would have avoided the need for evidence on the public sector equality
duty, as the Inspector could have relied upon the consideration of this matter
in the officers’ reports. Following the exchange of evidence, the Appellant gave
the LPA the opportunity to reduce the costs associated with the appeal and to
avoid this application by withdrawing its objection. That offer was not
accepted, which was an unreasonable position to take.
The response by Leeds City Council
7. The response to the costs application was made in writing (Document O3): the
gist of the response is as follows. The application of planning policy is a matter
of professional judgement. It was the professional view of the LPA’s planning
witness that the proposal offended the General Policy of the Development Plan.
He explained that the social implications were such that the conflict with the
social limb of the policy was determinative regarding Development Plan
compliance. The General Policy applies to all applications. The LPA’s witness
was entitled to weigh the benefit as he saw fit. Whilst he gave due
consideration to the option of refurbishment, his overwhelming concern was
about the social harm arising from the proposal.
8. The second submission is a complaint about disagreement with the LPA’s
equality and community impacts evidence. The reason for refusal refers to
harm to the existing community, particularly those with protected
characteristics. The evidence explained how the effects of the proposal would
impact on those with protected characteristics. There was time to seek
clarification of matters contained in the evidence, and a rebuttal could have
been submitted in respect of the survey references. In any event no prejudice
arose as the Appellant’s evidence was that the proposal would not cause
inequality, but would seek to address underlying issues. The public sector
equality duty was a continuing requirement, and the position of officers was
not to be accepted uncritically. It is possible that different decision-makers
may arrive at different conclusions. The evidence of the LPA’s equalities
witness reflected the circumstances of the case, and addressed how people
with protected characteristics would be affected by the development. Whilst
benefits are acknowledged, the existing community will not be able to stay on
the appeal site, with the exception of protected tenants and those who may
secure affordable housing. Distinguishing between seeking planning

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 22

Costs Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

permission and evicting the tenants was a false dichotomy, since there was a
strategy of obtaining planning permission, then evicting tenants, demolishing
houses, and building the new development.
9. The Appellant’s rights under housing law have been acknowledged, but the
material issue is the weight to be given to the fallback position, which is a
matter of planning judgement. Use could be made of the 14 vacant properties,
and existing residents would not need to be displaced to facilitate development.
Moreover, the sensitivity test indicated that refurbishment could provide a
reasonable return.
10. As there was conflict with policy and planning harm would occur, the
opportunity to avoid that harm by means of an alternative proposal should be
considered. Matters relating to tenants were a material consideration, in view
of Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights and the legal
requirement that no other consideration should be regarded as more important
than the best interests of any child.
11. In its statement, the Appellant had volunteered to provide evidence relating to
structural integrity and the commercial acceptability of refurbishment. It was
reasonable for the LPA to require the Appellant to establish its case. It is not
the case that the only reasonable course of action for the LPA would have been
to cease to defend its position at appeal.
Reasons
12. Paragraph 16-028 of Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that costs may
be awarded where a party has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused
another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.
The Development Plan and material considerations
13. In my appeal decision, I agree with the LPA that the proposal would fail to
comply with the social limb of the General Policy in the Core Strategy, due to
the disruption caused to existing residents, and the dissipation of the existing
community. As paragraph 3.4 of the Core Strategy makes clear, this policy is
relevant to all development proposals, and, that being the case, it is not a
policy which, in principle, is inappropriate to refer to in a reason for refusal.
The LPA acknowledges that the proposal would comply with other relevant
policies of the Development Plan. I do not share the view of the LPA that, as a
consequence of the failure to comply with the General Policy, there is conflict
with the Development Plan as a whole. However, reaching a conclusion on this
matter does not depend on a numerical assessment of the policies with which a
proposal does and does not comply. It is a matter of planning judgement, and
the LPA’s planning witness explained why he gave significant weight to the
conflict with the General Policy. Whilst reference was made to a refurbishment
option, material considerations have been taken into account in respect of the
appeal proposal, and reasons given as to whether or not these support the
proposal.
The contested reason for refusal
14. The contested reason for refusal refers to the public sector equality duty and to
the harm that would result to the existing local community, particularly to
those with protected characteristics. It is clear from this form of words that the
objection to the proposal had a wider focus than simply the public sector
3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 23

Costs Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

equality duty. Evidence was produced by the LPA’s witness which considered a
range of effects of the proposal on the existing community, specifically
identifying groups with protected characteristics in relation to temporary and
permanent adverse effects. I am satisfied that the evidence produced was
sufficient to substantiate the reason for refusal.
Effect on the community and refurbishment
15. Proceeding with the appeal proposal would involve demolition of the existing
houses, and, in reaching the view that the community would be dissipated, the
evidence of the LPA’s planning and equalities witnesses took into account the
likelihood of existing residents being able to move into the new dwellings,
having regard to their tenancies. It is open to the Appellant to give notice to
the existing occupiers, subject to providing alternative accommodation for
those who benefit from protected tenancies, but that course of action had not
been pursued at the date of the inquiry, and it does not alter the position that
dissipation of the community would follow from pursual of the appeal scheme.
16. In the evidence of the LPA’s planning witness reference is made in general
terms to refurbishment of the estate. The position taken is that the Appellant
has not proven that refurbishment is not a viable alternative. Subsequently, in
her closing submissions, the LPA’s advocate drew on evidence from SOH to
make the point that there was an alternative scheme before the inquiry. Whilst
the LPA could properly expect the Appellant to make its case in respect of
refurbishment and viability, it did not produce detailed evidence of its own to
support a case for refurbishment, and made little contribution to the structural
and viability round-table sessions of the inquiry. I consider that the LPA’s
references to refurbishment amounted to generalised assertions, which were
unsupported by objective analysis. That was unreasonable behaviour, as
indicated in paragraph 16-049 of PPG.
17. In its statement of case, SOH gave notice of its intention to submit evidence in
support of its view that the existing houses were capable of satisfactory repair.
It did so, with two witnesses addressing this matter. There was no such
position in the LPA’s statement, and it is clear from its representations that
SOH had a long-held view firmly in favour of refurbishment which was
unaffected by any stance taken by the LPA. The Appellant advised at the case
management conference that witnesses would be called covering the structural
condition of the houses and viability and it engaged on these topics with SOH
at the inquiry. No additional evidence was required by the Appellant to
respond to the LPA on this matter, and the limited references involving the LPA
did not materially extend inquiry time. Consequently no unnecessary
expenditure was incurred by the Appellant.
An alternative proposal
18. In most cases, the relative merits of an alternative scheme would not carry
significant weight. In this case, the need to address the condition of the
existing housing and the LPA’s assessment of harm support the consideration
of alternatives, an exercise which the Appellant’s planning witness undertook in
section 3 of his proof of evidence. It was not unreasonable, in principle, for the
LPA to refer to the alternative of refurbishment, and I have already considered
the way in which this was done (above, para 16).

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 24

Costs Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Conclusions
19. I conclude that the LPA has not behaved unreasonably in respect of its
consideration of the Development Plan and material considerations, the
contested reason for refusal and the principle of referring to an alternative
proposal. I also conclude that it was unreasonable for the LPA to make
generalised assertions in respect of the refurbishment of the existing houses,
but that this unreasonable behaviour did not cause the Appellant to incur
unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process. Consequently an award
of cost is not justified.

Richard Clegg
INSPECTOR

5

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 25

Appeal Decision
Inquiry opened on 6 October 2020
Site visits made on 21 October 2020
by Richard Clegg BA(Hons) DMS MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 15 January 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/N4720/W/20/3250249
Wordsworth Drive & Sugar Hill Close, Oulton, LS26 8EP
•
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Pemberstone (Oulton Properties) Ltd against the decision of
Leeds City Council.
The application Ref 17/06933/FU, dated 20 October 2017, was refused by notice dated
9 October 2019.
The development proposed is the demolition of the existing dwellings and the erection
of 70 dwellings including associated infrastructure.
The inquiry sat for eight days: 6-9 & 13-16 October 2020.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the demolition of
the existing dwellings and the erection of 70 dwellings including associated
infrastructure at Wordsworth Drive & Sugar Hill Close, Oulton, LS26 8EP, in
accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 17/06933/FU, dated 20
October 2017, subject to the conditions in schedule 1.
Application for costs
2. At the Inquiry an application for costs was made by Pemberstone (Oulton
Properties) Ltd against Leeds City Council (the Local Planning Authority – LPA).
This application is the subject of a separate Decision.
Procedural Matters
3. Save Our Homes LS26 (SOH) had served a statement of case in accordance
with Rule 6(6) of The Town and Country Planning Appeals (Determination by
Inspectors) (Inquiries Procedure) (England) Rules 2000 in respect of the
appeal, and it took a full part in the proceedings of the inquiry.
4. The planning application, as originally submitted, proposed the erection of 71
dwellings. Prior to determination by the LPA, the proposal was amended by a
reduction in the number of dwellings proposed to 70 (shown on plan ref
P11:4519:02- I). Subsequently, during the appeal process, the Appellant
submitted a further revised site plan (P11:4519:02-J) to address concerns
about garden size expressed in the second reason for refusal. A revised
landscape plan (P11:4519:100 revision G) reflects the site plan. Revision J
involves only modest changes to the layout, and in the statements of common
ground with the LPA (CD 05.03) and SOH (CD 05.05) it is made clear that
there is no objection to the garden sizes shown on the revised site plan. I am
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 26

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

satisfied that no prejudice would be caused to any party by consideration of the
revised plans, and I have taken them into account in determining the appeal.
5. A planning agreement has been submitted in connection with the appeal
proposal (Document O6). It contains obligations concerning the provision of
affordable housing, contributions towards greenspace and passenger
information display, and a travel plan.
6. A set of core documents (CDs) was prepared for the inquiry. Core documents
and other documents submitted after the inquiry opened are detailed in the
lists appended to this decision.
Main Issues
7. Two reasons were given for the refusal of planning permission. The second
objected to the proposal on the ground that a number of gardens would be
deficient in size and/ or depth. The LPA has acknowledged that the garden
sizes on the revised site plan would provide residents with acceptable private
amenity space (above, para 4), and it did not pursue this reason for refusal at
the inquiry. Similarly, SOH do not object to the garden sizes on the revised
plan.
8. Having regard to the position reached in respect of garden size, I consider that
the main issues in this appeal are:
i)

The effect on the local community of the loss of the existing homes on the
appeal site.

ii) The effect of the proposed development on the significance of the nondesignated heritage asset of the Airey houses.
iii) Whether the proposal would be consistent with the Development Plan.
iv) The effect of other considerations on the overall planning balance.
The Appeal Site
9. The appeal site comprises 70 houses on Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth
Drive. They are constructed from pre-cast reinforced concrete columns and
concrete panels, to a design known as Airey houses. The properties are owned
and let by the Appellant. At the date of the inquiry, 14 of the houses were
unoccupied1. There are three types of tenancy within the appeal site:
regulated, assured and assured shorthold. Together there are 11 regulated
and assured tenancies, which both offer the tenant statutory protection of the
tenancy for life (the protected tenancies). The other 45 occupied houses are
subject to assured shorthold tenancies, which are arranged for a fixed term2. A
landlord may end such a tenancy by serving a section 21 notice: the period of
notice required is normally two months, but is currently six months as a result
of regulations introduced in response to the coronavirus outbreak3.

1
2
3

Table on page 3 of CD 05.31, a further vacancy was expected to occur.
The differences between the three types of tenancy are summarised in CD 05.19, Appendix 5, paras 2-9.
CD 05.19, Appendix 5, footnote 22.

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 27

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Reasons
The loss of the existing homes
The community
10. The 70 houses on the appeal site are the remaining part of a larger estate built
by the National Coal Board (NCB) in the 1950s to provide accommodation for
mineworkers and their families. The original estate comprised some 210
houses, extending to the north of the appeal site4. This northern part of the
estate has been redeveloped, and that land is now occupied by modern
housing.
11. SOH explained that many residents of the appeal site work, shop, use nearby
facilities such as the sports centre and school, and have friends in the local
area. Having regard also to the proximity of other housing, it is clear that the
local community can be understood as extending beyond the red line on a plan
which defines the appeal site, a point acknowledged by both SOH and the LPA.
However a more tightly defined local community with an identifiable culture can
be recognised in respect of the appeal site, where residents have, in common,
occupation of the remaining part of the former NCB estate and are tenants of
the same landlord.
12. There is evidence of a range of activities and support networks associated with
the community on the appeal site. There have been social events such as a
Christmas party and gatherings at the nearby sports club, and heritage open
days have been organised to provide an opportunity to visit Airey houses. A
survey undertaken by Mrs Readman of SOH in August 2020 provides an insight
into caring responsibilities. Of the 36 households responding, 12 provided care
for a relative in the local area and 15 relied on help from relatives who live
locally5: these figures may involve some overlap. Reference has also been
made to more informal support and assistance provided to neighbours, such as
shopping, collecting prescriptions, and looking after pets. All of these activities
contribute to community cohesion.
Protected characteristics
13. The first reason for refusal refers to the public sector equality duty (PSED), set
out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, and the effect on those members of
the local community with protected characteristics relating to age and
disability. Information presented to the inquiry by the Appellant and the LPA
indicates that, in January 2019, at least 33 households included persons with
one or more protected characteristics6. There were 12 households with
persons aged 65 or over, 3 households with persons aged up to 16, and 17
households which included someone with a disability.

4

Dr Usher refers to 210 houses (CD 05.20, para 2.213), Mr Kitchen refers to 214 houses (CD 05.08, para 16).
The extent of the original estate can be seen on figure 9 of CD 05.20.
5
CD 05.18, table 8.
6
CD 05.43; the information is based on equality monitoring forms compiled by the LPA. SOH commented that
they could not verify the information, and it was not agreed by them.

3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 28

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Implications of the appeal proposal
14. The proposal would result in the loss of all 70 existing houses within the appeal
site. Housing legislation requires that the 11 households with protected
tenancies (above, para 9) are rehoused in homes of equivalent quality, and
new houses would be made available for them as part of the redevelopment.
15. Rents charged for the existing houses are described by SOH as affordable, and
the Group claimed that many residents could not afford to rent privately
elsewhere in the area. None of the housing is affordable as defined in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and the Appellant referred to it as
low-cost market housing, which is affordable by virtue of its condition. That
circumstance would change with the erection of new market dwellings, and
would make it difficult for residents who rely on the less expensive cost of the
existing accommodation to acquire a property in the redevelopment scheme.
16. Those households with protected tenancies would be affected by the disruption
of moving house, and networks of close contact with existing neighbours on the
appeal site would be likely to be weakened, but they would be able to remain
on the site, in better quality housing (the condition of the Airey houses is
considered in paras 43-46, below), and to maintain their links within the wider
community. Eleven of the households identifying with protected characteristics
have protected tenancies, including seven with persons over 65 and five with
disabled persons. It is likely, however, that most households would have to
leave the appeal site.
17. Oulton lies within the Rothwell (housing) management area. It was the LPA’s
undisputed evidence that this is an area of high demand, where the average
waiting time for a property for someone in the highest band on the housing
register is 99 weeks. In Oulton itself, the waiting time is likely to be longer due
to the small size of the stock.
18. The inquiry also received evidence on private rental accommodation in the
Oulton area. It is the Appellant’s evidence that the monthly rent for two
bedroom houses starts at about £550 and for three bedroom houses at about
£6507. SOH gives an example of a two bedroom terrace house with a monthly
rental of £650, and refers to rents of £900 or more8. In contrast, the average
monthly rent for a two bedroom house on the appeal site is £364-500 and for a
three bedroom house the average monthly rent is £391.90-511.329.
19. Due to the demand for social housing in Rothwell and the higher cost of market
housing in the area compared with that on the appeal site, it is likely that many
households who would be displaced would have to seek alternative
accommodation away from the local area. That would dissipate the community
in the Airey houses. Given that the households with protected tenancies would
be able to remain on the site, I give limited weight to the disruption which
would be caused to them by the redevelopment. Insofar as the other 45
households are concerned, I note that 20 (46%) have been resident on the site
for up to three years10. With the exception of the single household which had
been present for less than one year, that does not seem to me to be too short
a period for residents to have established links with neighbours and to have
7

CD 05.07, para 60.
CD 05.09, para 21 & appendix 3.
9
CD 05.07, table 4.
10
CD 05.39.
8

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 29

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

become involved in community activities. The dispersal of the greater part of
the households from the appeal site would have a harmful effect upon that
local community with its own culture.
20. The public sector equality duty requires, amongst other matters, that a public
authority must have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, and to
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not share it. As the Appellant has pointed out,
there would be no discrimination in the loss of existing homes: all would be
demolished, and all tenants would be required to move irrespective of
protected characteristics. However the effects of this action are likely to have
a greater impact on more vulnerable residents. The Appellant’s equality
witness acknowledged that displacement could have a disproportionate effect
on the elderly and those with a disability, referring to the break in their
connection with the local environment, routines and support networks. A
similar position was taken by the LPA’s equality witness, and he also referred to
stress induced by the process of finding a new home, and an impact on
security, as having permanent adverse effects on children. I share these views
about the effect of the appeal proposal on the young, older residents and the
disabled. At January 2019, there were at least 16 households with these
protected characteristics in assured shorthold tenancies, and who would be
likely to face a move away from the appeal site. Whilst those with other
protected characteristics would also be affected by the redevelopment, there is
nothing before me to indicate that such effects would be materially different
from those experienced by residents who do not share those characteristics.
21. It is recognised that there are problems with the structure of the Airey houses
(para 45, below), and they were not built to meet modern standards for
accessible and adaptable dwellings. The proposed dwellings would perform
better in terms of ventilation and energy efficiency; 34 dwellings (48.6%)
would comply with Part M4(2) of The Building Regulations in terms of
accessibility and adaptability, and a further 2 (2.8%) would be suitable for
wheelchair users, complying with Part M4(3), exceeding the requirements in
Policy H10 of the Core Strategy. These improvements can be expected to be
beneficial to health, and of particular importance to older and disabled
residents. However whilst the redevelopment would, in this respect, result in
an upgrading of the housing stock on Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive,
that improvement would only benefit those older and disabled residents able to
move into the new houses, expected to be those with protected tenancies.
22. In accordance with Policy H5 of the Core Strategy, it is proposed that 15% (11)
of the new dwellings would be affordable in NPPF terms, and secured as such
by a planning obligation. It was suggested by the Appellant that the Council
could have agreed to a local lettings policy, whereby 11 of the existing
households would have been given preference in respect of the affordable
units, increasing the number of residents able to remain on the site. I note
that a local lettings policy must be the subject of consultation, as required by
section 166A(13) of the Housing Act 1996, that it is not known who the
registered provider of the affordable dwellings would be, and that there is no
guarantee that the Council’s Housing Department would adopt such a policy.
Although this was a matter which was suggested in the second report on the
planning application in October 201911, there could not be a commitment to a
11

CD 07.02, paras 4.3 & 4.4.

5

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 30

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

local lettings policy in a planning obligation. Moreover circumstances have
subsequently changed, since an emergency amendment to the lettings policy is
currently operative as a response to the covid-19 pandemic (CD 05.11.1), and
in this situation there is no certainty that priority would be given to existing
residents. Accordingly, I do not consider that, at the present time, a local
lettings policy would have provided an opportunity for more households to
remain on the site.
23. The evidence before me is that the households on the appeal site comprise a
strong, vibrant and healthy community: the social objective in paragraph 8b of
the NPPF supports such communities: similarly, support in paragraph 91(a) of
the NPPF for healthy, inclusive and safe places which support social interaction
is applicable to the existing community. I conclude that the proposed
development would have a damaging impact on the community of existing
residents within the appeal site. Older residents, children and the disabled
would be more susceptible to the change brought about by redevelopment, and
there would be a significant adverse impact for those households unable to
relocate into the new houses.
The non-designated heritage asset
24. It is common ground between the three main parties that the existing Airey
house are a local non-designated heritage asset12. Airey houses are a
prefabricated form of construction, which were part of a response to the
housing shortage after the Second World War. About 26,000 Airey houses
were built nationwide between 1946 and 1955. They were assembled from
concrete posts and panels which could be handled on site with relative ease.
This system was developed by the Leeds firm, William Airey & Sons, and Airey
houses were commissioned by local authorities and other bodies. Those on the
appeal site were part of a larger estate built by the NCB for mineworkers and
their families in connection with the nearby Rothwell Mine. The development
was undertaken to aid the recruitment of miners from older to newer more
productive collieries.
25. The remaining 70 Airey houses at Oulton have evidential value as examples of
one of the methods of prefabricated construction employed in the post-war
years. They are illustrative of the response to the housing shortage, involving
methods of mass-production, and in layout drawing on the garden city
movement: as such they display historic value. Due to their origin as housing
for the mining community, an association recalled in heritage open days, the
houses have communal value. This factor is emphasised as the houses are the
product of a Leeds firm. The Appellant’s heritage witness acknowledged that
the houses have some aesthetic value. I agree: the houses are restrained, but
there is some variety in roof form, and their layout, set in gardens along Sugar
Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive contributes to a pleasant appearance. Some
changes have been made: the Appellant drew attention to the replacement of
original doors and windows and the alteration of landscaping, road finishes and
paving. Those detailed changes have not, however, altered the overall form of
the buildings, nor the spacious layout of the estate.
26. The greater part of the original estate has already been redeveloped. However
that part which remains is more than a remnant, being of sufficient size to
demonstrate the form and arrangement of this type of housing. Whist Airey
12

CD 05.03 para 7.44 & CD 05.05 para 3.23.

6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 31

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

houses remain elsewhere, that does not diminish the local significance of those
on the appeal site, particularly given the development of this house-type by a
Leeds firm, and the association of the estate with the local mining industry. I
heard that a group of four Airey houses is to be preserved as representative
examples at the Beamish Museum in the North-East of England. Such a small
number of houses would not display the layout evident at the appeal site, nor
would it retain a local connection with the place for which the houses were
built. That consideration does not weigh against the importance of the
remaining Airey houses at Oulton.
27. The structural condition of the houses is, however, a factor which must be
taken into account. A report prepared by Michael Dyson Associates (MDA, CD
08.42), consultants experienced in assessing non-traditional housing, considers
each of the houses on the site. The report finds that structural intervention is
required in all but two houses by March 2022, and there is no equivalent
professional evidence before me to dispute this view. Full refurbishment, as
described by the Appellant’s structural witness, would involve the replacement
of the concrete posts and cladding panels with conventional walls13. That work
would involve the loss of the prefabricated elements of the houses, and
although the form of the dwellings would be essentially the same, and their
layout unchanged, their evidential and historic value would be considerably
eroded. An alternative approach, involving the addition of structural cladding
around the buildings, was advanced by SOH14. I heard that the existing
panels could be removed or retained. Even if retained, those panels and the
posts would be concealed by the new cladding. That would affect the historic
and aesthetic value of the asset and lessen its significance to an extent. A
photographic and narrative record of the estate could be required by condition,
but paragraph 199 of the NPPF makes clear that the ability to record evidence
of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be
permitted.
28. The appeal proposal would result in the complete loss of a non-designated
heritage asset, and it would conflict with Policy P11 of the Core Strategy, which
requires that the historic environment, including locally significant
undesignated assets and their settings, is to be conserved and enhanced. I
conclude that redevelopment would inevitably cause considerable harm to the
significance of the asset, notwithstanding that a record could be made.
However the asset cannot be retained without works being undertaken which
would have an adverse effect on its significance, and that is a consideration
which I take into account in the planning balance (below, para 75).
Consistency with the Development Plan
29. The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy (as amended by the Core
Strategy Selective Review 2019), the Site Allocations Plan, the saved policies of
the Leeds Unitary Development Plan, and the Natural Resources and Waste
Local Plan. The appeal site is unallocated in the Site Allocations Plan: the
provisions of other components of the Development Plan are considered below.

13
14

CD 05.15 section 3.
CD 05.21 para 5, & CD 05.17 appendix A.

7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 32

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

The Core Strategy
(i) The General Policy
30. The General Policy reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable
development in paragraph 11 of the NPPF, and seeks to secure development
which would improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of
Leeds. The construction activity would provide certain economic benefits in the
provision of jobs and the purchase of materials. The development would also
generate a new homes bonus payment, a community infrastructure levy
payment, and following occupation of the houses there would be additional
council tax receipts. These are generic benefits which would apply similarly to
other housing schemes. Insofar as council tax receipts and the new homes
bonus are concerned, I am mindful that paragraph 21b-011 of Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that it would not be appropriate to make a
decision based on the potential for the development to make money for a local
authority. Overall, I consider that the economic benefits of the proposal carry
limited weight.
31. The provision of affordable housing and a number of adaptable and accessible
dwellings represent social improvements. New dwellings built to modern
standards can also be expected to provide better and healthier living
conditions. However the disruption caused to existing residents, all of whom
would have to leave their homes (although some would be able to move into a
new dwelling on the site, above paras 14 & 16), and the dissipation of the
strong community within the appeal site would cause significant damage.
Overall, I consider that the proposal would fail to comply with the social limb of
the General Policy.
32. I agree with the Appellant that environmental benefits would ensue from the
provision of more energy efficient housing and, over time, a reduction in
carbon emissions. Harm would, though, be caused to the historic environment
by the loss of the Airey houses which are a non-designated heritage asset. The
total loss of the asset carries greater weight than the environmental benefits
arising from redevelopment.
(ii) Housing policies
33. Spatial Policy 6 (SP6) provides for a target of 3,247 additional dwellings per
year between 2017 and 2033. As the proposal involves 70 replacement
houses, it makes no contribution to the number of additional dwellings
required. Whilst it would be broadly consistent with the considerations to take
into account in respect of the distribution of new housing in SP7, I note that
that policy is concerned with the distribution of housing allocations and
specifically excludes windfalls. The appeal site is unallocated. On such land,
Policy H2 supports the principle of housing subject to compliance with a series
of criteria, two of which are relevant to the appeal proposal. As the proposal
would involve no change in the number of dwellings on the site, there would be
no additional burden on infrastructure, and, although the location does not fully
meet the accessibility standards in the Core Strategy, this is an established
housing site which is on a bus route. A planning obligation includes a
contribution towards the provision of real-time passenger information at the
bus stop between Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive, which would enhance
accessibility.

8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 33

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

34. A level of 15% affordable housing would be provided as part of the appeal
proposal, compliant with Policy H5. SOH referred to the need for affordable
housing within Leeds and the Outer Southern Housing Zone, which includes
Oulton, and argued that redevelopment of the site would involve the loss of de
facto affordable housing. The Appellant has explained that the existing housing
provides low-cost rental accommodation, due to its age and condition. Other
than the regulated tenancies (of which there are only seven), there is no rent
control, and, if the existing houses were refurbished, it is likely that that
improvement would be reflected in higher rental charges (below, paras 52 &
55). The main parties agree that there is no affordable housing, as defined by
the NPPF, on the appeal site at present, whereas the proposal would include
the appropriate amount.
35. The development would comply with the standards in Policy H10 for accessible
housing (above, para 21), and the inclusion of accessible and adaptable
dwellings in the scheme would make a contribution to supporting independent
living, in accordance with Policy H8. There is no dispute that the proposal
would comply with the minimum density sought by Policy H3 and the mix of
dwelling sizes set out in Policy H4.
(iii) Heritage
36. Because of the total loss of the non-designated heritage asset of the Airey
houses, the proposal would conflict with Policy P11.
(iv) Energy and natural resources
37. SOH made reference to Policies EN1 and EN6 concerning carbon dioxide
reduction and waste management respectively. Policy EN1 refers to
developments of 10 dwellings being zero carbon by 2016. That date has
passed, and the Appellant’s carbon assessment calculates that the
development would become carbon neutral within around 20 years15. SOH
suggests that an alternative refurbishment scheme would achieve this position
in a much shorter time. That claim is not supported by any equivalent
assessment. The policy also seeks provision of a minimum of 10% of predicted
energy needs of the development from low carbon energy. A report identifying
the means of achieving that target could be the subject of a condition, and in
this respect the proposal would comply with Policy EN1.
38. Policy EN6(i) says that development will be required to demonstrate measures
to reduce and re-use waste during construction and throughout its life. It is
SOH’s position that a refurbishment scheme would produce less waste, and
would comply with this part of the policy. However the policy is entitled
Strategic Waste Management, and the accompanying text explains that it sets
out a broad strategy for managing waste in Leeds. As such it is not directly
applicable to an individual development of 70 dwellings.
(v) Other policies
39. Several other policies of the Core Strategy have been referred to in the
representations. There is no dispute that the development is in an accessible
location (Policy T2), that it would provide a good quality of design appropriate
to its location (P10), and that the character of the townscape and landscape
would be conserved. Similarly, the function of the greenspace between Sugar
15

CD 05.19 appendix 4 table 3.4.

9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 34

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive would not be impaired (G1), and the
contribution towards greenspace in the planning agreement would comply with
Policy G4.
The saved policies of the Unitary Development Plan
40. Policy GP5, which requires detailed planning considerations to be resolved, and
Policy BD5, which is concerned with the effect of new buildings on amenity
were referred to in the second reason for refusal of planning permission.
Following the revisions made to the size of gardens (above, para 7), there
would be no adverse effect on the living conditions of future occupiers, and
there is no conflict with these policies.
The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan
41. SOH drew attention to tables 2.1 and 4.1 of the Plan. Table 2.1 sets out a
hierarchy of intent which applies to each of four topic areas: in the first
instance, efforts should be made to reduce the use of resources or the
production of waste. Table 4.1 gives details of waste arisings, and shows that
construction, demolition and excavation is the largest waste stream. Neither of
these tables forms part of a policy in the Local Plan, and SOH refers to them in
conjunction with Policies EN1 and EN6 of the Core Strategy. I have considered
these policies earlier (paras 37 & 38).
Conclusions on the Development Plan
42. I find that the proposal would conflict with the General Policy of the Core
Strategy because of its harmful social and environmental effects. However,
there is a large measure of compliance with policies concerning housing
development, including the principle of development on this unallocated site
and the type of housing proposed. The proposal would also comply with other
policies, excepting Policy P11 of the Core Strategy which is concerned with the
conservation and enhancement of the historic environment. However, insofar
as that policy is concerned, the houses cannot be retained without works being
undertaken which would detract from their significance. I conclude that the
proposed development would comply with the Development Plan considered as
a whole.
Other considerations
Condition of the Airey houses
43. The Airey house type was designated defective under the Housing Defects
(Prefabricated Reinforced Concrete Dwellings) (England and Wales)
Designations 1984 (CD 05.38). Studies carried out by the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) had identified problems with some of the methods of nontraditional house-building used in the post-war period. Designation relates to a
scheme of financial assistance for purchasers of designated defective properties
which is not relevant in this case, but it also gave recognition to a design
problem in Airey houses.
44. In the case of Airey houses, the defect is the potential for corrosion of the steel
reinforcement due to insufficient concrete cover in the load-bearing posts which
provide the frame for the building16. Corrosion of the reinforcement can lead to
16

CD 07.37 section A; CD 08.42 section 1.

10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 35

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

cracking and spalling of the posts. A BRE report has advised that where three
or more adjacent posts are significantly cracked or spalled, the cladding which
is attached to them may become unstable, and the structural integrity of the
building is at risk17.
45. A survey of all 70 Airey houses within the appeal site was undertaken by MDA
on behalf of the Appellant between January and March 2020 (CD 08.42, para
27, above, refers). Repair work had been undertaken at some houses, but the
MDA report found that overall this work had been poorly executed, and
referred to instances of cracks projecting above the repairs. At those
properties where no repair work had been carried out, the majority of posts
were assessed as being in poor condition. Over 50% of external posts
inspected, and 29% of internal posts, were found to be cracked18. Properties
have been categorised on the basis of the post inspections19. In fifteen
properties there were three or more significantly cracked posts in a row. These
are considered to be at the limit of structural stability, with intervention
required by one year from the date of survey. Most houses (53) were less
severely damaged, but intervention would nevertheless be required within a
relatively short period of two years. Only two of the existing houses were
judged not to require remedial work by March 2022, but bi-annual surveys
were recommended to monitor their condition. The LPA accepts the findings in
the MDA report, and both the witnesses covering this topic for SOH
acknowledged that they were not in a position to dispute the findings of the
MDA report.
46. On the evidence before me, I accept that action to respond to the structural
condition of virtually all of the existing houses is needed in the near future. I
turn next to consider the option of refurbishment as an alternative to the
Appellant’s proposal for redevelopment.
Refurbishment
47. The Appellant’s structural witness suggested that significant intervention would
be required to address the defects in the condition of the existing houses,
involving replacement of the prefabricated posts and cladding with conventional
walls. Such major work would preclude the existing residents remaining in
their homes, and even if works were carried out sequentially the disruption
would be significant. At the very least, it would seem necessary to carry out
such work on a rolling programme, making use of the existing vacancies, to
enable residents to stay on the site. Such extensive works would retain only a
limited part of the original structure, calling into question the value of such an
approach to refurbishment.
48. A less drastic approach to refurbishment, involving structural cladding, was put
forward by SOH. The new cladding panels would be added as an envelope
around the building, providing additional structural support. The system would
also improve thermal efficiency, and the Structherm system discussed at the
inquiry is guaranteed for 30 years. I heard that Structherm had been fitting
structural cladding since the 1980s, and on only one occasion (which did not
involve an Airey house) had it been necessary for occupiers to move out.
Examples have been provided of various schemes where structural cladding
17
18
19

CD 08.42 section 3.2.
CD 08.42 section 3.5.4.
CD 08.42 tables on pages 17 &18.

11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 36

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

has been fitted to Airey houses20, and I have no reason to doubt that this
approach can be an effective means of addressing the problems associated
with non-traditional post-war housing. The concrete posts would be inspected
and repaired, if necessary, before the cladding was added to the houses. SOH
explained that Structherm had never found a situation where external cladding
could not be applied, but no assessment of the Airey houses on the appeal site
has been carried out with a view to undertaking this from of refurbishment.
Bearing in mind the relatively high proportion of damaged external posts
(above, para 45), there is inevitably some uncertainty as to the suitability of
structural cladding to provide a remedy for the defects of the existing houses in
this case.
Viability
49. Evidence was presented to the inquiry on the viability of the appeal proposal
and refurbishment. The Appellant’s residual valuation for redevelopment
produces a profit of £2,889,136, representing a return of 17.04% on gross
development value (CD 05.07.01). That level of return is within the range of
15-20%, which paragraph 10-018 of PPG suggests as suitable to establish the
viability of plan policies.
50. The Appellant’s equivalent exercise for refurbishment and sale of the existing
houses indicated a loss of £732,58121. That is based, not just on the
replacement of the concrete posts and panels with new external walls, as
previously recommended by MDA22, but it also includes the cost of extensive
refurbishment work to the properties. The Appellant argues that a commercial
concern would wish to go beyond the minimum renovation necessary to
provide improved dwellings which would be attractive to the market, achieve a
mortgageable standard, and which would have an economic life of at least 60
years.
51. The costs of repair and refurbishment used in the Appellant’s valuation exercise
are up to £119,902 for a two bedroom house and up to £123,681 for a three
bedroom house23. These figures are significantly higher than the costs of up to
£28,000 per dwelling given by SOH for refurbishment using structural cladding
and including window replacement. Calculations were submitted demonstrating
that reductions in the cost of repair and refurbishment of £33,366, and
£35,351 would enable profit levels of 15% and 16.3% respectively to be
achieved24. SOH suggested that the cost of various items included in the cost
of refurbishment (for example window replacement and fitting external doors)
was high, but acknowledged that where properties were being refurbished for
sale, it would be appropriate to do additional works. Moreover, not only does
the SOH figure exclude the extent of internal work envisaged by the Appellant,
it also excludes any allowance for repair to the concrete posts and the cost of a
structural engineer’s report. Allowing for internal refurbishment and the repair
of posts would reduce the headroom for a reduction of the scale advanced by
SOH.

20

CDs 05.22-24.
CD 05.07 Appendix 2.
22
MDA’s summary report August 2018, Appendix G of CD 08.42.
23
The average cost per dwelling would be somewhat lower than these figures, as it is assumed that central
heating replacement, electrical repairs and external area improvements would only be required in 50% of
dwellings.
24
CDs 05.32 & 05.33.
21

12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 37

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

52. The Appellant’s residual valuation for refurbishment is based on the dwellings
being sold and not rented. Although no detailed exercise has been undertaken,
the Appellant’s viability witness considered that even if rents rose to £600-750
per month, the resultant yield of less than 5% gross would be unattractive to a
commercial operator.
53. There is no dispute that redevelopment of the appeal site would be a viable
proposition. The position concerning refurbishment is less certain. There is no
detailed assessment to demonstrate that the full costs of an approach using
structural cladding as advocated by SOH, and including certain internal works,
would be profitable, whether the refurbished dwellings were made available for
sale or rent.
Options for the appeal site
54. It is clear from the evidence submitted to the inquiry, that a response is
required to the condition of the Airey houses. Structural intervention is
required on all but two of the properties within a short period of time. If no
scheme for the existing houses is put in place, I anticipate that the dwellings
would become unsafe to occupy. In this situation, it is reasonable to expect
that the Appellant would give notice to the existing occupiers, subject to
providing alternative accommodation for those who benefit from protected
tenancies. That would dissipate the community on the appeal site. It would
also result in an inefficient use of land, contrary to paragraph 122 of the NPPF,
due to the increasing number of vacant dwellings.
55. A refurbishment scheme involving replacement of the concrete panels and
posts with conventional walls, together with internal works, as referred to by
the Appellant, would require the houses to be vacated, and the evidence before
me indicates that this option would not be viable. The alternative approach put
forward by SOH, involving the use of structural cladding, may be capable of
implementation, but there is uncertainty about its viability. If, nevertheless,
properties were refurbished for sale, or made available to rent at market
prices, it is likely that the existing community on the appeal site would still be
broken up, given the importance of the low-cost accommodation to residents.
In any event, the Appellant is clear that a commercial decision has been taken
not to pursue refurbishment. That decision may, as SOH suggests, have been
taken in the absence of advice about the practicality and viability of a solution
involving structural cladding. However the evidence submitted to the inquiry
does not demonstrate that that option, which, as SOH acknowledged, has in
the case of Structherm usually been carried out for local authorities and bodies
such as housing associations, would be commercially viable.
56. Consideration has been given to the sale of the site. A number of registered
providers of social housing were approached about the prospect of a joint
approach to bring the site forward for redevelopment, but none has
subsequently sought to acquire the site with its present status25. Nor has the
Council pursued purchase of the site, although reference was made to such a
possibility in a letter from the Director of City Development to SOH (CD 07.10).
SOH has been critical of the nature and extent of this activity. Even if there
were the prospect of sale of the appeal site, I agree with the Appellant that this
alone would not provide a response to the problem of the condition of the
existing housing stock.
25

Details of marketing are given in CD 05.34.

13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 38

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

57. The Appellant has stated that in the absence of an approved masterplan for the
site, it would either make small planning applications for individual replacement
of blocks or wait until the houses fall down. The former simply represents an
alternative approach to redeveloping the land, whilst the latter reflects the first
option considered above.
58. On the evidence before me, I am firmly of the view that the appeal proposal to
redevelop the site represents the most realistic option to address the
deteriorating condition of the Airey houses at Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth
Drive, and it is a matter to which I give substantial weight.
The NPPF
59. There is a need for affordable housing in Leeds, and the proposal would provide
this on-site, in accordance with paragraph 62 of the NPPF. In including a
proportion of adaptable and accessible dwellings, and a mix of house sizes, the
development would also be consistent with the intention of paragraph 62 to
provide housing for different groups in the community.
60. Paragraph 93 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning decisions should
consider the benefits of estate regeneration. I have no reason to doubt that
the appeal proposal could produce a sustainable, inclusive and balanced
community. That consideration is tempered by the dissipation of the existing
sustainable, inclusive and balanced community as a consequence of
redevelopment. A similar assessment applies in respect of paragraph 91 which
supports the creation of healthy, inclusive and safe places. Replacing the
defective buildings would improve the quality of the housing stock, and would
represent physical regeneration of the estate. The new housing would be more
energy efficient than the existing properties, and over a period of time would
result in a reduction in carbon emissions, thereby contributing to the transition
to a low carbon future as required by paragraph 148 of the NPPF.
61. Paragraph 192 refers to the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the
significance of heritage assets, whereas the proposal would involve the loss of
all of the Airey houses. In accordance with paragraph 197, that is a matter
which I take into the balance in my overall conclusions. Construction of 70
new houses on what would be previously-developed land would make an
efficient use of that land, in accordance with paragraph 122. Certain generic
economic benefits would flow from redevelopment, and paragraph 80 refers to
support for economic growth.
62. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF refers to economic, social and environmental
objectives which are each important in achieving sustainable development.
Whilst the appeal proposal would make contributions in each of these areas,
the dissipation of the existing community and the loss of a non-designated
heritage asset are significant negative consequences. I have found, however,
the proposed development would comply with the Development Plan
considered as a whole. Therefore, it follows from paragraph 11(c) of the NPPF
that the appeal proposal is a sustainable form of development.
Planning obligations
63. A planning obligation concerns affordable housing, which is required by Policy
H5 of the Core Strategy. In the first instance the affordable dwellings are
intended to be provided within the appeal site, but if no offers are received for

14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 39

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

any of the affordable units, the obligation provides for a financial contribution
which would be used towards off-site provision in the locality: the Core
Strategy provides for that arrangement at paragraph 5.2.17.4.
64. The agreement contains an obligation providing for a contribution towards offsite greenspace. Although the proposed scheme comprises the same number
of dwellings as are already present on the site, it introduces 20 four-bedroom
properties, which could accommodate larger households leading to more
pressure on existing public open space. I also heard that there is a deficiency
in open space in Rothwell Ward. There is no opportunity for provision of
greenspace within the site, and I agree that a contribution for off-site provision
is, therefore, necessary, in accordance with Core Strategy Policy G4.
65. The other provisions of the planning agreement concern a contribution towards
a passenger information display at the bus stop between Sugar Hill Close and
Wordsworth Drive, and a travel plan. These measures are intended to reduce
car dependency and to encourage the use of more sustainable modes of
transport, an objective which is in accord with Policy T2 of the Core Strategy
and paragraph 102(c) of the NPPF. As such they would be necessary to make
the development acceptable in planning terms.
66. I find that the statutory tests in Regulation 122 of the Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations are met, and that the provisions of the
planning agreement are material considerations in this appeal.
Conditions
67. I have already referred to conditions concerning low carbon energy and
recording of the non-designated heritage asset. A condition specifying the
relevant drawings would be important as this provides certainty. In order to
ensure that existing residents are aware of the timescale of the development
and the rehousing programme, a phasing scheme and a tenants’ forum should
be put in place. In view of the history of mining in the area, it would be
important for a condition to require an assessment of ground conditions and a
scheme of any remedial work. Similar requirements would be necessary
concerning contamination as this is a brownfield site. Conditions concerning the
importation of soil materials and the provision of electric vehicle charging
points, would need to be imposed to minimise the effect of the development on
the environment.
68. To safeguard the living conditions of existing residents on the site and nearby,
restrictions would be necessary on the times of construction work and
deliveries. For the same reason, and in the interest of highway safety, a
statement of construction practice is necessary. Conditions concerning
provision of the parking spaces and waiting restrictions at the junction of
Oulton Drive and the A642 are important for reasons of highway safety and
ease of traffic movement. In order to ensure that the development would be in
keeping with its surroundings, conditions would be required concerning tree
protection measures, landscaping, the approval of materials, and the
reinstatement of footway crossings.
69. To protect bats, work should be carried out in accordance with measures
specified in the Bat Emergence Survey and Report (CD 01.40). Details of bird
nesting features and other measures to enhance biodiversity should be
included in the development in accordance with Policy G9 of the Core Strategy.
15

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 40

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

To ensure that the site would be satisfactorily drained, schemes for the
disposal of foul and surface water should be submitted for approval. In line
with Policy T2 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 102(c) of the NPPF, cycle
parking should be provided to encourage the use of sustainable mode of
transport.
70. It was suggested that permitted development rights be removed in respect of
additions to roofs and hardsurfacing. Paragraph 21a-017 of PPG explains that
area-wide or blanket removal of freedoms to carry out small-scale domestic
alterations that would not otherwise require an application for planning
permission are unlikely to meet the tests of reasonableness and necessity. The
LPA considered that a restriction on roof additions would assist in retaining the
character of the area. That character, however, would be markedly changed
by the redevelopment scheme, and I do not consider that the removal of
permitted development rights would be necessary to ensure that the new
housing would maintain an appropriate built form in this location. In my
experience the formation of additional hardsurfaced areas usually occurs at the
front of dwellings where it is used to provide parking space. However parking
provision is included in the scheme, and there are limited opportunities
available to increase hardsurfacing at the front of the new houses. I do not
consider that the removal of permitted development rights would be necessary
in this case.
71. Conditions concerning phasing, investigations in respect of mining activity and
contamination, a statement of construction practice, safeguarding bats,
biodiversity features, tree protection, drainage, recording of the heritage asset,
a renewable energy and low carbon report, electric vehicle charging points,
footway crossings, and a tenants’ forum would be pre-commencement
conditions. The Appellant has agreed to conditions on these matters
(Document O5).
Conclusions
72. I have found that the appeal proposal would comply with the Development
Plan, considered as a whole. That is not the end of the matter, as other
material considerations must also be taken into account, and paragraph 197 of
the NPPF requires that a balanced judgement takes account of the effect on the
significance of the non-designated heritage asset of the Airey houses.
73. The proposal would result in the total loss of the Airey houses, a nondesignated heritage asset whose local significance is emphasised by the
construction of the properties in connection with the former Rothwell mine and
their association with the Leeds firm of William Airey & Sons. As a
consequence of the loss of the houses, the existing community there would be
dissipated, and those households without protected tenancies would face an
uncertain future. These adverse effects, to which I attach significant weight,
run counter to the environmental and social objectives of the NPPF.
74. There is a number of important housing benefits which would be provided by
the appeal scheme. The houses would be built to modern standards and be
more energy efficient, providing a healthier living environment, a consideration
of particular relevance to those eleven households who would be able to move
into the new accommodation. The scheme would include an appropriate
proportion of adaptable and accessible dwellings, and importantly would
provide secured affordable housing. These factors align with policies in the
16

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 41

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

NPPF, as do the economic benefits, although the latter only merit limited
weight (above, para 30).
75. A key consideration in the planning balance is that the proposed development
represents the most realistic response to the deteriorating condition of the
Airey houses. There is no doubt that action is required within a relatively short
period of time. Refurbishment has not been demonstrated to be commercially
viable, and both of the options discussed at the inquiry would reduce the
heritage significance of the existing houses, which lessens my concern about
the conflict with Core Strategy Policy P11. Moreover, refurbishment is
expected to lead to a higher cost of accommodation in most cases26, which
would be likely to cause the dissipation of the community in any event. Taken
together with the benefits of the proposal, these factors are sufficient to
outweigh the harm which would be caused.
76. I acknowledge that the disturbance and uncertainty occasioned by the loss of
their homes would be likely to have a greater impact on the elderly, children
and the disabled, particularly those who would have to move away from this
part of Oulton. However action is required to address the condition of the
existing houses, and the appeal proposal itself, involving the demolition of all
the existing houses, would not discriminate against those with a protected
characteristic. The courts have held that the best interests of children should
be a primary consideration. The data on protected characteristics indicates
that all households with persons aged up to 16 would leave the site as they do
not have protected tenancies. That is an undesirable outcome, but one which,
for the reasons given earlier, I expect to occur irrespective of the decision on
this appeal. The loss of their homes would represent an interference with the
rights of existing residents under Article 8 of the European Convention on
Human Rights, as incorporated into UK law by the Human Rights Act 1988.
However, taking into account all material considerations, including the
legitimate aim to address the structural problem of the existing houses, I am
satisfied that that interference is necessary and proportionate.
77. For the reasons given above, and having regard to all matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Richard Clegg
INSPECTOR

26

Apart from the dwellings for households with regulated tenancies.

17

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 42

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Schedule 1 - Conditions
1)

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.

2)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the plans listed in schedule 2.

3)

No development shall commence until a phasing plan and statement have
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. Details to be included in the phasing scheme shall include:
heritage recording; areas to be developed; timeline for demolition and
development; and arrangements for the movement of regulated and
assured tenants.

4)

No development shall take place on any phase until schemes for the foul
and surface water drainage of that phase have been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The surface water
scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles, and surface
water discharges from any part of the site shall be restricted to greenfield
rates of runoff. The approved foul and surface water drainage schemes
shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of that phase, and they
shall be retained thereafter.

5)

No development shall take place on any phase until the following
information regarding past coal mining activity on that part of the site
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority:
a) A scheme of intrusive site investigations to assess the ground
conditions and potential risks posed to the development as a result of
past mining activity.
b) Submission of a report of findings arising from the intrusive site
investigation including the results of any gas monitoring.
c) A scheme of any proposed remedial works and a timetable for their
implementation.
d) Details of any programme for the prior extraction of surface coal
resources.
All remedial works on that part of the site shall be undertaken as
approved in accordance with the approved timetable.

6)

No development shall take place on any phase until a phase II site
investigation report for that part of the site has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority.
Where remediation measures on that part of the site are shown to be
necessary in the phase II report, and/or where soil or soil forming
material is being imported onto the site, development shall not
commence until a remediation statement demonstrating how that part of
the site will be made suitable for the intended use, including a timetable
for implementation, and arrangements for the provision of verification
reports, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. Any remediation measures shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved statement and timetable.

18

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 43

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

7)

No works shall begin on any phase until a statement of construction
practice for that phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the local planning authority. The statement of construction practice
shall include details of:
a) The methods to be employed to prevent mud, grit and dirt being
carried onto the public highway from the development site.
b) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction.
c) The location of the site compound and plant equipment/storage; and
d) Arrangements to publicise and review the statement of construction
practice.
The approved details shall be implemented at the commencement of
work on each phase, and shall thereafter be retained until their
completion. The statement of construction practice shall be made
publicly available during the construction of the phase in accordance with
the approved arrangements for publicity.

8)

No development shall take place on any phase, until a scheme providing
details of bird nesting features (to include swift features, a minimum of
16 house sparrow features, and 12 starling features) within buildings on
that phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The scheme shall include the number, specification
and location of the bird nesting features on that phase, together with a
timetable for implementation. All of the approved features for that phase
shall be installed in accordance with the approved scheme and timetable,
and they shall be retained thereafter.

9)

No development shall take place on any phase, until a scheme of
mitigation measures to safeguard bats has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall be
prepared in accordance with paragraphs 34, 42 & 43 of the Bat
Emergence Survey and Report by Brooks Ecological dated June 2018 (ref
R-3184-03), and shall include a timetable for implementation. All of the
approved features for that phase shall be installed in accordance with the
approved scheme and timetable, and they shall be retained thereafter.

10)

No works, including demolition, shall take place on any phase until a
written arboricultural method statement for that part of the site, including
a tree care plan during construction in accordance with British Standard
BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. This should include details of access, scaffolding, storage,
contractors’ parking, service runs and changes in levels, and protective
fencing to safeguard all existing trees, hedges and bushes shown to be
retained on the landscape masterplan ref P11:4519:100 revision G.
Within the protected areas no equipment, machinery or materials shall be
used, stored or burnt, ground levels shall not be altered, and no
excavations undertaken including the provision of any underground
services. The measures in the approved method statement shall be
retained for the duration of the demolition and construction period.

11)

No demolition shall take place until heritage recording of the Airey homes
on Sugar Hill Close and Wordsworth Drive has been undertaken, in
accordance with a scheme to be submitted to, and approved in writing
19

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 44

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall include the timescale
for recording, the methodology to be used, and details of how the record
will be maintained.
12)

No development shall take place on any phase until a renewable energy
and low carbon report for that phase has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The report shall
identify how the following will be provided:
a) A minimum of 10% of the predicted energy needs of the completed
development being obtained from decentralised and renewable or low
carbon energy.
b) Achievement of minimum Band B energy efficiency for each dwelling.
Any approved renewable or low carbon energy equipment, connection to
de-centralised or low carbon energy sources or additional energy
efficiency measures shall be installed before that phase of the
development is occupied. A post-installation report shall be submitted
within 3 months of installation to demonstrate that the approved
measures have been installed. Thereafter the approved equipment,
connection or measures shall be retained in use and maintained for the
lifetime of the development.

13)

No development shall take place on any phase until details of electric
vehicle charging points to be provided for each dwelling in that phase,
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The charging point for each dwelling shall be provided in
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of that
dwelling, and thereafter retained in accordance with the approved details.

14)

No development shall take place on any phase until construction details
of the proposed footway crossings and the reinstatement of any
redundant existing crossings have been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The footway crossings and
reinstatements at each residential plot shall be constructed in accordance
with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the dwelling on
that plot.

15)

No development shall take place on any phase until a scheme of
measures designed to achieve biodiversity net gain, including a timetable
for implementation and details of the long-term maintenance of approved
measures, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. All of the approved measures shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved scheme and timetable, and retained
thereafter.

16)

No development shall take place until details of a tenants’ forum have
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The details shall include the terms of reference, the timescales
for frequency of meeting and the membership of the forum. Membership
invites will be limited to one Ward Member, 2 tenants (or their
representatives) and 2 representatives of the developer. The matters to
be considered by the forum shall comprise the programme and phasing of
works, the programme for any evictions arising as a result of the
commencement of any phase of development in the approved phasing
plan, and the rehousing of eligible tenants. The tenants’ forum shall be
20

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 45

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

operational from the commencement of the first eviction proceedings in
relation to dwellings on the site until demolition of the final property on
the site.
17)

If remediation is unable to proceed in accordance with the approved
remediation statement for that part of the site, or where significant
unexpected contamination is encountered, the local planning authority
shall be notified in writing immediately and operations on the affected
part of the site shall cease. An amended or new remediation statement
for that part of the site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority prior to any further remediation works which
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the revised approved
statement.

18)

On completion of remediation works on any part of the site, a verification
report shall be submitted to the local planning authority in accordance
with the approved programme. That site or part of the site shall not be
brought into use until such time as all verification information for that
part of the site has been approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

19)

Any soil or soil forming materials brought to any part of the site for use in
garden areas, soft landscaping, public open space or for filling and level
raising on that part of the site shall be tested for contamination and
suitability for use. A methodology for testing these soils shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority
prior to these materials being imported onto site. The methodology shall
include information on the source of the materials, sampling frequency,
testing schedules and criteria against which the analytical results will be
assessed. Testing shall then be carried out in accordance with the
approved methodology. Relevant evidence and verification information
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority prior to these materials being imported onto the site.

20)

No construction work, including deliveries, shall take place outside the
following times: 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Saturdays; and no work shall
take place at any time on Sundays and bank and public holidays.

21)

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until full
details of both hard and soft landscape works, including an
implementation programme and timetable, for that part of the
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details, approved implementation
programme and British Standard BS 4428:1989 Code of Practice for
General Landscape Operations. The developer shall complete the
approved landscaping works and confirm this in writing to the local
planning authority prior to the date agreed in the implementation
programme.

22)

A landscape management plan for any part of the site, including long
term design objectives beyond the first 5 years, management
responsibilities and maintenance schedules shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the occupation
of the development. The landscape management plan for that part of the
site shall be carried out as approved.
21

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 46

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

23)

Construction of external walls and roofs to any building or phase subject
of this permission shall not take place until:
a) Details and samples of the external walling and roofing materials;
b) Details of cladding including materials, colour and locations; and
c) Details of doors and windows including materials, colour and reveals;
for the relevant building or phase have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority. Samples shall be made
available on site prior to the commencement of building works, for
inspection by the local planning authority which shall be notified in
writing of their availability. The building works shall be constructed from
the materials thereby approved.

24)

No dwelling in any phase shall be occupied until all areas shown on the
approved plans to be used by vehicles for that dwelling have been fully
laid out, surfaced and drained such that surface water does not discharge
or transfer onto the highway. These areas shall not be used for any other
purpose thereafter.

25)

No dwelling shall be occupied until cycle storage has been provided in
accordance with a scheme which has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The cycle storage shall be
retained thereafter.

26)

None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied until a traffic
regulation order to restrict parking at the junction of the A642 Wakefield
Road with Oulton Drive, has been implemented in accordance with a
scheme which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
END OF CONDITIONS

22

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 47

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

Schedule 2 – plans referred to in condition No 2
Location plan P11:4519:01
Site plan P11:4519:02 revision J
Landscape masterplan P11 4519 02 revision G
Details of housetype 2N gabled (AS/OP/OP) P11:4519:11 revision D
Details of housetype 3A (AS/OP) gabled P11:4519:13 revision F
Details of housetype 4M (AS) P11:4519:14 revision C
Details of housetype 4M (OP) P11:4519:15 revision C
Details of housetype 4K (AS-OP) P11:4519:16 revision C
Details of housetype 3H (OP) P11:4519:23 revision D
Details of housetype 3H+ (AS) P11:4519:34 revision C
Details of housetype 2N gabled (AS/OP) P11:4519:36 revision D
Details of housetype 3H (AS)–2N (OP) gabled P11:4519:37 revision C
Details of housetype 3H+ M4(3) (AS) P11:4519:40 revision A
Details of housetype 2N hipped (AS/OP/OP) P11:4519:41
Details of housetype 3H (AS)–2N (OP) hipped P11:4519:42
Details of housetype 2N (AS/AS)-3H(OP) hipped P11:4519:43
Details of housetype 2N hipped (AS/OP) P11:4519:44
Details of housetype 3A detached (AS) P11:4519:45
Details of housetype 2N (AS)-3H(OP) hipped P11:4519:46
Details of housetype 2N (AS)-3H(OP) gabled P11:4519:47
Details of housetype 3H(AS) P11:4519:48 revision D
Details of housetype 3H+ (OP) P11:4519:49
Details of housetype 3H+ (AS) special P11:4519:50
Boundary treatment – 1800mm brick wall P11:4519:03
Boundary treatment – 1800mm timber fence P11:4519:04
Boundary treatment – 450mm knee high rail P11:4519:05
Garage details P11:4519:08

23

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 48

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

APPEARANCES
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Ms C Bell of Counsel
She called
Mr G Tinsdale
Mr M Teasdale
MA(Oxon) MIED
Mr J Brooks BSc(Hons)
MTP MRTPI
Ms V Hinchliff Walker

Instructed by Mr M Hills, Solicitor with the City
Council
Head of Housing Support, Leeds CC
Senior Director, Temple Group
Director, WSP
Team Leader, South & West Planning Services,
Leeds CC

FOR THE APPELLANT:
Mr S White QC & Ms K Ziya of
Counsel
They called
Dr R Usher BA(Hons)
MSc DipPG PhD MIHBC
Mr M Askew BSc(Hons)
MSc(Eng) MICE MISE
Mr A W Wells BSc MBA
FRICS
Dr A Buroni PhD MSc
BSc(Hons) FRSM FRSPH
Mr M Sheppard
BSc(Hons) MA MRTPI

Instructed by Sheppard Planning
Historic Buildings Consultant
Associate Director, Walker Ingram Associates
Registered Valuer & Chartered Surveyor, Allsop
LLP
Director, RPS
Director, Sheppard Planning Ltd

FOR SAVE OUR HOMES LS26:
Ms J Wigley of Counsel
She called
Mr C Kitchen
Mr T Lawton
Mr J Rogers
Mrs L Readman
Ms K Bruce
Mr J Lynch MRTPI

Instructed by Mr Lynch
General Secretary, National Union of
Mineworkers, & General Secretary of the NUM
Yorkshire Area
Technical Sales Manager, Structherm Ltd
Westdale Services
Chairperson, Save Our Homes
Former city councillor for Rothwell Ward
Lynch Planning Consultancy Ltd

CORE DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE INQUIRY
05.07.1
Revised appendix 4 to Mr Wells’s proof of evidence.
05.20.1-3 Appendices to Dr Usher’s proof of evidence.
05.28
Ms Bell’s opening statement on behalf of the LPA, with
bundle of caselaw.
05.29
Ms Wigley’s opening statement on behalf of SOH.
05.30
Mr White’s & Ms Ziya’s opening statement on behalf of the
Appellant, with bundle of caselaw.
05.31
Mr Teasdale’s supplementary note.
24

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 49

Appeal Decision APP/N4720/W/20/3250249

05.32
05.33
05.34
05.35
05.36
05.37
05.38
05.39
05.40
05.41
05.42
05.43
05.44
05.45
05.46
05.47
05.48
05.49
05.50
05.51
05.52
05.53
05.54

Sensitivity test calculation. Submitted by Ms Wigley.
Email dated 7 October 2020 from Ms Wigley concerning CD
05.32.
Inquiry note on marketing of the appeal site. Submitted by
Mr Sheppard.
Section 528 of the Housing Act 1985.
Extract from the Encyclopedia of Housing Law and Practice
concerning CD 05.35.
House of Commons Library Note, Housing: construction
defects.
Extract from Hansard Volume 67 concerning the Housing
Defects Act 1984.
Table – length of AST tenancies. Submitted by Mr White.
Minutes of the South & West Plans Panel, 30 May 2019,
concerning the planning application for the proposed
development. Submitted by Mr White.
Minutes of the South & West Plans Panel, 3 October 2019,
concerning the planning application for the proposed
development. Submitted by Mr White.
Justification for S106 matters, 15 October 2020.
Submitted by Ms Hinchliff Walker.
Note – response to Inspector’s request concerning
households with protected characteristics. Submitted by
Dr Buroni and Mr Teasdale.
Travel Plans SPD.
Street Design Guide SPD – Main Report.
Street Design Guide SPD – Appendices.
Note on VAT. Submitted by Mr Wells.
Justification for S106 matters, 16 October 2020.
Submitted by Ms Hinchliff Walker.
Ms Wigley’s closing submissions on behalf of SOH.
Ms Bell’s closing submissions on behalf of the LPA.
Mr White’s & Ms Ziya’s closing submissions on behalf of the
Appellant.
Local Lettings Policies – A Note on the Law. Submitted by
Ms Bell.
Extracts from the Housing Act 1996. Submitted by Ms Bell.
Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997.
Submitted by Ms Bell.

OTHER DOCUMENTS
O1 Costs application on behalf of the Appellant.
O2 List of possible conditions, 16 October 2020. Submitted by Ms
Hinchliff Walker.
O3 The LPA’s response to Document O1.
O4 Regulation 2(4) notice.
O5 The Appellant’s response to Document O4.
O6 Planning agreement concerning the appeal proposal.

25

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 50

Agenda Item 8
Originator:

Kam Sandhu

Tel:

0113 3788031

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
SOUTH & WEST PLANS PANEL
Date: 4TH March 2021
Subject: 20/06034/FU – Retention of single storey extension to rear of 49 Colwyn Road,
Beeston, Leeds, LS11 6LQ.
APPLICANT

DATE VALID

TARGET DATE

Mr M Tanweer

22nd September 2020

17th November 2020

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Hunslet & Riverside

Equality and Diversity

Ward Members consulted

Yes

(referred to in report)

Community Cohesion

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
The Local Planning Authority considers that the proposed extension would, by virtue of its
scale and prominent siting, and relationship with the footpath, appear as an overly dominant
feature that is out of proportion and character with the existing dwelling and this part of the
street scene. Therefore, the proposal is contrary to policies GP5 and BD6 of the Leeds
Unitary Development Plan (Review) 2006, policy P10 of Leeds Core Strategy, and policy
HDG1 of the Supplementary Planning Document Householder Design Guide as well as
design advice set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.
INTRODUCTION:
1

The application is brought to South and West Plans Panel at the request of Councillor
Mohammed Iqbal. The reasons for the request are as follows:•
•

The location of the house is on a street slope and therefore the construction is
not dominant in the street and does not have any visual impact on the
neighbouring properties.
The construction is a bit more than a shed size which is and will only be used for
parking a motorcycle for its security to avoid damage and theft. Recently there
Page 51

•
•

has been an increased number of motor vehicle thefts and the applicant wanted
security of the motor bike.
There are already make shift unsightly sheds in the neighbouring properties,
whereas this is properly constructed.
To my knowledge there are no complaints from the neighbouring residents.

PROPOSAL:
2

This application seeks to retain an extension that is reported to have replaced a
timber shed.

3

The proposal therefore seeks retrospective permission for a single storey extension
with a garage type appearance that has been constructed on top of a parking space
accessed from Tempest Road. The extension is physically attached to the main
house and has a rectangular footprint of 4.5m in width and 2.8m in depth with a roller
shutter style garage door within the western elevation and a window within the side
(north) elevation. It is currently breeze block but the applicant is intending to render
the walls if permission is granted.

4

Although described by the applicant as a garage, the building falls short of the
dimensions required for such structure and does therefore appear more likely to be
used for storage.
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

5

The site involves a semi-detached white rendered property under a hipped roof which
lies in-between Tempest Road to the west, considered by the applicant to be the rear
of the property, and Colwyn Road to the east, considered to be the front of the
property by virtue of the postal address etc. It is however considered that the Colwyn
Road elevation reads more like a rear elevation and the Tempest Road elevation
more like a front elevation as it also provides for vehicular access and off street
parking, although with the existing structure in place this is not possible. It is noted
there are several timber outbuilding/structures at neighbouring properties along the
Tempest Road elevation.

6

The boundary treatment to the Colwyn Road elevation consists of an approx. 1.5m
high red brick wall, and a lower metal gate, also painted red. There is a modest
extension at the side of the property. The boundary treatment to the Tempest Road
elevation consists of a low brick wall with railings above (approx. 1.2m high) and
forms part of wider environmental improvements that have been undertaken within the
area.

7

To the opposite sides of the dwelling lie red brick terraced streets of an older age. The
property has small paved hardstanding yards to both frontages.

8

The Council’s OS maps and UPRN addresses suggest that these semis were
originally back to back properties at one time, however they are clearly a through
property now. This likely explains the front / back address issue.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

9

20/00716/UHD3 – Single storey outbuilding to rear (pending action).
Page 52

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:
10

The applicant has been advised that officers cannot support retention of the
outbuilding and so it should be removed.
PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

11

The application was originally advertised by Neighbour Notification Letters that were
issued on 30th September 2020. No letters of representations have been received in
respect of this application. Ward Councillor Iqbal is in support and has commented as
reported in para. 1.
CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES:

12

None.
PLANNING POLICIES:

13

14

15

Development Plan
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act states that for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination
must be made in accordance with the plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. The development plan currently comprises the adopted Local Development
Framework Core Strategy (amended 2019), those policies saved from the Leeds
Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) (UDP), the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action
Plan (2017), the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan, the Site Allocations Plan
(July 2019) and any made Neighbourhood Plan.
The Site Allocations Plan was adopted in July 2019. Following a statutory challenge,
Policy HG2, so far as it relates to sites which immediately before the adoption of the
SAP were within the green belt, has been remitted to the Secretary of State and is to
be treated as not adopted. All other policies within the SAP remain adopted and
should be afforded full weight.
Leeds Core Strategy
The Core Strategy is the development plan for the whole of the Leeds district. The
following core strategy policies are considered most relevant:
P10: Seeks to ensure that new development is well designed and respect its context.
T2:
Accessibility requirements and new development

16

Saved UDP policies:
The following saved policies are of relevance
GP5: Seeks to ensure that development proposals resolve detailed planning
considerations, including amenity.
BD6: All alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form, detailing and
materials of the original building.
Page 53

17

Relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance includes:
Supplementary Planning Guidance “Householder Design Guide” (HDG) – that
includes guidance that the design and layout of new extensions and that they should
have regard to the character of the local area the impact on their neighbours.
HDG1: All alterations and extensions should respect the scale, form, proportions,
character and appearance of the main dwelling and the locality. Particular attention
should be paid to:
i) the roof form and roof line;
ii) window details;
iii) architectural features;
iv) boundary treatments and;
v) materials.
Extensions or alterations which harm the character and appearance of the main
dwelling or the locality will be resisted.
HDG2: All development proposals should protect the amenity of neighbours.
Proposals which harm the existing residential amenity of neighbours through
excessive overshadowing, over dominance or overlooking will be strongly resisted.

18

National Planning Policy (NPPF)
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the
Government’s requirements for the planning system. NPPF must be taken into
account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material
consideration in planning decisions.
MAIN ISSUES

19

The following main issues are identified for assessment and Panel Members are
advised this planning application has been submitted following an enforcement
enquiry (ref: 20/00716/UHD3). The need for formal Enforcement action or not is
obviously dependent on this application.
1.
2.
3.
4.

Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity
Parking
Representations

APPRAISAL
Character and Appearance
20

The proposal is understood to replace a much smaller timber structure that was
situated on the off-street parking space. The applicant has stated the structure is to
the rear of the property however it appears to have been two houses originally and
accordingly two principal elevations exist. As such, there is no permitted development
(PD) fallback for Panel Members to consider.
Page 54

21

The extension is currently of a breeze block construction with a flat roof. It is situated
in a highly visible location and projects from the main house the almost full depth
towards the public pavement. As such, the extension is well forward of what is a
strong and clear building line and appears as an incongruous and visually intrusive
structure, both to the character and appearance of host dwelling and also within the
wider street scene.

22

Whilst the applicant considers the primary frontage of the property to be Colwyn
Road, but given the original back to back nature of the properties (now one house) the
Tempest Road frontage is equality important. This, combined with the uniform building
line and the environmental improvements works that have been undertaken for all the
properties in along this part of Tempest Road means that any front extension needs to
be sensitively designed.

23

The extension does not achieve these requirements and not only is in a highly
prominent location but also projects nearly to the back edge of the footpath. Therefore
despite being slightly set down relative to the house, it still appears as an overly
dominant and incongruous feature in the street scene that is out of proportion with the
host property. The applicant’s offer to render the extension is acknowledged would not
mitigate this identified harm.

24

It is noted there are several other outbuildings/structures at neighbouring properties
along the Tempest Road frontage and these are sited as justification to support the
current application. However these are all much smaller in scale, detached and
temporary structures. More generally, they also have a poor external appearance and
are certainly not examples of good design to be repeated. Importantly, they are also
not permanent structures unlike the proposal under consideration here. Therefore, it is
considered that a solid structure of this nature in such a prominent location is visually
harmful and if supported would set a dangerous precedent for similar development
which in turn leads to wider harm. As such the proposal is contrary to policies GP5,
and BD6 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review) 2006, to policy P10 of
Leeds Core Strategy, to policy HDG1 of the Supplementary Planning Document
Householder Design Guide and to national policy guidance contained in the National
Planning Policy Framework.
Residential Amenity

25

The extension is single storey in nature and although it adds a degree of additional
bulk, it is located north of the most affected property (no. 47 Colwyn Road); therefore
no direct overshadowing occurs. Any additional overshadowing that does take place
largely falls across the neighbour’s driveway in any event. As such the development is
not considered to present harm to residential amenity in terms of overshadowing or
loss of light.

26

With regard to privacy, the window within the side (north) elevation faces towards the
applicant’s own front garden area, which is already open to wider public view, and as
such, it is not considered that this proposal will significantly impact on the neighbour’s
privacy.
Parking

27

The extension is positioned on a parking space and is understood to replace a timber
shed that had been present before. Clearly the ability to park one vehicle safely off
street has been removed and this is far from ideal. However, off street parking is not
generally available to most residents in the area and so on-street parking is the norm.
Page 55

28.

In terms of on street parking, the carriageway width of Tempest Road is such that
parking takes place on both sides of the road and still allows for two way passing.
This, combined with the fact the application property now faces onto two streets does
mean the applicant has good on-street parking options. There is also no real need to
keep the space in front of the extension clear despite the roller shutter door design as
vehicle access is not required. Even motorbike access would be relatively small. For
these combined reasons, on balance officers have not formally promoted a highway
safety reason for refusal on this occasion.
Representations

29

No letters of representation have been received from neighbours but Ward Councillor
Iqbal is supportive of the application. The comments made regarding the appearance
of the extension have been addressed in the above appraisal. In terms of its use, the
desire to secure a motorbike is not objected to by officers, only the way that that is
currently being achieved. Taken quite simply, if the scale of the extension sought was
reduced to a size more akin to a motorbike, other options in terms of its general siting
would be available. A much more sympathetic and discrete structure could therefore
have been proposed however the retrospective nature of the application is such that
the option to pursue more appropriate solutions has effectively been removed.

30

Regarding Councillor Iqbal’s last point, the lack of formal complaints about the
application is no reason to go against adopted policy/guidance and support a form of
development that officers have assessed as being unacceptable. The officer
recommendation to refuse therefore remains and in this particular case the potential
for similar proposals to follow were permission to be granted is also potentially strong
judging by the existence of other temporary structures in neighbouring plots.
CONCLUSION

31

It is considered that by virtue of the extension’s general scale, prominent siting and
inappropriate design that its retention cannot be supported due to its adverse impact
on the character and appearance of both the host dwelling and the wider street scene.
Whilst some concern regarding the loss of a parking space exists, in the
circumstances it is not considered to be so serious as to warrant a formal reason for
refusal in its own right. Nevertheless, the application remains contrary to policies GP5
and BD6 of the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review) 2006, policy P10 of Leeds
Core Strategy, policy HDG1 of the Supplementary Planning Document Householder
Design Guide and to national policy guidance contained in the National Planning
Policy Framework. As such it is recommended that planning permission be refused.
Background Papers:
Application file: 20/06034/FU

Page 56

90

70

80

118

88

STRATFORD TERRACE

2

2

17

7

17a

19

6

6

26
30

6
10

10

10

22

57

55

45

35

25

61

15
13

45

5

33

19

23

13

91

35

1

33

2

67

21

13

49

37

25

59

14

29
27

RA

CE

13

57

17

LW

ER

15

1
47

5

11

1

45

39

2

2

23

CO

Y
LW

NP

LA

CE

3

13

LW

13

CO

27

29

YN

PL
AC

6

15

30

9

13

23

25

2

27

28

25

BA

27

2

0

1a

37

2

4

31

1

40

24

CK

13

1

13

51

13

CO

T
YN

10

1

E

1

79

2

63

18

CE
20

75

RA

1

a
99

29

47

24

14

73

8

7
14

49

48

6
14

14

1

85

24

95

28

99

2

97a

8

ER
WT

UNT

AD

8

5

13

CE

97

2

PLA

V IE

MO

RO

14

14

55
53

51

7

7

5

38

13

8a

5

1

12

14

14

15

13

13
1

26

12

8

24

2

9

1
10

OD
22

W

36

50

24

IEW

O

IE
DV

14

NT

17

3

CE

34

14

ES

a

46

CR

WO

0

48

56.7m

42

RL

H
EC

14

D

2

ET

14

34

9

58

RE

T

68

HA

23

54

EC

13

D

H

L
AR

T
HS

UN

5

D

OA

D

28

4

56.4m

OA

16

MO

OA

13

OA

AD

NR

2

N

24

TO

2a

HR

4

WY
OL

NR

TR

RO

ING

E

13

13

EC

AC

(Mosque)

ODV

Y
LW

C

Masjid
Ibraheem

27

WO

CO

ES

ON
GT

MP

IN
RL

TE

BU

1

E

WO

14

CK

RL

21

RL

6

39
6

8

13

52.4m

26

2

8

E
PL

6

AC

32

RE

NT

4

DE

U
MO

32

4

16

23

51
33
y

26

UE

1

EN

13

AV

3

CK

RE

17

BA

LV
BE

E
ED

1a

3

2

1

Bd

E

2

d

AV

14

W
ar

RE

13

B

DE

1

26

VE
EL

50.0m
14

FF

E
NU

31

14

1

64

1

RL

RR

NU

66

HA

HA

TE

E
AV

6

BA

80

BU

78

VE

H
EC

C

3

92

19

88

RO

TRENTHAM GROVE

60.0m

N
WY
OL

20

1

9

3

3

60.7m

HG

VIEW

UE

10

98

2

16

OOD

0

20/06034/FU
04

TO

IN
G

RL

BU

E
LV

N

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL
BE

HA

ER W

EN

UPP

18

T
EN

32

AV

5

12

CH

30

10

6

E
DG CE
L O RA
R
TE

26

0

10

TR

44

IEW

10

HA

2

T

E
RL

NV

0a

IEW

Y
LW

2

10

NV

CO

10

10

61.9m

8

113

2a

24

57.0m

Y
LW

CK

117

1
10

4

a

LB

CO

BA

8

38

118

10

24

23

50

Play Area

111

111

10

13

8
1

3

9

49

6

13

12

8

1

17

H

47

14

TCB

25

60

99

.9m

0

6

114

EC

TRENTHAM ROW

26
25

8

64

14

14

12

13

32

5

35

30

63.7m

16

L
AR

31

32

60.0m

64.3m

UN

BUDE ROAD

E

34

64.3m

13

AN

36

62

Posts

7

EL

BROMPTON VIEW

38

42

Posts

2

BROMPTON MOUNT

DG

14

13

LO

1

BROMPTON TERRACE

CK

16

2

133

16

BROMPTON GROVE

BA

E

2

16

2

3

121

NU

13

9

117

E

E
AV

BROMPTON ROW

Hall

15

O
HM

1

2

5

AC

65.8m

0a

6

M

27

PL

130
13

D
AU

8

10

1

UD

16

1

111

Hall

3

66.4m
MA

EC

98

108

116

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 57

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/1500

°

M

S

Page 58

Page 59

Page 60

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Originator:

Stuart Daniel

Tel:

0113 535 0551

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
SOUTH & WEST PLANS PANEL
Date: 4th March 2021
Subject: Application 20/08124/OT – Outline application for housing development (up
to 61 units) including adopted highway access and associated external works,
Oldfield Lane, Upper Wortley
APPLICANT
Leeds City Council

DATE VALID
16/12/2020

TARGET DATE
17/03/2021

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Farnley & Wortley

Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Ward Members consulted

Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: DEFER and DELEGATE approval to the Chief Planning officer
- subject first to referral to Secretary of State following a request from the public and
subject to the conditions specified (and any others which he might consider
appropriate)
1. Approval of reserved matters (layout, scale, appearance and landscaping)
2. Time limit of five years for submission of Reserved Matters
3. Approved Plans
4. Up to a maximum 61 dwellings only
5. Housing mix
6. Affordable housing
7. Space and mobility standards
8. On-site Green space provision
9. Improvements to off-site Green space
10. Provision of a Green link connecting Oldfield Lane with the existing
Greenspace to the north
11. Sustainability requirement carbon emission reduction
12. Approved vehicular access
13. Maximum access gradient
14. Highway condition survey
15. Construction method statement
Page 63

16. Maximum driveway gradients
17. Details of parking provision
18. Visibility splays
19. EVCP
20. Phase II ground investigations
21. Remediation Statement
22. Remediation Verification
23. Foul drainage scheme
24. Details of SuDS
25. Details of interim and temporary drainage
26. Hard and soft landscaping
27. Tree Protection plan and Arboricultrial Method Statement
28. Landscape management plan
29. Ecological details including details of Net Gain
30. Biodiversity management
INTRODUCTION:
1. This application is brought to Plans Panel as it is considered that the application is
locally sensitive with a significant number of representations received and the Chair
considers that the application should be referred to Plans Panel for determination. In
addition, it is an application which is being pursued by the Council as applicant. In
this regard, the application meets the test set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegation
and it is therefore appropriate to report the application to Panel for determination.
2. This outline planning application seeks permission for up to 61 dwellings and relates to
a site that is identified for housing in the adopted Site Allocation Plan (SAP). The site is
HG2-84 Oldfield Lane.
3. The application relates to an outline planning application and, as such, it should be
made clear that the proposal relates to the principle of the development on the site
identified in the submitted location plan and the proposed access into it. Matters of
scale, layout, landscaping and appearance are to be determined via separate Reserved
Matters application(s), should approval be granted for this outline planning application.
PROPOSAL:
4. As noted above, this outline planning application proposes up to 61 dwellings within a
site that is allocated for housing under the Councils adopted SAP.
5. The outline application seeks approval for the use of land for residential purposes and
access into the site from Oldfield Lane which is proposed to be located toward the
south-westernmost part of the site. The application is accompanied with an indicative
block plan which shows how any subsequent layout will include the site requirements
set out within the SAP Allocation. The plan also shows where potential footpath
connections may be included linking Oldfield Lane with the development site and to
the east on to Malmesbury Place.
6. In addition to the indicative block plan, the application has been supported by the
following:
• Coal Mining Risk Assessment
• Phase 1 Desk Study
• Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA)
• Tree Survey
Page 64

• Flood Risk Assessment
• Transport Statement
These reports have all been assessed and will be expanded on later within the
report
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:
7.

The application relates to a parcel of land which has been allocated for housing use in
the adopted SAP. The site sits to the north of Oldfield Lane between Oldfield Avenue
to the west and Malmesbury Close/Terrace/Place to the east. The land is identified
within the SAP as measuring 1.7ha. The proposed area of land to be developed is
completely within the redline boundary of the site approved in the SAP (site reference
HG2-84).

8.

For information, approximately 25% of the site is owned by Leeds City Council with the
remaining 75% (approx.) owned by a third party. As such, Certificate B has been signed
on the application form and notice served on the landowners in accordance with the
requirements.

9.

The site is located within Wortley, approximately 1 mile West of Leeds City Centre and
is adjacent to an ASDA supermarket to the east. To the north of the site there is an area
of trees with Green Space beyond which is associated with Five Lanes Primary School
which includes a footpath that connects Oldfield Avenue with Malmsbury Place with a
northern “branch” connecting to Stradbrook Way.

10.

The land is a previously undeveloped Greenfield site that is now allocated for housing
within the adopted SAP. The land comprises of mainly grass with a number of trees
located along the western and northern boundary. The site is relatively flat though
there are some undulations within it. The land to the north with the existing green
space and to the west with Oldfield Avenue are at a higher level with the difference
between the areas of land being 1m-2.5m.

11.

The areas surrounding the site comprise of residential properties, interspersed by
local facilities including retail, schools public houses and other local community
facilities. Further north, there are a number of commercial/industrial units with the
main Leeds-Bradford railway line located beyond
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

12.

24/90/05/FU - Laying out of access road and erection of 49 dwelling houses and 15
flats. Application withdrawn
HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:

13.

There have been additional information requested (and received) regarding the
maximum number of units proposed.
PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

14.

The development has been advertised by Site Notices posted on 21st Dec 2020
around the site and within the Yorkshire Evening Post.

15.

As a result of the above consultation process, 354 representations have been
received from the public. Of these, 352 are objecting to the proposal (including 48
objections from outside the Farnley & Wortley Ward and 16 from outside Leeds as
Page 65

well as multiple objections from the same household) and 2 are in support (one from
outside the Ward). The material planning considerations that have been raised in the
objections can be summarised into the following:
Principle of development
• Sports field is still in use for the people of leeds & the children
• Sports ground is cherished by the local community, it is an escape for people
and a place to go with family/friends
• Contrary to NPPF para 97 (building on Greenspace)
• Pending Asset of community value application
• Don’t need any more new homes in Wortley
• Greenfield sites should never be built on
• Council have already withdrawn 37 Greenbelt sites, why?
• The application doesn’t comply with Policy H4 as it would not provide a mix of
tenures
• If developed, it would be better to improve existing green space rather than
creating new green space on site
• The site would be suitable for 1 or 2 enclosed pitches for all sports
Traffic issues
• More traffic & cause chaos on local roads
Amenity issues
• Lack of school places in the area
• Deficit of green space in the area
• Schools, gp’s & dentists are oversubscribed
• LCC managed park lands are unsafe and poorly maintained
• Wortley is already overcrowded, law & order is failing & the parks are unsafe
for children
Environmental/landscaping issues
• Increase in pollution
• Diverse wildlife within the area (where would they go given the lack of GS in
the area)
• There is knotweed on site
• No ecology survey has been carried out
Administration/processing issues
• Application provides insufficient detail for an O/L
• Certificate B has been signed indicating that LSSA are the only owners of the
• How can LCC determine their own application? This is a blatant conflict of
interest
The above comments have been taken into account and assessed in the
subsequent report. A large number of comments have also been raised that are not
material planning considerations, these can be summarised below:
Non-material matters
• How can the Council sell something it doesn’t own?
• Council should stop selling its own housing if social housing is needed
• Green space holds a lot of history
• LCC own many brownfield sites which should be built on first
• Land was gifted to the children of the area
Page 66

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Has heritage of being associated with Leeds United
LCC sold other brownfield sites to make money
Local community do not want houses built here
Impact on house prices
Land was left for the children of Leeds
Don’t want more Council Tenants ruining Wortleys reputation
Covenant on land preventing it to be sold
The belligerent and intransigent attitude of both LCC and the LSSA have
angered and appalled the community of Wortley over this issue
Council abusing their power by pushing through the plans particularly when
they have withdrawn 37 applications elsewhere
If built, these dwellings could be bought under “right to buy” meaning giving
no certainty that they would remain affordable
New houses will increase the possibility of higher crime in the area
Land is not LCC’s to designate
Bramley Rugby club looked to buy the site in 2006/07 but was told it had
been sold for housing
Land is not the Councils to sell
Object to the application on moral grounds
law & order in Wortley is failing & the parks are unsafe for children

The comments raised in support of the application are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Plenty of green area within 2-5 min walk of the site
The site has been derelict for a number of years
What about the children of leeds that are homeless, living in bedsits and
emergency accommodation?
Land looks messy & unappealing now
Prefer to use the larger, better looked after Green Spaces
Support the building of houses as this will be good for the community

All three Ward Members have been informed of the application with a meeting held
during the planning process. No formal comments have been received.
16.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
Sport England – Sport England acknowledge that they are not a statutory
Consultee however, they object to the loss of the playing pitch
Health & Safety Executive – No objections
Coal Authority – No objection subject to conditions
Highways – No objections subject to conditions
Flood Risk Management – Recommend conditions relating to drainage and run-off
rates
Transport Strategy – No acoustic assessment required and therefore, no objection
Contaminated Land – Require Phase II reports to ensure contaminated land matters
are addressed. This can be conditioned
Page 67

Landscape – No objection to the information provided so far. Further
information/reports required for the next stage, conditions recommended
Public Rights of Way - No public rights of way directly affect the application site.
However, desire lines through the site. We would welcome any paths through the
site that would connect onto Public Footpath No.193 Leeds which runs to the north
of the application site. A connection should be encouraged as this would provide
safe and secure walking routes, particularly in and around the local neighbourhood
and to the local primary school. This would help to promote and encourage more
use of public rights of way for local journeys.
Nature Team – The Baseline Biodiversity Units are 5.16 and to achieve a 10%
increase the target is 5.68 Biodiversity Units. Once an indicative
landscape/biodiversity plan has been submitted together with the post-development.
Biodiversity Metric calculations we can comment further.
Local Plans – Support the principle of the application as it relates to an allocated
site for housing.
PLANNING POLICIES:
17.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision-making, the
Development Plan for Leeds comprises the Core Strategy (as amended 2019), Site
Allocations Plan (adopted 2019) (SAP), saved policies within the Leeds Unitary
Development Plan (Review 2006) (UDP) and the Natural Resources and Waste
Development Plan Document (2013) (NRWLP) and any made Neighbourhood Plans
(No Neighbourhood Plans are applicable here).

18.

It should be noted here, that Leeds City Council has made a declaration of a Climate
Emergency and, that the overall aim of the Local Planning Authority’s Development
Plan (including a number of the existing policies within the Plan) seeks to support this
statement of intent. The Core Strategy and UDP seek to ensure that all development is
sustainable and that wherever possible, a development minimises its impact upon
global warming and its carbon emissions.
Local Planning Policy

19.

The following Core Strategy policies are relevant to the proposal:
General Policy – Sustainable Development and the NPPF
Spatial Policy 1 – Location of Development
Spatial Policy 6 – The Housing Requirement and Allocation of Housing Land
Spatial Policy 7 – Distribution of Housing Land and Allocations
Spatial Policy 11 – Transport Infrastructure Investment Priorities
Spatial Policy 13 – Strategic Green Infrastructure
Policy H1 – Managed Release of Sites
Policy H3 – Density of Residential Development
Policy H4 – Housing Mix
Policy H5 – Affordable Housing
Policy H9 – Minimum Space Standards
Page 68

Policy H10 – Accessible Housing Standards
Policy P10 – Design and context
Policy P11 - Conservation
Policy P12 – Landscape
Policy T1 – Transport Management
Policy T2 – Accessibility and New Development
Policy G1 – Enhancing and Extending Green Infrastructure
Policy G2 – Creation of Tree Cover
Policy G3 – Standards for Open Space, Sport and Recreation
Policy G4 – New Greenspace Provision
Policy G6 – Protection of Green Space
Policy G8 – Protection of Important Species and Habitats
Policy G9 – Biodiversity Improvements
Policy EN1 – Climate Change (Carbon dioxide reduction in developments of 10
houses or more, or 1000m2 of floor-space)
Policy EN2 – Sustainable Design and Construction (Achievement of Code Level 4 or
BREEAM Excellent (in 2013) for developments of 10 houses or more or 1000m2 of
floor-space)
Policy EN5 – Managing Flood Risk
Policy EN8 – Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure
Policy ID1 – Implementation and Delivery Mechanisms
20.

The following saved UDPR policies are also relevant:
GP1 - Land use and the Proposals Map
GP5 - Development control considerations including impact on amenity
BD3 – Disabled access and new buildings
BD5 - New buildings and amenity
LD1 - Landscape design
LD2 - New and altered roads
N1 - Protection of Urban Green Space
N8 - Urban Green Corridors
N9 - Urban Green Corridors and Development
N11 – Open Land in Built Up Areas
N23 - Incidental Open Space
N24 - Development and Incidental Open Space
N25 - Site boundaries
LD1 - Development and landscape schemes

21.

The following NRWLP policies are also relevant:
The Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP) out where land is needed
to enable the City to manage resources, e.g. minerals, energy, waste and water
over the next 15 years and identifies specific actions which will help use natural
resources in a more efficient way. Relevant policies are as follows:
Air 1

Major development proposals to incorporate low emission measures and
air quality to be managed through development
Minerals 3 Development proposals and surface coal
Water 1
Water efficiency, including incorporation of sustainable drainage
Water 2
Protection of water quality
Water 4
Effect of proposed development on flood risk
Water 6
Flood risk assessment
Water 7
Surface water run-off and incorporation of SUDs
Land 1
Contaminated Land and ground conditions
Page 69

Land 2

Development and Trees including the need to conserve trees and
replacement planting where loss occurs

22.

The site is not phased within the SAP and, following its adoption in July 2019, the SAP
is a significant material consideration in the planning decision-making process.

23.

The SAP was adopted in July 2019. Following a statutory challenge, Policy HG2, so
far as it relates to sites which immediately before the adoption of the SAP were within
the green belt, has been remitted to the Secretary of State and is to be treated as not
adopted. All other policies within the SAP remain adopted and should be afforded full
weight. This site was not a site within the green belt immediately before the SAP’s
adoption. In addition, the site is not phased within the SAP. The SAP is therefore to be
afforded full weight in consideration of and decision-making on this application.

24.

The site is allocated for housing in the SAP under reference number HG2-84 and thus
the principle of the site’s use is established. As it is an HG2 site, the allocation is subject
to specific site requirements relating to the provision of on-site greenspace, a “green
link” connecting Oldfield Lane to the on-site greenspace, local improvements to existing
sports facilities as well as a gas pipeline affecting the site.
Relevant Local Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

25.

The most relevant local supplementary planning guidance (SPG) and supplementary
planning documents (SPD) are outlined below:
Sustainable Urban Drainage SPG (2004)
Public Transport Improvements and Developer Contributions SPD (August 2008)
Street Design Guide SPD (August 2009)
Travel Plans SPD (February 2015)
Parking SPD (January 2016)
Accessible Leeds SPD (November 2016)
Affordable Housing (Interim Policy)
Neighbourhoods for Living SPD (2003)
Building for Tomorrow Today: Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2011)
National Planning Policy

26.

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) sets out the Government’s
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and
is a material consideration in planning decisions. One of the key principles at the
heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

27.

Paragraph 7 of the NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Paragraph 8 goes on to
note that achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives - economic, social and environmental objectives – which
are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways.

28.

Paragraph 10 sets out that at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development. Paragraph 11 states that decision taking this means
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay. Paragraph 12 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable
Page 70

development does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the
starting point for decision making.
29.

Paragraph 48 sets out that in decision taking local planning authorities may give
weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to the stage of its preparation,
the extent to which there are unresolved objections and the degree of consistency
with the NPPF.

30.

Paragraph 56 sets out that planning obligations must only be sought where they are
necessary, directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably related in
scale and kind to the development. Paragraph 57 sets out that where up-to-date
policies have set out the contributions expected from development, planning
applications that comply with them should be assumed to be viable.

31.

Section 5 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Delivering a sufficient supply of homes’. Paragraph
73 sets out that local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply
of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of
housing.

32.

Section 8 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Promoting healthy and safe communities’ and sets
out at paragraph 91 that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive
and safe places including encouraging layouts that would encourage walking and
cycling. Paragraph 92 requires planning decisions to take into account and support
the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all
sections of the community. Paragraph 96 sets out that access to a network of high
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for
the health and well-being of communities. Paragraph 98 sets out that planning
decisions should protect and enhance public rights of way and access.

33.

Section 9 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Promoting sustainable transport’ and sets out at
paragraph 102 that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stage of
development proposals including opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public
transport. Paragraph 102 also sets out that the environmental impacts of traffic and
transport infrastructure can be identified, assessed and taken into account and that
patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral
to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places.

34.

Paragraph 108 states that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport
modes should be taken up; safe and suitable access provided for all users; and any
significant impacts on the highway mitigated.

35.

Paragraph 109 states the development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Within this context,
paragraph 110 sets out, amongst other things, that development should give priority
to pedestrian and cycle movements both within the scheme and with neighbouring
areas, minimize the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles and
be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in
safe, accessible and convenient locations.

36.

Paragraph 111 states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of
movement should be required to provide a travel plan.

37.

Section 11 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Making effective use of land’ and at paragraph 117
sets out that planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting
Page 71

the need for homes and other uses, whilst safeguarding and improving the
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.
38.

Section 12 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Achieving well-designed places’ and at paragraph
124 states that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to
what the planning and development process should achieve. Paragraph 124 goes on
to state that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to
communities.

39.

Paragraph 127, amongst other things, states that planning decisions should ensure
development is visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and
appropriate and effective landscaping. Paragraph 129 sets out that in assessing
planning applications, local planning authorities should have regard to the outcome of
design discussions, including with the local community.

40.

Paragraph 130 states that permission should be refused for development of poor
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and
quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design
standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents.

41.

Section 14 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding
and coastal change and at paragraph 148 sets out that the planning system should
support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate.

42.

Section 15 of the NPPF is entitled ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment’. Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment including through minimising impacts and
providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.
National Planning Practice Guidance

43.

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) offers guidance in addition to the
NPPF.

44.

The NPPG advises that reserved matters are those aspects of a proposed
development which an applicant can choose not to submit details of at outline
planning application stage (i.e. that can be ‘reserved’ for later determination). These
reserved matters are defined in Article 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) as:
•

‘Access’ – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation
routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network.

•

‘Appearance’ – the aspects of a building or place within the development
which determine the visual impression the building or place makes, including
the external built form of the development, its architecture, materials,
decoration, lighting, colour and texture.

•

‘Landscaping’ – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of
enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is
situated and includes: (a) screening by fences, walls or other means; (b) the
Page 72

planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; (c) the formation of banks, terraces
or other earthworks; (d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts,
squares, water features, sculpture or public art; and (e) the provision of other
amenity features;
•

‘Layout’ – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the
development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other
and to buildings and spaces outside the development.

•

‘Scale’ – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the
development in relation to its surroundings.

In this particular instance, all matters are reserved for later determination, apart from
access.
MAIN ISSUES:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Local services
Highways/ Access
Impact on Trees/landscaping
Ecology/net gain
Drainage
Other issues
Representation
APPRAISAL:

45.

Principle of Development
In line with the NPPF, the Local Planning Authority has identified a five year supply
of housing and therefore has an up to date Local Plan. Underpinning this is the
SAP, which has been scrutinised by the Secretary of State and is the foundation for
identifying and releasing housing sites that make up the housing supply for the
Development Plan period. The site is allocated for housing through the adopted
SAP (ref site HG2-84). It gives an indicative capacity of up to 61 dwellings with
specific site requirements relating to on-site Greenspace, enhancements to existing
Greenspace within the locality, the provision of a ‘green link’ between Oldfield Lane
and the northern part of the site as well as a gas pipeline located close to the
western part of the site. These matters are covered later within the report however,
the proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to an assessment
against all other local planning policies.

46.

As previously noted above, this allocated site is not impacted by the recent SAP
legal proceedings, as the site was not located in the Green Belt immediately prior to
the adoption of the SAP. The principle of development has therefore been
established in the SAP as sustainable and acceptable.

47

Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy seeks to promote the most sustainable forms of
development, seeking the development of brownfield land over Greenfield, and
adopting a hierarchical spatial approach to the location of development which
promotes development in urban areas first and rural areas last. Policies SP6 and
Page 73

SP7 set broad targets for the quantum and distribution of housing land throughout
the city, and policy H1 commits to the delivery of allocated housing sites.
48

Policy SP1 does not preclude development within such smaller settlements as long
as the scale of growth has regard to the settlement’s size, function and
sustainability. In this case, the application site is not considered to be excessively
large, which in the context of the wider settlement of Wortley, is not considered to
exceed the settlement’s size, function and sustainability.

49.

This application is considered to represent an 'in-fill' of part of the wider settlement
which forms a logical settlement boundary to in-fill land which lies between the
existing dwellings on Oldfield Avenue to the west and Malmsbury
Close/Terrace/Place to the east. The site is, and has been acknowledged through
the SAP, as being a sustainable location that sufficiently complies with the Council’s
Accessibility Standards. During the SAP adoption process, the issue of sustainability
was rigorously scrutinized and sustainability appraisals were undertaken. It is
deemed to be within a sustainable location within the boundary of the settlement of
Wortley with suitable access to local services and facilities and public transport, and
access to larger neighbouring settlements.

50.

Spatial Policy 6 (ii) does express a preference for brownfield, which this site is not.
The ‘in-fill’ location along Oldfield Lane does mean that proposed housing will not
therefore be overly conspicuous from the wider area and the use of an allocated
housing site will ensure that the Development Plan is properly implemented so as
not to undermine the overarching Green Belt policies that protect areas of land
within the wider area. With regard to design (iv), this would be assessed at the
Reserve Matters stage. In terms of construction (v) it is understood that the
development could be started immediately, once approval for Reserve matters was
granted. The impacts with regard to nature conservation (vi) and flood risk (vii) have
been fully considered and are addressed in the report below but none of these
issues are considered to preclude development commencing in accordance with
Spatial Policy 6.

51.

Spatial Policy 7 considers the distribution of housing across the City and identifies
the provision of 5,675 dwellings (11% of the 51,952) within the Outer South West
area within which the application site lies. This application, if granted, would result in
a medium sized housing development in the short to medium term, which would
contribute to overall housing delivery across the City.

52.

With specific regard to the managed release of sites, Policy H1 of the Adopted Core
Strategy confirms that the LDF Allocations Documents will phase the release of
allocations. This is to ensure sufficiency of supply, geographical distribution in
accordance with Spatial Policy 7, and the achievement of a previously development
land target of 65% for the first five years and 55% thereafter and the following five
criteria:
i. Location in regeneration areas,
ii. Locations which have the best public transport accessibility,
iii. Locations with the best accessibility to local services,
iv. Locations with least impact on Green Belt objectives,
v. Sites with least negative and most positive impacts on existing and proposed
green infrastructure, green corridors, green space and nature conservation.

53.

Policy H1 seek to ensure that housing areas are in sustainable locations, are
managed and phased in a timely manner consistent with the spatial priorities of the
Page 74

Plan, provide an appropriate balance of brownfield and Greenfield sites, make best
use of current and planned infrastructure and those sites that are sequentially less
preferable are released only when needed. This is consistent with the objectives of
the NPPF including the need to meet objectively assessed needs for market and
affordable housing, identify and maintain a supply of 5 years’ worth of deliverable
sites and identify a supply of specific developable sites over the Plan period.
54.

As outlined above, the proposal will have a limited impact upon the wider green
infrastructure and the open green land north of the site. This is considered to be the
case given the location of the site and the developments main back drop being the
residential estates to the east, south and west of the site. It is considered that the
development would be able to achieve a biodiversity net gain with specific regard to
boundary treatments, new tree planting, on site Greenspace and the potential for a
‘green link’ through the site. These points can be conditioned to be fully considered
at the Reserve Matters stage.

55.

With regard to H1 above, with mitigation measures secured through conditions the
proposal is not considered to compromise the surrounding green infrastructure, and
is highly sustainable and accessible. It is also noted, and reiterated here, that these
views reflect the adoption of the sites within the SAP.

56.

Refusals on allocated sites in an adopted plan could undermine the Plan-led system
and may negatively impact on the Council’s ability to demonstrate a five year
housing land supply, in the long-term. The SAP has provided evidence that the
application site is more sustainable than other discounted sites within the Outer
South West HMCA. Development such as this is the mechanism for delivery to
provide the required infrastructure that would improve the sustainability and
accessibility in the locality. The SAP allocations and identified sites have been
cumulatively assessed to ensure that appropriate infrastructure can be provided
where this is within the power of the Council. It also provides clarity on how much
growth is planned to occur in different areas so that infrastructure providers, for their
own investment plans working closely with the Council, may provide for the housing
pipeline.

57.

It is recognised that Sport England have objected to the proposal on the grounds of
the loss of a playing field. However, they acknowledge that as the site has not been
formally used as a playing pitch for in excess of 10 years, they are not a statutory
consultee. The application site is a previously undeveloped Greenfield site that is
now allocated for housing within the adopted SAP and therefore has no Greenspace
or playing pitch designation. Within their comments, Sport England state that the
application should be assessed against Paragraph 97 of the NPPF which relates to
development on existing sports provision including playing pitches. Whilst officers
recognise that the last known use of this site was as a sports pitch, the allocation of
the site for housing within the adopted SAP means that the site can no longer be
considered as an existing open space or sports provision and therefore the
application does not need to be assessed against paragraph 97 of the NPPF.

58.

More recently, there has been activity on the site by members of the community in
order to try and bring the site back into its former use as a sports ground – for
example, by maintaining the land and holding some local sporting events and
fundraising activities on it. In planning terms, this does not alter the allocation of the
site for housing within the adopted SAP, which was robustly assessed by way of a
public enquiry. Furthermore, within a number of the objections received questions
have been raised regarding the SAP process of allocating this site for housing (from
Page 75

its previous allocation of Greenspace) However, the SAP Inspector considered this
to be sound stating:
‘The overall process represents a sound approach to identifying those sites
considered to represent the best and most sustainable choice for
development in each HMCA to contribute to the target requirement.’
We can take from the above statement that the Inspectors have found the site HG284 as one of the best and most sustainable choices for development within the Outer
West HMCA to meet the area’s housing need when taking into account all other
matters which includes Greenspace provision within the ward.
59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

Further to the above in 58, there have been three applications from the public for the
Council to list the site as an Asset of Community Value (ACV), which have been
refused due to the nature / origin of the application(s) received and as the site does
not satisfy the necessary criteria for ACV registration – in that its main use has not
recently been or is presently (and could continue to be in the future) to further the
social wellbeing or social interests of the local community. In any event, a successful
ACV listing relates to the local community then being informed if there is a sale of
the land in future and enacting a Community Right to Bid, rather than relating to
potential development of land per se. This is for member’s information only and is
not a material consideration in the assessment of this application.
Local services
With regard to healthcare infrastructure (including Doctor and Dentist services) the
provision of healthcare facilities falls within the remit of NHS England and - at a local
level - Leeds’ three Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Existing practices
determine for themselves (as independent businesses) whether to recruit additional
clinicians in the event of their practice registered list growing. Practices can also
consider other means to deal with increased patient numbers, including increasing
surgery hours but it is for individual practices to determine how they run their
business. Practices consult with the NHS about funding for expansion albeit that
funding is limited.
With regard to education provision, the SAP process considered whether
contributions towards additional education provision were necessary in respect of
development of this allocated site. Accordingly, it was concluded during the SAP
examination that no education contributions were required / arose specifically as a
consequence of development at this location.
Highways/access
The proposal seeks consent for a new access off Oldfield Lane details of which
have been provided on the submitted plan. The highways officer raises no objection
to this access and the required visibility splays (based on speed surveys) can be
achieved in both directions as has been shown on Proposed Site Plan ref: PL-021
P2. Highways have advised that pedestrian dropped crossings (incorporating tactile
paving) will be required within the existing footway at the site entrance and this can
be incorporated within a subsequent Reserved Matters application.
As this is an Outline application where only access into the development is sought,
no internal access arrangements have been shown and therefore any future
proposal setting out the internal layout should be in accordance with advice
provided in the Draft Transport SPD. Typically this would include a combination of
Type 2: Local Residential Street and Type 3: Shared Spaces Streets. In addition,
any subsequent Reserved Matters application will need to include vehicle swept
Page 76

path details demonstrating turning manoeuvres for an 11.5m x 2.5m refuse vehicle
within the site. Bin stores for each dwelling will also need to be shown, alongside
other more general servicing arrangements
64.

In terms of accessibility, the site is considered to be in a highly sustainable location.
Local Services – the site is within a 10 minute walk to local services
Employment – the site is within a 5 minute walking distance to a bus stop offering a
15 minute frequency service to a major transport interchange
Town & Cite Centres – the site is within a 5 minute walking distance to a bus stop
offering a direct 15 minute frequency service to a town or city centre
Primary Education – The site is within a 20 minute walking distance of a local
primary school
Secondary Education – the site is within a 20 minute walking distance of a local
secondary school
Health – The site is within a 20 minute walking distance of a health facility
The site therefore fully meets the Core Strategy Accessibility Standards and is
acceptable in this regard.

65.

A Transport Statement has been submitted to demonstrate the likely traffic impact of
residential development on this site. At this stage the number of units is not known,
however for the purpose of this exercise a maximum of 50 dwellings has been used.
Given that the site is in a sustainable location average vehicle trips rates have been
calculated using TRICS. This shows that the proposal would result in:
9 Arrivals and 20 Departures (total 29 two-way movements) in the AM peak
16 Arrivals and 11 Departures (total 27 two-way movements) in the PM peak.
This would equate to 1 additional vehicle movement approximately every 2 minutes
in both peak periods. In order to provide a robust assessment, and as a sensitivity
test, further trips have been calculated using 85% trip rates i.e. higher values than
those that are not normally applied to sustainable sites, and this shows that the
proposal would result in:
16 Arrivals and 20 Departures (total 36 two-way movements) in the AM peak
23 Arrivals and 15 Departures (total 38 two-way movements) in the PM peak.
This would equate to 1 vehicle movement approximately every 1.6 minutes in both
peak periods. Neither of the above assessments raise any undue highway safety
concerns.

66.

67.

Any subsequent Reserved Matters application will need to ensure that parking is
provided in accordance with the requirements set out in the draft Transport SPD
which will include any visitor parking. Matters relating to cycle storage and Electric
Vehicle Charging points will be conditioned as part of this Outline application.
Highways have recommended conditions are imposed which relate to construction
methods, maximum gradients of driveways etc. all of which will be imposed on the
approval of the application. It is considered that the proposal does fully comply with
the policy guidance of T2.
Trees/landscaping
The majority of the trees within the site are located around the site perimeters. The
application has been supported by a full Tree Survey, which has revealed a total of
20 individual trees and 4 groups of trees. Of these, eighteen trees/groups are
classed as category B and six are category C. The retention of existing trees that
Page 77

are in good health, will be a major objective that will inform the design layout. From
the submitted information, the majority of site trees appear to be retained, though
there will be some, very limited, tree loss around the site entrance in order to get the
required visibility splays. Any replacement trees will be replaced on a 3:1 basis in
line with current Policy LAND2. The retention and protection of the trees on site will
be conditioned on the approval of the application to ensure they are retained, and
incorporated into the emerging Reserve Matters plans.
68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

Ecology & net gain
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) which
gives details of the ecological value of the site along with any potential bats or other
wildlife within the site. Surveys were carried out between April and September 2020.
It found that the site has a low value for habitat features (containing scattered trees,
areas of scrub and semi-improved grassland. Japanese knotweed has been
recorded in the north eastern part of the site which can be controlled and removed
through a condition. Bat surveys were also undertaken on the building and trees
with no evidence of bats roosting within these features. It is therefore considered
that there would be no adverse impacts upon any ecological features within the site
from the development proposal.
With specific regard to net gain, a baseline biodiversity value has been calculated
for the site which is 5.16. In order to achieve a 10% ‘net gain’ which is a Council
aspiration rather than adopted policy, any resultant development will need to
achieve 5.68 biodiversity units. Any subsequent Reserved Matters application will be
accompanied by an assessment of the proposed change in biodiversity units as this
will show the proposed layout and how the new gain will be achieved. A condition
will be attached to relating to net gain. Officers therefore consider that there will be
no detrimental impacts from the proposal upon ecological matters.
Drainage
The site falls north to south at approx. 1 in 20 and there is an existing combined
Yorkshire water sewer which traverses the central part of the site and drains to the
east. The Flood Risk & Outline Drainage Strategy submitted to support the
application has identified that the site is within Flood Zone 1 and that there are no
key flood issues which require mitigation.
In respect to surface water drainage, it is proposed to attenuate the flows on site by
means of a below ground attenuation tank with a discharge to the combined sewer
at 3.5 l/s. The Drainage Strategy identifies that the existing 375mm diameter
combined sewer will require diverting and thus should be agreed with Yorkshire
Water. The report also states that permeable paving will be utilised within the
parking areas with the basal stone layer being lined and the run off discharging into
the surface water drainage system and attenuation system. The Councils Flood Risk
Management accept the overall drainage strategy and full design and SUDS
information shall be provided as part of the planning condition discharge application.
Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposal complies with DPD policies
WATER4, WATER6, and WATER7.
Other matters
Contaminated Land – Due to previous land uses as well as historic coal mining in
the area, further ground investigation and remediation is required. The submitted
reports makes appropriate recommendations for carrying out intrusive ground
investigations. This is not an uncommon approach and conditions relating to the
undertaking of a Phase II survey (as per consultee requests) and subsequent
remediation of the site are recommended and would suitably address these matters.
Page 78

73.

Public Rights of Way - No public rights of way directly affect the application site.
However, desire lines do run through the site. As part of the site requirements, a
green link is proposed which will connect Oldfield Lane with the northern part of the
site which can potentially connect onto Public Footpath No.193 Leeds which runs to
the north of the application site. Given that there is a site requirement within the SAP
to provide a link from Oldfield Lane to the Greenspace to the north, this can be
secured through that. This connection would encourage safe and secure walking
routes, particularly in and around the local neighbourhood and to the local primary
school. This would help to promote and encourage more use of public rights of way
for local journeys.

74

Site requirements – Contained within the SAP allocation are a number of site
requirements, these include:
• Development should provide new Greenspace to extend the existing area of
Greenspace to the north
• Create a green link across the site from the Greenspace to Oldfield Lane
• Local improvements to existing greenspace facilities in the locality of the site
should be provided
• Detailed design layout should have regard to a gas pipline close to the site

75

With regard to the third bullet point, the applicant has made some tentative enquiries
regarding where within the local area improvements can be made. This included:
• consultation with the public as part of the pre-planning consultation
excircise regarding the potential for local improvements
• consultation with Ward Members and, subject to planning approval, this
will continue
• Consultation with colleagues in Parks & Countryside where a number of
potential suggestions were made including upgrades to the nearby Worley
Recreation Ground
• Other opportunies are currently being explored, spearhead by colleagues
in Parks & Countryside to work with local sports clubs to improve sports
facilities in the area
Officers consider that this is an acceptable way forward in order to ensure that the
development will provide good quality Greenspace improvements in the local area.
The remaining bullet points can be incorporated within any Reserved Matters
application.

76.

Representations
The majority of the material planning comments received have been covered within
the report, further comments are dealt with below:
Greenfield sites should never be built on
Response – Whilst there is a “brownfield first” approach to development, this does
not preclude developments on Greenfield sites and in any event, this site is
allocated for housing within the SAP.
Council have already withdrawn 37 Greenbelt sites, why?
Response – Given that this site was not previously Greenbelt this is not relevant to
the assessment of this application
The application doesn’t comply with Policy H4 as it would not provide a mix of
tenures
Page 79

Response – Given that this application is in Outline only, details regarding the
housing mix is not yet agreed. Any approval will have a condition attached regarding
housing mix
If developed, it would be better to improve existing green space rather than creating
new green space on site
Response – The scheme will provide on-site Greenspace in accordance with policy
as well as improvements made to existing Greenspace in the locality as part of the
site requirement within the SAP.
LCC managed park lands are unsafe and poorly maintained
Response – This application would help to enhance existing Greenspace within the
locality as part of the site requirement within the SAP.
Increase in pollution
Response – Conditions will be attached to any approval to ensure that the proposal
would comply with LCC Policies relating to sustainable developments (EN Policies)
Application provides insufficient detail for an Outline Application
Response – The application provides the required level of detail for an Outline
Application as set out within the relevant planning legislation including the maximum
number of units (61). All matters (except for access) are reserved and therefore will
be assessed within a subsequent Reserved Matters application
Certificate B has been signed indicating that LSSA are the only owners of the site
Response – Certificate B has been signed however, it does not indicate that there
is only 1 owner of the land. The Government Guidance on this states: “Certificate B
– Shared Ownership (All other owners/agricultural tenants known) - This should be
completed if the applicant is not the sole owner, or if there are agricultural tenants,
and the applicant knows the names and addresses of all the other owners and/or
agricultural tenants. It is therefore correct that Certificate B has been completed
•

How can LCC determine their own application? This is a blatant conflict of interest
Response – Government guidance is clear on this:
“Local authorities may grant themselves planning permission for their own
development on land in which they have an interest or for development by an
authority jointly with another person. The proposals must be publicised in the same
way as any similar application from any other applicant and they cannot be decided
by a committee or officer responsible for the management of any land or buildings to
which the application relates. Local authority development proposals, like those of
other persons applying for planning permission, must be determined in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise”
It is therefore considered there would be no conflict of interest.
Conclusion

77.

As discussed above, the principle of the development for housing on this site is
supported by the up to date Local Plan and the adopted SAP. That the proposal is in
accordance with the existing site allocations should be afforded very significant
weight in consideration and determination of the application.
Page 80

78.

The development will provide an acceptable quantum of housing in line with the
SAP allocation, with a safe and adequate means of access. It is considered that the
principle of developing the site for residential purposes is acceptable in terms of all
local and national planning policies subject to the imposition of conditions. With
consideration being given to all other matters, the application is recommended for
approval.

79.

In conclusion, taking into account all relevant factors and with consideration being
given to all other matters including representations both for and against the
development, the application is recommended for approval.

Background Papers
Planning Application file 20/08124/OT
Certificate of Ownership: Certificate B

Page 81

15

R IT

W

27

GR

18

RO

HA

AD

IE

LD

TE
RR

16

55

63.7m

37

AC

20

E

31

29

7

22

MP
0

e
ag
Co
tt
Am
be
r

26

10

1

2

RLEY

8

RE ED

E

ES BU

RY PL

ACE

1
4

1

11

E

2

9

15

29

8

6

12

8b 8a

8

9

7

3

1a

1

29
27

55

9

71

2

HFI E

117

135
14 3

13 7

2

67 .1

10

m

22

27

22

10

9

1

7

5

14

28

6

Garage

LB

25

5

2

20
24

28

29

17

15
36

LD

13

27
32

52

22

33

45

38

El Sub Sta

2

RO AD

40

RO W

28
59

RT
O
W

ER

29

38

14

34

HA RD

16

OW

47

47

Lodge

RO W

47 a

35

35

AD
RTH RO

21

KE NILWO

83.8m

HA RD

74.4m

AD

LE
Y

RO

EY RO

AD

31

ield
Hig hf
rt
Cou

NS
RDE
GA

25

13

EN
WAV

Allotment Gardens

37

ield
Hig hf dist
Metho h
rc
Chu

E
HFI
HIG

11

33

81.4m

82.0m

30

11

80.5m

38

15

11

17
19

125

17

2

15

CENT
CRES

1
4

IE LD

UE
VEN

11

HIG HF

LD A

Shelter

10

11

25

11
15

57

HIG

1

49

1

21

9

1

D LANE

14

5

5
7

1

2

OLDFIEL

1
33
a

11

1

20

5

3

11 a

2

UE
D AVEN

12

Shelter

65.5m

PH

69.5m

Garage

22

24

22

2

OLDFIEL

20
1

4

9

OSE

22
24

15

1

RY CL

26
28

REET

28

26

ES BU

30
32

NE ST

61.9m

14 6

TCB

8

DO W

Shelter

Mast

PH

75.6m

NE

LANS

98

ESS

14

RLEY
AM BE
ENS
GARD

90

71.6m

2a

3

LB

134

2b

1

MA LM

23

D
DENS
KITS ON GAR

2

1

Car Park

2

RO A
2

14

21

Y
LE

10

Shelter

11

REET

5
7

CLOS E

KITSON

EN
S

LA
N HILL

RY ST

2

2

GREE

ES BU

12

RT

MA LM

10

18

22

46

23

21

22

WO

RD

STREET

RRAC
RY TE

R
PE

10

GA

TO F T

12

ES BU

UP
20

73.2m

ON

BA CK

2

3

2
30

MA LM

OVE

ET
STRE

15
14

20

28

RY GR

STREET

40

ES BU

RLEY

61.9m

TO FT

AM BE

MA LM

NS

CK

41 43

8

MA LM

74.4m

BE

IS TO

2

12

26

TAV

42

20/08124/OT

1

52

ET
STRE

ROAD

3

IE LD

El
Sub Sta

AC
YN PL
EV EL

OLDF

5

Five Lanes
Primary School

2

64

Warehouse

65

61.3m

57

ST
R

3

Factory

RO AD

7

1

74

AM BE

11

10

1

EW
AY
OK
BR
AD

15

15

22

14

11

CH EL

8

El Sub Sta

1

28

OSE
SE A CL

43
a

RIS
E

15

D

6

17

A

Depot
4

2

TE

Warehouse

Works

10

XS

Y
RE

S
W
ME

16

SA

67

2

23

12

N
DE

.7 5

71

17

18

6 to

YF

to

49

57

18 to 32

12

66.1m

Bd
y

37

39

ad

C

19

Ro

ND

44

od

LA

36

wo

2

26

25

gs

Wa
rd

RT

26

Kin

PO

Un it

29

26

17

El Sub Sta

SL

OV
E

GO

OD

H

Y ST
REE
T

PE
N

PE R
C

D

IN

AD

OA

69

25 a

AD

25

MR

RO

HA

14

RO

RE

20

19

9
11

28

1

2

SH
O
3

26

52

45

44

55

IE LD
UE
AVEN

36
27a

a
32

62

54

32

69

HIG HF

37

25

27

St Jo hn's Church

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 82

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/2500

°

RO AD

MEW
S

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Originator:
Tel:

Susie Watson
0113 378 7972

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
SOUTH & WEST PLANS PANEL
Date: 4th March 2021
Subject: Applications 20/01306/FU & 20/01307/LI – Change of use and alterations of
former council building to form eight flats with parking at Micklefield House, New
Road Side, Rawdon
APPLICANT
Nicholas & Nicholas Limited

DATE VALID
27/02/2020

TARGET DATE
23/04/2020

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Guiseley & Rawdon

Equality and Diversity
Community Cohesion

Yes

Ward Members consulted

Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISION subject to the following conditions:
1. Time limit on full permission
2. Development in line with approved plans
3. Samples of materials for extension
4. Materials for new front steps (including handrails)
5. Details of new windows
6. Details of new doors (internal and external)
7. Scheme for stained glass window restoration / replacement
8. Details and materials for east chimney
9. Samples of surfacing materials
10. Samples of new stone mullions, heads and sills
11. Sample of stonework to infill existing openings
12. Details of boundary treatments
13. Scheme detail repairs following removal of ramps (front and rear)
14. Construction details of extension, including balustrade
15. Bin store details
16. Bike store details
17. Rainwater goods and vent details
Page 85

18. Requirement for stone cleaning and repointing to be agreed
19. Vehicles spaces to be laid out
20. Details of electric charging points
21. Landscaping scheme
22. Protection of existing trees during construction
23. Future residents will not be eligible for permit parking zones.
24. Unexpected contamination
25. Details of imported soil
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT LISTED BUILDING CONSENT subject to the following
conditions:
1. Time limit on full permission
2. Development in line with approved plans
3. Samples of materials for extension
4. Materials for new front steps (including handrails)
5. Details of new windows
6. Details of new doors (internal and external)
7. Scheme for stained glass window restoration / replacement
8. Details and materials for east chimney
9. Samples of surfacing materials
10. Samples of new stone mullions, heads and sills
11. Sample of stonework to infill existing openings
12. Details of boundary treatments
13. Scheme detail repairs following removal of ramps (front and rear)
14. Construction details of extension, including balustrade
15. Rainwater goods and vent details
16. Requirement for stone cleaning and repointing to be agreed
17. Revised internal door schedule
18. Revised ceiling schedule
19. Revised skirting schedule
20. Revised fixtures and fittings schedule
21. Details of servicing and venting of kitchens and bathrooms
22. Details of sound insulation, fireproofing and thermal upgrades
23. Details of new attic stair
24. Details of changes to historic tower stair
INTRODUCTION:
1.

In response to consultation, Councillor Paul Wadsworth has requested that this
application be determined by plans panel due to concerns expressed by constituents
that have wider than local impact. Given the proposal is controversial with some
residents and these concerns are based on material planning considerations, the
request meets the test set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegation and it is therefore
appropriate to report the application to Panel for determination. Members are also
reminded that as two applications are under consideration, two decisions have to be
made, one for each application.
PROPOSAL:

2.

The proposal is for the conversion of the property known as Micklefield House to 8
apartments.

3.

All of the flats have 2 bedrooms with the exception of flat 1, which has 3. The
basement, which is currently unused, will be converted to habitable accommodation
Page 86

providing a single 2 bedroom flat as well as accommodation for 2 other flats that have
accommodation over 2 floors.
4.

A first floor extension is proposed above an existing flat roof extension located at the
North West corner of the building and a strip of existing grassland within the park will
be incorporated into the site to enable the provision of sufficient car parking to the
front of the building.

5.

The building is currently owned by the Council but is being sold off as a Capital Receipt
site and should provide a significant saving for, and payment to, the Council.
SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

6.

7.

The property is a large detached stone villa located on the edge of Micklefield Park. It
dates from 1847 with a large extension in 1872, as well a further later additions and
alterations. The property is a Grade II listed building. It was listed in 2016 for the
following reasons.
•

“Architectural interest: it is an imposing and distinguished 1840s house, enlarged
in the 1870s, with a strikingly individual Gothic design combining steeply pitched
shaped gables, a crenelated tower, mullion and transomed and traceried windows,
and carved stonework”.

•

“Interior quality and survival: the interior maintains stylistic continuity with the
Gothic exterior and although it has undergone some alteration, many original
features survive, including an imposing Baronial-style first-floor ballroom, richly
moulded cornicing, painted-glass windows, and fireplaces from both of the
house's C19 phases”.

•

“Historic interest: it has strong historic interest through its links to eminent local
families, including John Venimore Godwin who was Mayor of Bradford whilst living
at Micklefield House, and Thomas Arton, a Bradford ‘Stuff Merchant’ (a person
manufacturing cloth to make clothing) who added the 1872 extension, and whose
initials, along with those of his wife Hannah, adorn the building externally and
internally”.

The property lies in an area containing a mix of uses and is close to the Rawdon
local centre. It is within the Rawdon Littlemoor Conservation Area.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

8.

PREAPP/19/00263 conversion of former Council building to 8 apartments. The
advice given concluded that the proposed development is supported in principle
subject to appropriate detailing and provided that a layout that retains as much of the
existing plan form and as many historic fixtures and fittings as possible can be agreed.

9.

28/19/98/FU - application by Leeds City Council for a single storey rear extension –
approved May 1998.

10.

28/174/94/FU – application by Leeds City Council for the laying out of an enlarged
car park to offices and Public Park – approved November 1994.
HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:
Page 87

11.

There have been discussions to seek some relatively minor design changes to the
design of the extension and internal layout and to seek clarification of works to the
listed building.
PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

12.

Both applications were been publicised by a site notice which was erected on the
12th of March 2020 and expired on the 2nd of April 2020 and in the Yorkshire evening
post on the 11th of March 2020, expiry 3rd of April 2020.

13.

Aireborough Civic Society support the proposals to convert the building to apartments
stating it is one of the most important buildings in Aireborough given the quality of its
architecture and its history. They also believe the Heritage & Works Schedules
indicate that care and attention have been exercised. However, they consider the
proposed extension will have a negative impact on the house and the vandalised
stained glass window should be restored.

14.

31 letters of objection have been received from primarily local residents. The main
objections are to the design of the proposed extension with many of the contributors
supporting the principal of the conversion to residential. The concerns raised are
summarised as follows:
-

Design of and materials for extension inappropriate and will detract from
appearance of house, park and conservation area.
Extension too large. Development should be confined to existing footprint.
Existing 20th century addition should be demolished.
Additional parkland should not be gifted to the developer for car parking.
No details of fencing around car park
There should be no sandblasting.
Existing stained glass windows have been damaged. These should be replaced.
Existing public recycling bins are overflowing and need to be relocated.
The removal of the existing ramps into the building is not acceptable and the
Council’s Access Officer has objected on these grounds.

It should be noted that all these comments were received in response to the original
plans. No comments have been received since the plans were revised in September
2020.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
15.

Historic England state that they do not wish to comment and the views of the Council’s
specialist conservation advisor should be sought.

16.

Leeds Civic Trust support the principal of the conversion but objects to the proposed
extension due to its design, materials and location. They also have concerns about
some of the internal works including the removal and relocation of doors (re-siting
locations should be provided); the replacement of damaged skirtings’ (should be
restored); and the loss of the stained glass window due to vandalism (should be
restored).

17.

Rawdon Parish Council supports the principal of the applications but objects to the
nature and location of the proposed extension, which they consider would be
detrimental to the listed building, park and conservation area. This element would be
contrary to Policy R6 in the emerging Rawdon Neighbourhood Plan which seeks to
Page 88

protect and enhance historic assets. They also state that the vandalised stained glass
windows should be restored.
18.

Highways has no objections subject to conditions relating to provision of cycle
facilities, bin storage and electric charging points and the laying out of vehicle spaces.

19.

Environmental studies advise that whilst air quality is not a concern there is a need for
consideration to be given to acoustic glazing and a ventilation system to prevent the
harmful effects of noise from the A65.

20.

Contaminated land – conditional approval (Phase 1 Desk Study required).

21.

Flood Risk Management – no objections; design and construction is covered by
Building Regulations.
PLANNING POLICIES:

22.

Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan

23.

The development plan for Leeds is comprised of the adopted Core Strategy as
amended (2019), saved policies from the Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review
2006) (UDP), Site Allocations Plan (2019) the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan
(2017) and the Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (2015) and any made
Neighbourhood Plans.
Relevant Core Strategy Policies are:

24.

H2 – new housing on unallocated sites
H4 – sets out the preferred housing mix for new development.
H9 - minimum internal space standards for dwellings
P10 – need for good design
P11 - requires conservation and enhancement of the historic environment
P12 – townscapes and landscapes to be conserved and enhanced
T2 - accessibility and safety requirements for new development
EN1 relates to climate change and carbon dioxide reduction
EN2 relates to sustainable design and construction
EN8 - requires electric vehicle charging points for all new dwellings
Relevant Saved Policies from the UDP are:

25.

GP5 - general planning considerations.
N15 - supports the change of use of listed buildings
N17 – requires detailing and features of listed buildings to be preserved, repaired or
replaced
N19 - conservation areas to be preserved or enhanced.
N23 - provision of visually attractive settings to developments
N25 - boundaries to be designed in a positive manner
T24 - parking provision requirements.
BD6 - alterations and extensions to original building
LD1 - protection of vegetation
Page 89

Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan
26.

GENERAL POLICY1 – presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Documents

27.

The following SPGs and SPDs are relevant:
-

28.

SPG13 – Neighbourhoods for Living: A Guide for Residential Design in Leeds
Street Design Guide SPD
Parking SPD
Rawdon Littlemoor Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan
Emerging Rawdon Neighbourhood Plan (the pre-submission Plan is currently in
preparation)

National Planning Policy
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published in 2019 sets out the
Government’s planning policies and contains policies on a range of issues including
housing, sustainable development, green belt, conservation, the local economy and
design.

29.

One of the key principles at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development (this is set out in section 2 of the document).

30.

The NPPF also aims to boost significantly the supply of housing and deliver a wide
choice of high quality homes (section 5).

31.

In respect of listed buildings (‘heritage asset’) the NPPF discusses these in section
16 and states (at paragraph 193) that “when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should
be given to the asset’s conservation.” As heritage assets are irreplaceable, “any harm
or loss should require clear and convincing justification” (paragraph 194).

32.

In respect of design, paragraph 124 states that “the creation of high quality buildings
and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to
communities.” At paragraph 130 it states that “permission should be refused for
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions”.

33.

Guidance on ‘Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard’ was
adopted in March 2015. This sets out minimum gross internal floor area requirements
for residential developments.

34.

35.

Legislation
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states
that when considering whether to grant planning permission for development which
affects a listed building or its setting, the Local Planning Authority shall have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states
that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area
of any functions under the Planning Acts, that special attention shall be had to the
Page 90

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.
MAIN ISSUES:
•
•
•
•
•

Principle
Impact on listed building / visual amenity
Residential / neighbouring amenity
Highway safety / parking
Representations

APPRAISAL:
Principle
36.

The re-development of this site for housing is considered to be acceptable in principle
as set out in Policy H2 of the Core Strategy and the proposal will provide a long-term,
positive and beneficial use for this important listed building. Such a proposal also
addresses ongoing maintenance issues and will help contribute to the vitality and
viability of the locality.
Impact on the listed building / visual amenity

37.

However, given the listed nature of the building any proposals will need to respect the
special character of the building, as well as preserve or enhance the character of the
conservation area.

38.

It should be noted that since this application was submitted, amendments and
additional information have been sought to ensure that the works to be carried out are
as sympathetic as possible to the listed building. The scheme now recommended for
approval is considered acceptable in relation to the desirability to preserve or enhance
the setting or character of the listed building and indeed the character and appearance
of the wider conservation area. The works required have been sensitively considered
and will ensure that the building is brought back into use without resulting in a loss of
character.

39.

Changes to the external facades are generally kept to a minimum. On the front (south)
elevation, an existing boarded up window will be opened up and new stone mullions
introduced to it, in keeping with the character of other windows. The only main change
to this elevation is the removal of the existing concrete ramp and steps providing
access into the main entrance which were not part of the original property. This will
be of significant benefit to the appearance of the property as this currently detracts
from its historic character. A small flight of stone steps, as existed originally, will be
constructed to provide access into the building. Samples of materials will need to be
agreed, as will details of any repairs required following removal of the ramp. As this
is acceptable in principle these matters can be conditioned.

40.

The most significant changes to the elevations take place on the west elevation which,
along with the front / south elevation, faces onto the public park. The main change is
that the land immediately in front of the building will be excavated to allow the creation
of a basement flat with its own individual entrance and full height windows level with
the adjacent outside space, which will also provide a small courtyard garden for the
flat. A small flight of steps will provide access down to this flat. Whilst the top of the
windows to be installed will be visible in views from the park, these will be largely
screened by the existing terrace wall, which is retained as existing and forms the
Page 91

boundary of the site. Railings are to be added to the top of the wall for security reasons
and to prevent anyone falling off the wall into the application site. The other main
changes to this elevation include alterations to an existing flat roofed extension and
the addition of an extension above this. These alterations and the extension are
discussed in more detail below.
41.

The extension referred to in relation to the west elevation is also present on the north
elevation, again it should be noted that this is discussed in detail below. A number of
other relatively minor changes are also proposed on the north elevation. An existing
bike store (stand-alone structure with a corrugated metal roof) will be removed and
the steps into the tower element will be re-orientated to allow the provision of 2 parking
spaces. An existing concrete ramp and modern entrance porch will also be removed
from this elevation. Replacement conservation style roof lights will be added to the
roof of the 1990s extensions and the existing 2 windows in this element will be
replaced with stone mullion openings. An additional stone mullion window will also be
added to it. 2 roof lights will also be added to the main roof of the building to serve
the proposed attic accommodation. In the single storey side element of this elevation
the existing door and window will be incorporated into one large opening with bi-fold
doors. Levels in this area will be altered slightly to enable level access into/out of the
building.

42.

On the north elevation is the opening for a large stained glass set of windows. Since
the building was vacated by the Council during the first Covid-19 lockdown, acts of
vandalism to the building have taken place including to this window/glazing, which has
been destroyed. This has, in part, been the reason for the delay in dealing with the
applications as reports and costings have been necessary to enable the applicant to
decide how to progress. It is the view of Officers that this window needs to be restored
but this has serious cost implications for the scheme. It is considered that a scheme
to restore this window can be conditioned. The works to be carried out will need to be
done prior to the occupation of any of the proposed apartments.

43.

On the east elevation 2 new stone mullion window openings will be added, one in the
side of the 1990s extension and the other in the single storey element adjacent to the
tower.

44.

All existing windows are proposed to be replaced. This is considered to be acceptable
as the existing windows are in a poor condition and are largely inappropriate
replacements. Full details of the proposed window frames (depth of frame and
glazing, materials, colour, profile etc.) are to be conditioned. Replacement of all
windows in this way will ensure a comprehensive approach which will benefit the
character of the building and will enhance its appearance. Evidence also suggests
that the original windows are likely to have been timber.

45.

A few changes are required to the glazing patterns in some of the windows and the
one of the new windows to the basement needs to be relocated very slightly. These
changes are very minor and can be dealt with via the condition for window details.

46.

A significant benefit of the scheme is that the east chimney is to be reinstated. This
is a welcomed enhancement and a condition is recommended to ensure the detail and
materials are correct.

47.

External boiler vents have been kept to minimum and are shown on the elevation
drawings. However, no details of the bathroom and kitchen vents have been provided.
These have been requested but if not received it is considered that they can be
conditioned.
Page 92

48.

As mentioned above, the proposals also include alterations to the existing flat roof
extension on the west and north elevation and the addition of an extension above this.
This element probably dates from the early 1900s and it is believed to have had a
conservatory style structure on top of it (in the location of the proposed extension).
The extension will provide a bedroom to apartment 1 (a three bedroom apartment).

49.

The alterations to the existing extension involve the blocking up (with stonework) of
the existing basement openings and the replacement of the existing ground floor
windows. This is acceptable in principal but there are some concerns with regard to
the glazing bar pattern in the new windows shown on the elevation drawings.
However, this can be resolved by the submission of revised details which can be
conditioned. This is also the case for the replacement windows in the west elevation
of this element.

50.

The part of the application that has raised concern for some local residents (all those
who have submitted written objections) is the proposed first floor extension. The
concerns relate to the design and materials for this. The plans have been amended
since the original submission and it is accepted that the original proposal did appear
a bit like it was proposed to place a ‘Portakabin’ on the roof not only due to the design
but also the proposal to use standing seam metal cladding. However, it is considered
that, whilst the revised proposal will still be in stark contrast to the original building, it
will sit comfortably on it. The design has been amended slightly and the use of a
standing seam metal cladding omitted.

51.

Considerable consideration has been given to this element by Planning, Conservation
and Design Officers and a number of meetings have taken place to discuss the design
approach. In this respect it is considered that a modern approach is the most
appropriate due to the difficulties in getting stonework to match and the roof to work. It
is currently proposed that the curved west elevation will be mirrored and it is likely that
the side and rear elevations will be clad with a metallic cladding. It is unlikely that
anything ‘shiny’ and ‘bling’ would be appropriate and current thinking is copper.
However, any materials would need to be assessed on site against the existing
stonework. As it might be necessary to clean and or/repoint some of the stone work
a condition requiring the materials to be agreed on site prior to their use but once the
building has been appropriately cleaned/repointed, is recommended. A site meeting
would be held with Planning, Conservation and Design Officers and the developer to
agree the materials.

52.

Although prominently located in an elevated position, the extension is not overly large
when compared to the host building (it measures 5.7m wide by 5.7m-6.8m long by
3.7m high) and it is considered that it will remain a subservient feature. Its proportions
also work well not only with the main building but also the element on top of which it
is located. The full height vertical panel windows in the side elevation reflect the
vertical emphasis of the existing building, especially the adjacent tower feature and its
windows. Overall it is considered that the design of the extension gives a
contemporary but contextual response to the special character of the listed building.

53.

There is a need to provide car parking for the development but only a limited amount
of land is available with the property and most of the space available is immediately
to the front of the building. Whilst this is not ideal, there is already car parking in this
location and the proposals do move the area of hard standing away from the building
(albeit only slightly) to allow some soft landscaping to provide a buffer between the
building and the hard surfacing. A small area of additional land (current grass within
the park) is to be made available with the sale of the building. This additional land
Page 93

measures approximately 21m wide by 5.5m deep and given its size and the existing
setting it is not considered that its use as additional parking will have any significant
or additional impact on the setting of the listed building when compared to the existing
situation. A railing will be erected around this space. Full details of this and the
surfacing materials are to be conditioned. A tarmac surface is indicated on the
proposed site plan and whilst this is appropriate in principle it is considered the area
will need something to help break the expanse of surfacing up and the demarcation of
spaces will need to be more sensitively considered than painted white lines.
54.

As submitted, the proposals show a solid timber fence to the rear. This cannot be
accepted and the applicant has been advised that this is not appropriate to the
character of the building and cannot be justified. Railings are the appropriate form of
boundary treatment and where privacy is needed then this can be achieved with
planting.

55.

The site lies within the Rawdon Littlemoor Conservation Area. Section 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in the
exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area of any
functions under the Planning Acts, that special attention shall be had to the desirability
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

56.

The external alterations to the building / site have been discussed above. They are
considered to be sympathetic to the historic character and appearance of the listed
building and also to the setting and character and appearance of the conservation
area, which will be enhanced. It is therefore the view of Officers that the statutory
duties found in Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 have been met.

57.

The location of both bin and cycle stores are shown but full details are required as to
what these will look like. These matters can be conditioned.

58.

There are 2 trees within the site that could be affected by the proposals. One within
the car park (a Yew) and one immediately adjacent to the east elevation (a Sycamore).
These are protected by the conservation area designation. In order to ensure there is
no harm to them during the redevelopment works a condition is recommended to
ensure they are fully safeguarded. Car parking is proposed in the area of the Yew
tree but this area is already largely hard surfaced. However, to prevent any additional
harm a condition is recommended requiring details of how the surfacing will be carried
out in this area (e.g. any excavation to provide the new surface to be done by hand).
This is also the case for the construction of the proposed bin store which will be located
in the root protection area of the Sycamore.

59.

Concerns have been expressed by some members of the public about the cleaning of
the building / existing stonework and that this should not be allowed. The applicant
does not currently have any intentions to clean the building but in case this changes
a condition is recommended requiring a cleaning methodology to be agreed in writing
prior to any such works. This view might change when the condition of the existing
building is re-assessed when deciding how best to preserve the stonework for the
future (it is likely that some re-pointing will be necessary). Advice on this has been
sought from the Council’s Conservation Officer who has advised that stone cleaning
is not always harmful and can, in some cases, even be beneficial if appropriately
carried out.

60.

The house has an impressive historic interior with many surviving historic fixtures and
fittings including, but not restricted to, historic doors and architraves, encaustic tiled
Page 94

floors (ceramic tiles in which the pattern or figure on the surface is not a product of the
glaze but of different colours of clay), stained and etched glass windows, stair cases,
fireplaces and chimney breasts, skirting boards, window architraves and shutters,
cornices, ornate ceiling plasterwork, decorative archways, lanterns, historic radiators,
basement features (stone shelves and table etc.).
61.

Fixtures and fittings, door, skirting and ceiling schedules have been submitted and it
is intended to keep as many of these as possible and, where new / replacement
features are required (e.g. skirtings’, cornicing, stained glass windows) to replicate
those existing. Clarification is required on some of the detailing but this can be dealt
with via condition.

62.

A number of changes are proposed internally to enable the creation of the apartments.
Overall, these are considered to be minimal and do not have any significant or adverse
impact on the historic character of the building. One feature that would be lost is an
internal lantern window. Whilst this is unfortunate the layout of the building is not
conducive to keeping it and providing a viable scheme. In this respect it should be
noted that the glazing in the internal lantern window is not original.

63.

The reason for the loss of the internal lantern window is the need for a new staircase
to provide access to the attic accommodation instead of the existing service stairway,
which unfortunately is unsuitable due to the layout of the building. The existing
stairway will be blocked off and covered over and a ‘snug’ area created at what was
the top off it. The new staircase to the attic is acceptable in principle but elevation and
construction details are required to show how this will sit with the adjacent decorative
arch. This can be dealt with via condition.

64.

It is proposed to add a small mezzanine level within what was the originally a first floor
ballroom. Whilst this is acceptable in principle there are some issues with the
submitted details and how it will relate to existing windows and cornicing. A condition
is therefore recommended requiring revised details.

65.

With regard to the basement, this contains some historic features including stone
shelves and flagged floors. The current proposals remove these due to the need to
provide tanking and a desire to provide an open plan space. Whilst this can largely
be accepted it would be appropriate if an example of these could be retained to link
back to the history of the property e.g. stone flags at the bottom of the staircase and
one small shelving unit. A condition is therefore recommended requiring the
submission of a revised detail in this respect. Details of the proposed tanking materials
are also to be conditioned as is the method for cleaning the vaulted basement ceiling.

66.

Confirmation of where the servicing will go is currently awaited (it is assumed it is
assumed to be located horizontally between the floor voids) and also with regard to
sound insulation and fire protection between units and thermal upgrades. Some
insulation and protection is indicated between floors but it is how this will be treated
sideways/vertically that is required. If necessary this can be conditioned.

67.

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed works to convert this building
to residential use have been sensitively considered and are sympathetic to its historic
character and appearance. Overall, despite needing additional details in a number of
areas, the works are considered to be acceptable and there will be no significant or
harmful impact on its historic integrity despite adaptation for modern living / purposes.
It is considered that the works will be of benefit to the character and appearance of
the conservation area and will ensure the long term up keep of the building.
Page 95

68.

As such the proposals comply with polices GP5, BD6, N15, N17, N19, N23 and N25
of the UDP and policies P10, P11 and P12 of Leeds Core Strategy, as well as with the
guidance set out in the NPPF.
Residential/Neighbouring amenity.

69.

This application relates to the conversion of an existing building with a small extension.
It is considered that all the proposed apartments will benefit from adequate levels of
light and outlook and will therefore provide a good level of internal amenity for future
occupiers.

70.

In its Core Strategy Review, the Council has recently adopted Policy H9 which sets
out minimum space standards for new dwellings. This follows on from Government
guidance on space standards in March 2015. With regard to the accommodation
proposed, H9 sets out the following minimum gross internal floor area requirements
for the accommodation proposed:
•
•
•

For a one storey, two bedroom dwelling - 61m2 for 3 people, 70m2 for 4 people.
For a two storey, two bedroom dwelling – 70m2 for 3 people, 79m2 for 4 people
For a 3 storey, three bedroom dwelling – 90m2 for 4 people, 99m2 for 5 people,
108m2 for 6 people

The number of people relates to the number of bed spaces to be provided.
71.

All of the apartments are two-bedroom except apartment 1, which has 3 bedrooms. All
of them meet the minimum space standards for overall size. With regard to bedroom
sizes, all meet the minimum size for double bedrooms except for 3 bedrooms (within
apartments 1, 4 and 5). However, these still exceed the minimum requirement for a
single bedroom.

72.

Ordinarily it is expected that residential schemes provide external amenity space for
future residents. The size of such spaces should be ¼ of the gross floor area of the
flats. It is not possible to provide such a space for all future residents in this case given
that the area of land associated with the building is limited in size and cannot be enlarged
due to the historic setting and adjacent land ownership. Whilst only 4 of the apartments
will have access to some form of external amenity space this is not considered to be an
issue given the location of the building within an existing park. It is also considered that
any harm caused by the lack of such space will be outweighed by the benefits of bringing
the property back into use.

73.

The use by the building as 8 apartments is not considered to have any adverse impact
on neighbouring amenity given the location of the property in relation to its neighbours,
the distances between them and given the limited size of the scheme and that it will
replace an existing office use.

74.

Concerns have been expressed about the loss of the access ramp into the building and
the need to provide access for all. Part VI of Policy P10 of the core strategy states
that development should be accessible to all users. This is supported further by the
Accessible Leeds SPD. Part 4 of this document refers to planning application
expectations. Within it for change of use application it states “Change of Use: Applicants
should wherever possible incorporate improvements in terms of inclusive design and
access for disabled people. This is of particular importance if the proposed use will
involve members of the public accessing/ using the development.”
Page 96

75.

In this case, the only way to provide access for all would be to keep or re-install the
access ramp, which in its existing form is detrimental to the historic character of the
building. Furthermore, this would only enable level access into 2 of the 8 apartments
with all of the others requiring the use of stairs. Given the historic nature of the building
to provide lift access to all apartments would require a number of lifts and would be
seriously harmful to the historic fabric of the building. Bearing this in mind and given
that the SPD states “whenever possible schemes should incorporate improvements” it
is not considered reasonable to insist on a level access in this instance and the many
benefits of the scheme outweigh any harm from not have a wholly inclusive access.

76.

Concerns have also been expressed about the potential for noise disturbance from the
A65 for future occupiers. Despite the historic nature of the building it has been accepted
that double glazing can be provided within the new windows and this should go a
considerable way to improving the living environment within the building. Also, the
property is set back from the road and whilst it is a busy local distributor road, much of
if its traffic is in the daytime and evening noise should not raise any significant issues.

77.

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed works to convert this building to
residential use will provide a satisfactory living environment for future occupiers without
adversely impacting on neighbouring amenity. As such the proposals comply with policy
GP5 of the UDP and policies H9 and P10 of the Core Strategy.
Housing Mix

78.

Core Strategy Policy H4 states that developments should include a mix of dwelling types
and sizes to address housing needs and should meet the preferred housing mix set out
within Table H4. In this case, it is not possible to meet the preferred mix as the
development relates to an important historic building and there is a need to ensure that
as much of the original building and its plan form is retained as possible. The lack of
compliance with H4 is therefore considered appropriate in this instance.
Highway safety / parking

79.

The site lies in a sustainable location near to local services and amenities and with good
access to public transport. The building has been in use as offices for many years and
the change of use to 8 apartments is not considered to result in any intensification

80.

16 parking spaces are proposed (14 to the front of the site, 2 to the rear). These are all
to be served by electric vehicle charging points.

81.

An area for a cycle store to hold 8 bikes (1 space per apartment) is shown on the site
plan. This will need to be enclosed, covered and lockable and a condition is proposed
requiring full details to be submitted.

82.

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposals raise no road safety concerns.
As such the proposals comply with policy T2 of the Core Strategy.
Climate Emergency

83.

The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to the
UN’s report on Climate Change.

84.

The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate Change Act 2008, sets out that climate
mitigation and adaptation are central principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes clear
at paragraph 148 and footnote 48 that the planning system should help to shape places
Page 97

in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in line with
the objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008.
85.

As part of the Council’s Best Council Plan 2019/20 to 2020/21, the Council seeks to
promote a less wasteful, low carbon economy. The Council’s Development Plan
includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the
NPPF. These are material planning considerations in determining planning
applications.

86.

Leeds Core Strategy policies EN1 and EN2 relate to reducing carbon dioxide emissions
and sustainable design and construction. However, this is for schemes of 10 dwellings
or more. As these applications relate to the creation of 8 apartments these policies are
not applicable. However, EN8 is relevant to all developments and requires the provision
of electric vehicle charging points. The proposed site plan identifies these and as such
the proposals are acceptable in this respect.
Representations

87.

It is considered that the key matters raised in the submitted representations have been
addressed in the above appraisal. 2 issues that have not been discussed are those
relating to the demolition of the existing flat roofed extension and the overflowing
recycling bins.

88.

Whilst not entirely suited to the host property, the existing flat roof extension is existing
development. To remove this would add significantly to the costs of any development
and would render the scheme financially unviable and / or significantly reduce the sale
value of the property. In the interests of ensuring a new use is found for the building it
is therefore not considered that this is an option at the present time.

89.

The existing building is owned by the Council and it will be for them to find a new home
for the recycling bins upon the sale of the building.
CONCLUSIONS:

90.

The proposals to convert this building back into residential use will allow the Council to
obtain a significant saving / payment and will ensure the long term up keep of an
important listed building. The proposals have been sensitively considered and are
sympathetic to its historic character and appearance and historic integrity, as well as to
the character and appearance of the conservation area. As detailed in the above
appraisal, there will be some harm to the heritage asset but this is considered to the less
than substantial harm and, as set out at paragraph 196 of the NPPF, this needs to be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. In this case it is considered that the
public benefits outweigh the harm as the proposals will secure the optimum viable use
for the building and ensure it is brought back into use. The proposals will also ensure
that necessary maintenance works will be carried out and the existing stained glass
windows re-instated.

91.

The development will also provide a satisfactory living environment for future occupiers
without adversely impacting on neighbouring amenity and it raises no highway safety
issues.

92.

Overall, it is therefore considered that the applications 20/01306/FU & 20/01307/LI for
the Change of use and alterations of former council building to form eight flats with
parking at Micklefield House comply with both local and national planning policies.
Page 98

Approval, subject to the conditions outlined at the beginning of this report, is therefore
recommended for both applications.
Background Papers:
Application files.
Certificate of ownership: Notice served on Leeds City Council.

Page 99

20/01306/FU
20/01307/LI

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 100

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/2500

°

KEEP CLEAR
Post Repositioned

Flat Roof Extension Added 1970s

Replacement
GREY Aluminum Windows
Sliding, Obscured Glass.

New Stone Post

Replacement
GREY Aluminum Windows
Sliding, Obscured Glass.

Flat Roof Extension Added 1970s

Gas Meter
In Ground Enclosure

G12

Replacement
GREY Aluminum Windows
Sliding, Obscured Glass.

Grass
Stone Wall to be extended.
Timber panels to be
added to top.

Tarmac

G10

LIVING
Partitions
Removed.

Path

WC
G11
KITCHEN

G8

Replacement
GREY Aluminum Windows
Sliding, Obscured Glass.

Stone Flags

G13
UP

HALL

G9

AP1

Steps to be
Removed.

Vault Door
to refurbished and
fitted into former doorway.

Doorway
to be sealed up.

Concrete Ramp
to be Removed and
replaced with Grass.

EVCP

Recycling Bins

Stone Retaining
Wall

New Stone
Steps to be Formed.

Light Well
New mullion to be installed to allow
new windows to be installed to match the
rectangle shape of the main windows.

BATH

KITCHEN
Terrace

G7

G6

Partition
Removed.

Stone Paving to be laid
on Existing Concrete.

Entrance Lobby
Removed.

Tarmac
Poor Condition

Metal Bin Store
to be Removed.

New Door
Architraves, Frame,
Plinth Blocks to Match.

New mullions to be installed to allow
new windows to be installed to match the
rectangle shape of the main windows.

G38

Path

New Windows to match
windows on same elevation.

Reception Desk
Removed.

G5

METER
ROOM

G14

Grass

Extension Added 1990s
New Timber
French Doors.
Door to
be sealed up.
Velux
Wardrobe
Acc

Door Replaced
with Traditional Door
Architraves and Plinth Blocks

ES
G36
MASTER BEDROOM

Steps Down
BED 2
Lower Garden

G37

Grass
New Windows to match
windows on same extension.

UP
MASTER BEDROOM

G35
Feature Window
to be Repaired and fitted
with LED lighting behind.

LIVING

Stone Retaining
Wall

Light Well

Terrace

AP4

G4

Wardrobe
Door to
become
Doorway.

New
Doorway

Phone

Ceiling to be opened
to Apex.

Pedestrian Walkway
Raised Tarmac

Grass
BATH
G34

MASTER BEDROOM
Paved Area

Door to
be sealed up.

G28

Partition
Removed.

G33

Cornices to be
Reinstated.

G32

Cornices to be
Reinstated.

G29

BATH

G27
Fireplace Surround Fitted
No-insert, Blocked Up.
Surround to be retained,
new "historic" insert to be
source' d and fitted.

KITCHEN
Door
to become
Doorway.

Glass
Balustrade

G15

New Steel Beam
to sit bellow Cornices to
create opening.

Doorway
to become
Door.

Down

Wardrobe

Planter

New Grey Aluminum Bi-Folding Doors
Set with Space of former openings.

Door fitted
in Opening.

Partitions
Removed.

G26

G25

G3
G24

New Door
Architraves, Frame,
Plinth Blocks to Match.

Doorway
to be sealed up.
Partition
Removed

AP3
Doors to be
sealed up using
light infill method
architraves/frames
to remain in place.

Steps Down

Gas Meter
In Ground Enclosure

Partition
Removed

G31

Partitions
Removed

Doorway
to be sealed up.

Bus Shelter

G30

New
Partition & Door

Partition
Removed.

G16

Bin Storage
Timber Privacy Fencing

G21

BED 2
ES

Terrace
Existing modern security
doors to be replaced with
the Original Doors.

Planter

ES

KITCHEN

Partition
Removed

Opening to be
Widened and increased
in height.

Planter

G22

Tarmac
Poor Condition

G23
Ceiling to be opened
to Apex.

BED 2
Stone Steps

G17

LIVING

G2
G18

Cornices to be
Reinstated.

New
Doorway

Dropped
Ceiling to
be removed.

New Door
and Frame.

Wardrobe

Pedestrian Walkway
to be formalized with
tarmac and pin edgings.

Path
Hedge

LIVING
Stone Retaining
Wall

G19

G1

New mullions to be installed to allow
new windows to be installed to match the
rectangle shape of the main windows.
Door to be
sealed up using
light infill method
architraves/frames
to remain in place.

Railings

AP2

G20

Grass

Grass

Grass

Page 101

STUDY

Stone Flags

EVCP

EVCP

Hedge

New Planting

Stone Steps
Reinstated

New Planting

Concrete Ramp Removed

Tarmac
Poor Condition

Lower Garden
Railings
Railings

Grass
Terrace

Hedge
Bicycle Storage
Shed x8 Bike
Capacity

DISABLED

Steps Down

New
Tarmac

Path

Electric Gates

KEEP CLEAR

New
Tarmac

Tree Retained

Stone Plinth
Moved

Railings

Path

Terrace

PROJECT
Railings

MICKLEFIELD HOUSE - RAWDON LS16

Bin

Grass

Grass

Grass

PROPOSAL

CONVERSION OF FORMER COUNCIL OFFICES
TO 8 APARTMENTS with the FORMALIZATION
OF CAR PARKING for 14 VEHICLES
CLIENT

N2 PROJECTS

DRAWING NUMBER

PROPOSED
SITE PLAN LAYOUT
DATE

10.2.2020
SCALE

1:200 (A3)
Do not scale from this drawing, If in doubt please ask.
Dimensions must be checked on site where possible

WWW.NICHOLASANDNICHOLAS.CO.UK
MAIL@NICHOLASANDNICHOLAS.CO.UK

All the information contained within this document including technical drawings, conversion plans, logos, financial information and property valuations, are owned and under copywrite to
Nicholas & Nicholas Limited, the conversion plans may not be reproduced, constructed (built in whole or part) nor passed to third parties without the consent of Nicholas & Nicholas Ltd.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Originator:

Richard Smith

Tel:

0113 3788030

Report of the Chief Planning Officer
SOUTH & WEST PLANS PANEL
Date: 4th March 2021
Subject: Application 20/08541/FU – Variation of conditions 12 (completion of eastern
and western accesses) and 13 (provision of bus route) of approval 15/04824/FU to
amend wording of conditions - Kirkstall Forge, Abbey Road, Kirkstall
APPLICANT
CEG

DATE VALID
21.12.2020

TARGET DATE
22.03.2021

Electoral Wards Affected:

Specific Implications For:

Kirkstall
Bramley & Stanningley
Horsforth

Equality and Diversity

Yes

Ward Members consulted

Community Cohesion
Narrowing the Gap

RECOMMENDATION: DEFER AND DELEGATE to the Chief Planning Officer to vary
conditions 12 and 13 as detailed below, with imposition of an additional condition
as follows and subject to the completion of a Deed of Variation to the Section 106
Agreement:
Condition 12
No more than 838 dwellings and 25,954m2 (GIA) of commercial floorspace (Use
Class B1(a)) shall be occupied until the western and eastern accesses have been
completed unless a survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority which demonstrates that the western junction can operate
within acceptable capacity based upon occupation of 838 dwellings and 35,549m2
(GIA) of commercial floorspace (Use Class B1(a)).
Notwithstanding the results of any future surveys, no more than 838 dwellings and
35,549m2 (GIA) of commercial floorspace (Use Class B1(a)) shall be occupied before
the both the western and eastern accesses have been completed.
A detailed design for the eastern access and associated road shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority once plots J1, E/F, J3/J4, K1/K2 and either of K3 or K4
are occupied beyond 90% of their capacity.
Page 103

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and efficiency.
Condition 13
No more than 838 dwellings and 35,549m2 (GIA) of commercial floorspace (Use
Class B1(a)) shall be occupied until a bus route through the site with relevant bus
stops, shelters and infrastructure has been provided.
Reason: To facilitate public transport penetration into the site in the interest of
sustainability.
Additional Condition
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following provisions:
a) A broad timetable for implementation of highways improvement works as
show on plan “09/215/TR/009 Rev B – Suggested Western Access Land
Marking/Cycle Lane Amendments” shall be submitted to and approved by
the LPA prior to the occupation of 137no. dwellings. The works shall then
be delivered in accordance with the approved details.
b) A detailed design for an acceptable and suitable alternative footpath link
between Kirkstall Forge and the A65 (including a broad timetable for
delivery) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to
the occupation of 137no. dwellings. The footpath shall then be delivered in
accordance with the approved details.
c) Prior to delivery of the eastern access (as required under Condition 12),
the eastern junction shall remain available for use for emergency related
access when required, as set out in the “Kirkstall Forge – Eastern Junction
Emergency Access File Note 19/02/2021”
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and efficiency.
INTRODUCTION:
1.

This application, as a variation of earlier Outline Planning Permission for the mixed
use development of the Kirkstall Forge estate (detailed below) as previously
approved at Plans Panel, is brought to Plans Panel with reference to the Officer
Scheme of Delegation.
PROPOSAL:

2.

The application proposed is for the variation of the following conditions to application
15/04824/FU which currently are listed as:
12.
Both the western and eastern accesses shall be completed prior to the
following extent of development being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal to or greater than 884 where A cannot be greater
than 354.
A = number of dwellings and B = B1 gross floor area (square metres (excluding car
parking areas.)
Page 104

In the interests of highway safety.
13.
A bus route through the site with relevant bus stops, shelters and
infrastructure shall be made available prior to the following extent of development
being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal to or greater than 884 where A cannot be greater
than 354.
A = number of dwellings and B = B1 gross floor area (square metres (excluding car
parking areas.)
To facilitate public transport penetration into the site in the interests of sustainability.
3.

The western junction access into Kirkstall Forge has been already delivered. The
Outline application currently uses the above methodology to calculate the delivery of
the second access, the eastern access based upon (differing) levels of development
coming forward in the various phases / plots. The following table gives an indication
of the development splits that could come forward in combination prior to the
conditions being triggered:
B1 Office (m2)
22500
20250
18000
15750
13500

No of Dwellings
0
88
177
265
354

4.

The proposal from the applicants is to re-word the conditions so that a greater
quantum of development can be safely delivered on site (i.e. only using the western
junction) before the eastern access or connecting bus route through the site
between the junctions becomes necessary. The application also provides additional
plan detail showing the formation of a new pedestrian access route from the A65
within the existing estate wall down into the new Pocket Park (as to be provided
within residential plots E/F) and thus providing direct access onto the train station,
new and emerging services / facilities at the Forge estate as well as ongoing
recreational routes further to the south such as the Leeds-Liverpool canal etc.

5.

The application refers to varying the conditions (12 and 13 – as outlined above in
the recommendation) to allow the following plots to be developed prior to the point
of the conditions being triggered for the delivery of the eastern access / junction and
associated bus route:
-

6.

Plot J1 (15,534m2 of which 15,140m2 of office floorspace) (Phase 1)
Plots E / F (213 dwellings and 2076m2 of commercial floorspace) (Phase 2)
Plots J3 / J4 (approximately 425 residential units)
Plot K3 (13,355m2 of office floorspace) – one part of the wider K3/K4 together
with its attached multi-storey car park
Plots K1 / K2 (approximately 200 residential units)

The conditions as varied would also provide a mechanism for the associated design
work and timescales of delivery relating to the access road / junction to be submitted
to the Local Planning Authority upon an occupation threshold of the above plots.
Page 105

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:
7.

In its entirety the wider Kirkstall Forge estate site extends to 22.93 hectares of land
situated circa 6km (3.7 miles) to the north west of Leeds City Centre. The estate site
is broadly rectangular in shape extending from the north-west to south-east between
the Leeds to Shipley/Ilkley Railway and the A65 Abbey Road. The Leeds-Liverpool
canal and the Leeds-Shipley/Ilkley railway line all run through the Aire Valley in
parallel with the River Aire.

8.

Since the granting of Outline planning permission, which was for the mixed use
development of the estate site, this has been levelled and remediation works have
been undertaken in accordance Condition 5 of the outline permission, which was
approved as part of application 14/02638/COND. In addition, the Kirkstall Forge
Railway Station has been operating since June 2016, presently providing services to
Leeds and Ilkley whilst the eastern access road and highway connection onto the
A65 Abbey Road, including the installation of traffic lights to this junction, has also
been completed.

9.

The first phase of development at plot J1, a seven-storey office block providing
15,534m2 of office space within Use Class B1, has been tenanted and occupied
since 2017.

10.

Phase 2, referred to as plots E/F, recently saw Reserved Matters approval given to
213 dwellings at South & West Plans Panel on 28th January 2021 and this extends
to 3.09 hectares. This phase is positioned immediately to the north and east of the
eastern access road that provides the current point of vehicular access into the site
from Abbey Road.

11.

A further phase, plots K3/K4, situated immediately to the north-west of phase 1
(existing office plot J1) benefits from Reserved Matters consent approved June
2020 for two eight storey office blocks (B1a) with ancillary commercial space (B1a
and/or A1, and/or A3, and/or A4, and/or A5) and a multi-storey car park. This totals
247,032m2 (Gross Internal Area) as set either side of the new multi-storey car park
(MSCP) of 707 spaces.

12.

Other plots which should be noted and relate to this proposed variation include plots
K1/K2 (expected to be brought forward as residential units) set immediately northwest of plots K3/K4 and plots J3/J4 (expected to be also brought forward as
residential units) set immediately south-east of phase 1 (existing office plot J1).

13.

The site is located in Flood Zones 2 / 3.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

14.

15/04824/FU: Application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 comprising the variation of Condition 9 (lighting (a), boundary treatments (c)
and signposting (d), Condition 10 (a) sustainability appraisal (b) foul and surface
water drainage, (c) surface water run-off limitation, (d) works to the River Aire, (e)
nature conservation works, (f) provision of footpath and cycle links, (i) existing and
proposed levels, (j) tree works and tree protection measures and (k) measures to
protect the river during construction, Condition 12 (Timescale for the completion of
both the eastern and western accesses), Condition 13 (Timescale for the delivery of
a bus route through the site), Condition 17 (Provision of an interpretation board),
Condition 19 (Programme for works for the refurbishment of the Listed Buildings),
Condition 23 (Materials) and Condition 27 (Construction of a flood risk channel) of
Page 106

Outline 11/01400/EXT for each phase of development to allow the earliest
development on site. Approved under delegated decision 17th December 2015
15.

This variation application (15/04824/FU) was identical to 11/01400/EXT as noted
below retaining (with the exception of the amended conditions above) the same
conditions and Section 106 Heads of Terms.

16.

11/01400/EXT: Extension of Time pursuant to Outline application 24/96/05/OT
for mixed use development comprising residential, offices, leisure, hotel and bars
and restaurants, including access, site remediation, construction of bridges and river
works, car parking and landscaping. Approved by Plans Panel West on 18th August
2011 with the decision finally issued on 4th April 2014 following resolution of the
Section 106 agreement.

17.

This application (11/01400/EXT) was identical to the original Outline application
24/96/05/OT (see below) in terms of the extent of development to the original outline
planning permission below with the exception of an amendment to the Section 106
agreement to provide additional funding for the new (then emerging / proposed)
Kirkstall Forge train station.

18.

24/96/05/OT: Outline application to erect mixed use development comprising
residential, offices, leisure, hotel and bars and restaurants, including access, site
remediation, construction of bridges and river works, car parking and landscaping.
Approved by Plans Panel West 20th July 2007.

19.

The 24/96/05/OT application was the original outline planning permission for the redevelopment of Kirkstall Forge with details of access only approved as part of this
outline and matters of design, layout, appearance, landscaping reserved for future
consideration. The application was accompanied by a Design Code / Statement,
indicative Masterplan and Environment Statement which was based upon the
following:
-

1,355 dwellings (1,109 apartments and 246 townhouses/ maisonettes);
146,000 square feet of offices;
Support facilities including bars, restaurants, small-scale retail, health and fitness
and spa, banking, hotel, a crèche and accommodation for social community uses
totalling 104,000 square feet;
Preservation and change of use of existing grade 2 listed lower forge building to
provide food and drink uses;
Change of use grade II listed stables to residential.
Areas of amenity green space;
Wildlife and ecological enhancements;
Park and ride for approximately 150 cars;
Improvements to vehicular junctions, allowing access to the A65;
Internal access roads, catering for new bus services;
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes, enabling connections to the national
cycle network and canal towpath, including new footpaths alongside the former
abbey mill race;
New pedestrian and vehicular bridge across River Aire;
Site remediation works;
Riverside improvement works and creation of flood relief channel.

Additional Applications / Information:
20.

The following Reserved Matters application are also noted:
Page 107

-

-

-

Phase 1
18/00998/FU: (Within Phase 1) Change of use of part of ground floor from
ancillary cafe to cafe/bar/restaurant within Use Class A3/A4. The area affected
totals 394m2. Approved under delegated decision 12th June 2018
15/03561/RM: Phase 1 Reserved Matters for a seven-storey office block with
basement parking (Phase 1) at Plot J1. The building totals 15,534m2. Approved
by South and West Plans Panel on 17th September 2015. This first phase of
development has now been completed on site and is occupied.
Phase 2
20/05885/RM: Phase 2 (plots E/F) Reserved Matters application for 213
dwellings (C3), up to 2,076 sq. m. of commercial floorspace (Use Class E and/or
Use Class Sui Generis (Pubs/Drinking Establishments), and/or Use Class Sui
Generis (Hot Food Takeaways), amenity space and a new public square.
Approved by South and West Plans Panel on 28th January 2021. This second
phase of development would provide the first residential dwellings on site
alongside some further ancillary commercial floorspace.

-

18/03602/RM: Phase 2 (plots E/F) Reserved Matters application 135 houses
and apartments (Use Class C3), circa 2,400 square metres of commercial
space, (Use Classes A1, and/or A2, and/or A3, and/or A4, and/or A5, and/or B1,
and/or D1, and/or D2), amenity space and a new public square within Phase 2 of
the Kirkstall Forge Development (Plots E and F) – Approved under delegated
decision 16th May 2019.

-

17/04846/RM: Phase 2 (plots E/F) Reserved Matters application 112 houses
and apartments (Use Class C3), circa 2,925 square metres of commercial
space, (Use Classes A1, and/or A2, and/or A3, and/or A4, and/or A5, and/or B1,
and/or D1 and/or D2), amenity space and a new public square to form Phase 2
of the Kirkstall Forge Development (Plots E and F) - Approved by South and
West Plans Panel on 9th November 2017.

-

19/07827/RM: Reserved Matters application for two eight storey office blocks
(B1a) with ancillary commercial space (B1a and/or A1, and/or A3, and/or A4,
and/or A5) and a multi-storey car park. This totals 22,950m2 with a car park for
707 spaces. The permission also allows for further temporary parking up to 317
spaces to serve both plots J1 and K3/K4 if required with the intention that this is
reduced to zero based upon the promotion of sustainable travel planning.
Approved under delegated decision 12th June 2020.
Railway Station – land adjoining the Kirkstall Forge estate (to south-east
boundary)
10/01211/FU: New railway station and associated car park – Approved by
Plans Panel West 18th June 2010
Stonebridge Homes development – land adjoining the Kirkstall Forge estate (to
north-west boundary)
19/07155/FU: Residential development of 46 dwellings with new access
road, associated landscaping and public open space – Pending
Consideration

HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS:
Page 108

21.

A pre-application enquiry was submitted in October 2020 and initial formal dialogue
with the Local Planning Authority commenced. Due to the tight timeframes
understood around the drawing down of Homes England funding through
February/March 2021, initial feedback centred on the importance of a formal
application submission being made in advance.

22.

Initial correspondence outlined that prior to submission of any such variation
application, concern was expressed by the Highways consultee that the proposals
were seeking to maximise the use of available capacity on a strategic radial route
and bus corridor to provide development access, where the location of the (western)
junction means that there is no ability to offer in bound bus priority measures which
makes its performance even more critical and therefore it was stated that the
assessment should use conservative parameters and data and the results should
not show an overly stressed junction. Further, it was requested that the application
would present a clear strategy and commitment to the delivery of the complete spine
road and eastern access.
PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:

23.

The application has been publicised by a site notice which was erected on the 1st
February, which expires on 22nd February 2021. The application was also advertised
in the Yorkshire Evening Post on 29th January, which expires on 19th February 2021.
No representations (to date) have been received.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:

24.

Highways (19/02) – No objections (subject to conditions). The Highway Authority are
sympathetic to the proposal to amend conditions 12 and 13 to allow additional
development before the eastern access and spine road are required, and consider
the level of development agreed as the residential elements E2/E3, J3/4 and K1/K2
and office building K3 is an acceptable level of development subject to the
improvement to the western access, the pedestrian route from the Stitch to the A65
and arrangements for the eastern access to be used in an emergency as such
condition 12 can be relaxed to allow for this stated level of development.

25.

Network Rail (29/01) – No objections.

26.

West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) (02/02 – comments based on initial
submission as which has been since revised – any further comments following reconsultation to be updated verbally at Plans Panel) –
Alignment with Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and West Yorkshire Transport
Strategy (WYTS)
- Kirkstall Forge site is a Spatial Priority Area with significant potential for job and
business growth and housing contribution
- WYCA therefore support principle of mixed use development at this location
- WYTS has been developed, in part, to ensure this anticipated growth can be
achieved in a sustainable way with new journeys made in full or part by rail / bus
/ cycling / walking
Transport Comments
- Achieve regional targets around cutting carbon, improving air quality and
addressing climate emergency, new developments have an important role in
shaping places that are not car dominated and offer real travel alternatives
- Kirkstall Forge site has delivered a rail station, comprehensive travel plan and
supports active travel modes
Page 109

-

-

From a delivery perspective, support changes that result in accelerated delivery
of the site / external funding opportunities
However from a transport perspective, some nervousness exists that the
amendment is not consistent with sustainable travel / development objectives
Kirkstall Road is a key public transport corridor and therefore consideration needs
to be given to the western junction appraisal as to the impact upon existing bus
services
Delay in delivery of a through bus route would mean a significant amount of
development plots is permitted without supporting bus services
Place greater emphasis on remaining plots to deliver the road and second junction
More equitable approach providing more confidence may be for the developer to
be required to provide a commuted sum or other funding mechanism to fund part
of the new junction (if not providing it completely) and through road based on trips
or equivalent appropriate measure
WYCA confident that bus operators will use the through route on a commercial
basis given limited opportunities for passenger stops on Kirkstall Road (however
WYCA not recently approached operators for a firm commitment on this).
Should LPA seek to amend the conditions, as a minimum WYCA would look to the
developer to provide a safe / direct access route to Kirkstall Road
May also be appropriate to provide alternative bus option by funding a local service
that links into the main bus network in the short term as an interim measure until
delivery of a through route (estimated bus service costs at £150,000 per annum
to operate with marginal adjustments made dependent on patronage, hours of
operation and distance covered by the route)

PLANNING POLICIES:
27.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
Local Planning Policy

28.

In its entirety, the Kirkstall Forge site in terms of the boundary of the outline planning
application (including this site) comprises land within the main urban area.

29.

It is designated within the Site Allocations Plan as a mixed use site ref. MX1-3 with a
site area of approximately 17.82 hectares.

30.

A small part of the western site is allocated as part of the ‘existing’ employment
supply under Policy E3A:28 of the Unitary Development Plan Review. The southern
part of the wider Forge site (south of the river), is designated under saved UDPR
policy N8 as Urban Green Corridor. A small part of the site to the northern and
western boundary (but not the Reserved Matters site) is also designated as Green
Belt. To the south of the wide site boundary lies a designated nature reserve LNA
020 (Bramley Fall & Newlay Quarry) and the designated SSSI 009 (Leeds/Liverpool
Canal).

31.

The Development Plan for Leeds currently comprises the following documents:
1. The Leeds Core Strategy (as amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review
2019)
2. Saved Unitary Development Plan (UDPR) Policies (2006), included as Appendix
1 of the Core Strategy
Page 110

3. The Natural Resources & Waste Local Plan (NRWLP, Adopted January 2013)
including revised policies Minerals 13 and 14 (Adopted September 2015).
4. Any Neighbourhood Plan, once Adopted
5. Aire Valley Area Action Plan (adopted 2017)
6. Site Allocations Plan (adopted 2019).
32.

Leeds Core Strategy (amended by the Core Strategy Selective Review 2019)
The adopted Core Strategy (as amended) sets out strategic level policies and vision
to guide the delivery of development investment decisions and the overall future of
the district. The most relevant policies are set out in the paragraphs below:
Spatial Policy 6: The Housing Requirement and Allocation of Housing Land
Details that the provision of how new dwellings will be accommodated between
2017 and 2033. This is based upon:
i.
Sustainable locations (which meet standards of public transport accessibility
– see the Well Connected City chapter), supported by existing or access to
new local facilities and services, (including Educational and Health
Infrastructure)
ii.
ii. Preference for brownfield and regeneration sites
iii.
iii. The least impact on Green Belt purposes
iv.
Opportunities to reinforce or enhance the distinctiveness of existing
neighbourhoods and quality of life of local communities through the design
and standard of new homes
v.
The need for realistic lead-in-times and build-out-rates for housing
construction
vi.
The least negative and most positive impacts on green infrastructure, green
corridors, green space and nature conservation
vii.
Avoiding areas of flood risk and only where this is not possible, then
mitigating flood risk.
Spatial Policy 8: Economic Development Priorities
Details how a competitive local economy will be supported including:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)
viii)
ix)
x)

Safeguarding of a sufficient supply of land and buildings
Promoting the development of a strong local economy through
enterprise and innovation
Job retention and creation
Seeking to improve accessibility to employment opportunities by public
transport, walking and cycling
Supporting the growth and diversification of the rural economy
Supporting training / skills and job creation initiatives via planning
agreements
Developing the city centre and the town/local centres as the core
location for new retail, office employment and other main town centre
uses
Supporting development in existing locations/sites for general
industrial and warehouse including ones well served by rail / waterway
Support the advancement of high quality communications
infrastructure
Support the retention and provision of new business start-up units

Spatial Policy 11: Transport Infrastructure Investment Priorities: The delivery of an
integrated transport strategy for Leeds will be supported, which includes a range of
Page 111

infrastructure improvements and other interventions in accordance with the
objectives of West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 3 and the Leeds City Region
Transport Strategy (2009). The Infrastructure Delivery Plan and the Key Diagram
give further details of the scope of these improvements/interventions. These
infrastructure improvements/interventions are also supported by the demand
management measures outlined in Policy T1.
Spatial Priorities
(i)
Public transport improvements for the bus and rail networks (including
supporting the role of Leeds City Station, enhancing Leeds’ role as a regional
transport hub, and new rail stations where appropriate) and investment in a
rapid transit system to increase radial route capacity to the City and Town
Centres and to improve reliability together with investment in the provision of
Park and Ride facilities
(ii)
Surface access improvements to support growth of Leeds Bradford
International Airport (see also Spatial Policy 12)
(iii)
(Targeted highway schemes to alleviate congestion and assist improved
connectivity for local and strategic orbital movements, and the strategic road
network
(iv)
Expansion of the Leeds Core Cycle Network to improve local connectivity
(v)
Improved facilities for pedestrians to promote safety and accessibility,
particularly connectivity between the ‘Rim’ and the City Centre
(vi)
Measures to deliver safer roads
(vii) The provision of infrastructure to serve new development (including within
regeneration areas defined in Spatial Policy 4 and urban extensions)
(viii) Supporting the development of infrastructure for new low carbon technologies
(ix)
Transport improvements to connect to and from and within the Aire Valley
Leeds development area (see Spatial Policy 5)
(x)
Supporting High Speed Rail as a longer term intervention to serve Leeds and
the wider City Region by providing a substantial enhancement to inter-city
connectivity,
(xi)
Provision for people with impaired mobility to improve accessibility, Routes
designated in the emerging transport strategy or programmed works will be
protected from development. Current proposals are identified on the Key
Diagram, the Leeds Transport Strategy Map (Map 9) and saved UDP
Policies.
Policies T1: Transport Management and T2: Accessibility Requirements and New
Development: identify measures to ensure new development is adequately served
by highways and public transport, and provides safe and secure access for
pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired mobility.
33.

Relevant Saved Policies from the UDPR are:
GP5: Requirement of Development Proposal

34.

Leeds Natural Resources and Waste DPD 2013
The Natural Resources and Waste DPD sets out where land is needed to enable
the City to manage resources, like trees, minerals, energy, waste and water over the
next 15 years, and identifies specific actions which will help use natural resources in
a more efficient way.

35.

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Documents
Page 112

Accessible Leeds SPD (2016): Guidance document is intended for use by
developers, architects, design teams, and those applying for planning permission, to
ensure an inclusive design approach is adopted.
Parking SPD (2016): sets out parking guidelines across the City.
Street Design Guide (2009): This is a key element to delivering high quality
residential and mixed development environments in the City, and should be used in
the context of other national and local planning or design guidance.
Draft Transport SPD (2020): Amalgamating the Street Design Guide SPD, Parking
SPD, Travel Plans SPD and Public Transport and Developer Contributions SPD,
The Transport SPD is intended for use by developers, design teams and others, and
seeks to stimulate innovative designs that are appropriate for the context, character
and location of a site and can be used safely by the travelling public.
Travel Plans SPD (2015): This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out
the Leeds City Council (LCC) requirements for travel plans and identifies when they
are required in support of a planning application. It is also intended for use by
existing firms or organisations who wish to draw up a travel plan to facilitate more
efficient and sustainable working practices.
36.

Neighbourhood Plan
A Neighbourhood Plan is currently being progressed at Kirkstall. The plan area was
designated in November 2015 and the pre-submission plan is currently in
preparation. The plan is not at an advanced stage of development and has not yet
been formally adopted; as such, policies contained within it are not afforded weight
at this time.
National Planning Policy Framework

37.

The NPPF and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) set out the national
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. One of the key
principles running through the NPPF is a presumption in favour of Sustainable
Development set out in three parts: Economic, Social and Environmental. The
revised NPPF (2019) now seeks to tighten definitions on the presumption in favour of
sustainable development, increases the emphasis on high-quality design and placemaking.
Paragraph 11 directs Local Planning Authorities to apply a presumption in favour of
sustainable development and that they should approve development proposals that
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay.
Paragraph 55 outlines that planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and
only imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the
development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other
respects. Agreeing conditions early is beneficial to all parties involved in the process
and can speed up decision making. Conditions that are required to be discharged
before development commences should be avoided, unless there is a clear
justification.
The below sections of the Revised NPPF are also considered to be relevant:
Page 113

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development - The purpose of the planning system
is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. At a very high level,
the objective of sustainable development can be summarised as meeting the needs
of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their
own needs.
There are three overarching objectives to this:
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity;
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the
needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe
built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land,
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste
and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a
low carbon economy.
Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy - Planning policies and decisions

should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt.
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for
development.

Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities - Planning policies and
decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places.
Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport – developments should give priority
first to pedestrian and cycle movements and facilitate access to high quality public
transport; address the needs of people with disabilities; create places that are safe,
secure and attractive which minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles; avoid unnecessary street clutter; respond to local character
and design standards; allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by
service and emergency vehicles; be designed to enable charging of plug-in and
other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient location
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
Para 127: Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short
term but over the lifetime of the development;
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate
and effective landscaping;
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);
Page 114

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and
distinctive places to live, work and visit;
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and
support local facilities and transport networks; and
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users
and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.
CLIMATE EMERGENCY
38.

The Council declared a climate emergency on the 27th March 2019 in response to
the UN’s report on Climate Change. The Planning Act 2008, alongside the Climate
Change Act 2008, sets out that climate mitigation and adaptation are central
principles of plan-making. The NPPF makes clear at paragraph 148 and footnote 48
that the planning system should help to shape places in ways that contribute to
radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in line with the objectives of the
Climate Change Act 2008.

39.

As part of the Council’s Best Council Plan 2019/20 to 2020/21, the Council seeks to
promote a less wasteful, low carbon economy. The Council’s Development Plan
includes a number of planning policies which seek to meet this aim, as does the
NPPF. These are material planning considerations in determining planning
applications.

40.

In respect of condition 12 (western / eastern junction), the application is considered
to have overall a neutral or marginal positive impact on climate change as ultimately
the considerations are more in respect of efficiency / safety for using one junction
over two. The actual numbers of vehicles using the site is more dedicated by good
travel planning and sustainable modal shift in employees particularly. In respect of
condition 13 (bus route) whilst any further delays in the development of the spine
road is unfortunate, there is no guarantee that operators would utilise this
infrastructure rather than the A65 until the wider Forge estate develops greater
numbers of residents and employees. Conversely arguments are made by the
applicants that the variation of conditions will mean that future investment into the
£9m road can be committed sooner as the building plots developed start to generate
revenue from their ‘critical mass’, which if this did entail, would be very positive from
a sustainable travel perspective.

41.

In addition and notwithstanding the above, a key positive aspect of the proposal is
that a new pedestrian access will be created within the north boundary estate wall
onto the A65 and linking into the site via the ‘Stitch’ (through plots E/F) and onto the
railway station. This new measure, subject of an additional plan (which the earlier
Outline applications have not previously benefited from) will mean increased and
improved pedestrian connectivity and accessibility of public transport (train and bus);
Page 115

this will particularly benefit local residents in the Hawksworth and Kirkstall
communities (i.e. Abbeydales and Vespers) to the immediate north / north-east and
aid sustainable travel modes / trips.
MAIN ISSUES:
•
•
•

Background History
Economic and Housing Growth Considerations
Highway Safety and Efficiency, Accessibility

APPRAISAL:
Background History
41.

The original Outline consent 24/96/05/OT for Kirkstall Forge was submitted in
February 2005 and approved in July 2007. Shortly following the granting of this
consent the Global Financial and UK recession set in and stalled development of
the wider site within the original envisaged / expected timeframes as approved,
namely which required submission of all Reserved Matters within 10 years (i.e. up to
July 2017) and development to be undertaken within 2 years of the last Reserved
Matters approval.

42.

The Outline application 24/96/05/OT was accompanied by a Design Statement
which each Reserved Matters should be submitted in broad accordance with. This
Statement was read in conjunction with a broad Masterplan and suite of drawings as
approved which showed expected development plots served from two main
junctions off the A65, at the eastern end of the site (diagonally opposite Vesper
Walk) and at the western end (approximately 100m from Hawksworth Road to the
north-west). Also shown on the Masterplan was indicatively shown, a new train
station adjacent to the site on the existing Airedale Line.

43.

The Outline application 24/96/05/OT also included the following conditions:
11) No part of the development shall be occupied until the eastern access junction
with the A65 based on drawing number 02/230/110/002 Revision E has been
constructed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
In the interests of highway safety and to achieve an acceptable access in
accordance with adopted Unitary Development Plan policy T2.
12) The western access works including the works to the Hawksworth Road junction
with the A65 shall be completed prior to the occupation of 300 dwellings on the site
(or alternative formula to be agreed) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
In the interests of highway safety
13) No occupiers shall use the western access until the works based on drawing
number 02/230/110/008 Revision B to include the works to the Hawksworth Road
junction with the A65 have been completed.
In the interests of highway safety and to achieve an acceptable access in
accordance with adopted Unitary Development Plan policy T2.
Page 116

14) A route for buses through the site with the relevant bus stops, shelters and
infrastructure shall be made available at the earliest opportunity on completion of
450 dwellings unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
To facilitate public transport penetration into the site in the interests of sustainability.
44.

The applicants applied for an Extension of Time to the original permission in April
2011 which was approved in April 2014 and this granted a new Outline consent
requiring submission of all Reserved Matters within 15 years (i.e. up to April 2029)
and again development to be undertaken within 2 years of the last Reserved
Matters approval.

45.

Since the grant of the original Outline consent in July 2007, the emergence and
position of the new Kirkstall Forge Railway Station became much clearer (set further
to the south-east of the original position shown in the 2007 Masterplan) and this was
then cemented through the submission and approval of application 10/01211/FU in
June 2010.

46.

During Extension application 11/01400/EXT changes were made to the conditions
regarding the two accesses and bus route through the site which were revised as
follows:
11)
Construction traffic shall not use the western access junction with the A65
until highway works have been constructed in accordance with details to be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority, based on drawing
number 02/230/110/008 Rev B, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
No part of the development shall be occupied until either the eastern or western
access junction with the A65 has been constructed in accordance with details to be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority, based on drawing
numbers 02/230/110/002 Rev E or 02/230/110/008 Rev B respectively. Thereafter
all development shall only be accessed from the junction which has been
constructed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
In the interests of highway safety and to achieve an acceptable access in
accordance with adopted Unitary Development Plan policy T2.
12)
Both the western and eastern accesses shall be completed prior to the
following extent of development being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal to or greater than 450
Where A = dwellings occupied and B = B1 office Gross Floor Area (sq m occupied)
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
In the interests of highway safety.
13)
A bus route through the site with relevant bus stops, shelters and
infrastructure shall be made available prior to the following extent of development
being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal or greater than 450
Page 117

Where A = dwellings occupied and B = B1 office Gross Floor Area (sq m occupied)
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
To facilitate public transport penetration into the site in the interests of sustainability.
47.

A further application 15/04824/FU, submitted in August 2015 and approved in
December 2015, varied the conditions of Outline application 11/01400/EXT to reflect
the development of the train station which revised which plots (namely J1 first)
would emerge first. The relevant varied conditions were revised as follows:
11)
Construction traffic shall not use the western access junction with the A65
until highway works have been constructed in accordance with details to be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority, based on drawing
number 02/230/110/008 Rev B, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
No part of the development shall be occupied until either the eastern or western
access junction with the A65 has been constructed in accordance with details to be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority, based on drawing
numbers 02/230/110/002 Rev E or 02/230/110/008 Rev B respectively. Thereafter
all development shall only be accessed from the junction which has been
constructed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
In the interests of highway safety and to achieve an acceptable access in
accordance with adopted Core Strategy Policy T2
12)
Both the western and eastern accesses shall be completed prior to the
following extent of development being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal to or greater than 884 where A cannot be greater
than 354.
A = number of dwellings and B = B1 gross floor area (square metres (excluding car
parking areas.)
In the interests of highway safety.
13)
A bus route through the site with relevant bus stops, shelters and
infrastructure shall be made available prior to the following extent of development
being occupied:
A + (3.93 x B / 100) being equal to or greater than 884 where A cannot be greater
than 354.
A = number of dwellings and B = B1 gross floor area (square metres (excluding car
parking areas.)
To facilitate public transport penetration into the site in the interests of
sustainability.

48.

The current conditions allow a fairly limited amount of further additional development
beyond the existing plot J1 and train station (relative to the size of the wider estate
site) accessed from the existing single access point on the western junction before
the eastern access and bus route between the two have to be realised. The
Page 118

following development served off the western access only would be achievable
when committed together:
Office space (m2)
22,475
20,250
18,000
15,750
13,500

No of Houses
0
88
176
265
353

49.

Conditions 12 and 13 were varied through application 15/04824/FU (December
2015) to increase the 100% Office (m2) trigger point from 11,450m2 to 22,494m2.
The 100% housing trigger point changed from 450 dwellings down to 354 dwellings.
The change in the dwelling threshold was agreed to in order to address highway
officers’ concerns at that time in advance of the opening of wider site infrastructure
including the railway station and western access over the increase in the office
space and to limit the increase in queues and delays at the western access. During
that application the Council also referred to guidance in the Street Design Guide –
SPD which states that for over 300 dwellings; at least two vehicular access points
should be provided. The traffic modelling at that time was undertaken on the data
available up to 2015 and the anticipated impact of the railway station (which then
opened in June 2016).

50.

Since December 2015 when application 15/04824/FU was approved, further data
and information has now been collated. This further to the following key milestones:
-

Full construction of western access;
Development and operation of the railway station, opening in June 2016
(including 109 space car park);
Construction of the first and currently single office building on site, (Phase 1 plot J1) which totals 15,534m2 (of which office space now totals nearer 15,140m2
due to the part of change of use to allow 394m2 of café/restaurant space which
was subject of approved application 18/0998/FU) with 54 permanent (undercroft)
spaces and 449 temporary parking spaces.

51.

Also since approval of 15/04824/FU, Reserved Matters approval has been granted
for Phase 2 (plots E/F), the most recent being 20/05885/RM (before South & West
Plans Panel on 28th January 2021) for 213 dwellings and 2,076m2 of commercial
space.

52.

Also since approval of 15/04824/FU, Reserved Matters approval has been granted
for further office space totalling 22,950m2 in two blocks (plots K3/K4) which are set
in-between a multi-storey car park of 707 spaces. The permission also allows for
further temporary parking to serve plots J1 and K3/K4 if required up to 317 spaces
although the intention / aim (both applicant / Council) is that with time and the
promotion of sustainable travel at the site, under control of condition, to reduce this
to zero.

53.

Based upon the construction and occupation of plot J1 for office space, the current
conditions allow for a calculated 389 dwellings maximum to be served off the
western junction (subject to office plots K3/K4) not being brought forward at the
same time. Equally, should further residential plots not be realised, then a maximum
7335m2 could be built / occupied as office space. This is less than the size of K4
(9595m2) if built alone (i.e. as phased) but considerably less if K3/K4 (22,950m2) are
built together at the same time.
Page 119

54.

The applicants have made this application with the Kirkstall Forge project at a critical
stage in its development. The applicants CEG are at an advanced stage in the
process of seeking public sector loan funding from Homes England to support the
infrastructure works required to deliver the next phase of residential units on Plots
E2/E3 (136 units) and Plots J3/J4 (423 units) which includes river walls, highways,
remediation and new drainage networks all of which are additional abnormal costs
over and above the buildings. In addition, planning consent has recently been
obtained for the next phase of commercial offices (plots K3/K4) and its 707-space
multi-storey car park. CEG are actively marketing the building with the aim of
acquiring a pre-let which will kick-start this specific plot development.

55.

The Homes England funding is currently only available this financial year and a draw
down would be required in advance of 31st March. To be successful with the funding
application, it is understood that housing numbers delivered should total at least 500
units. This does exceed the current condition thresholds (see para. 53 above). The
applicants have indicated this would be formed of the apartments within plots E2/E3
(136) and those apartments also envisaged within emerging plots J3/J4 (423 units)
although the latter of which are yet to be the subject of a formal Reserved Matters
submission. At the same time with active marketing for a pre-let to plots K3/K4
underway, the applicants have requested that condition variation reflects their
intention to bring forward both these residential apartment units, the adjoining
townhouses and the commercial space both within blocks E2 / E3 and plot K3.

56.

The applicants have quoted the following key reasons as the basis to varying the
conditions:
“a) To reflect changes in travelling patterns observed from on-going traffic and
travel plan surveys. The observed office trip rates are lower than initially set
out, probably as a result of the sustainable nature of the site and the impact
of the Travel Planning measures. The development is therefore generating
fewer vehicular trips than originally expected and hence more development
can be occupied before the need for the delivery of the eastern access. The
delaying of the trigger point will therefore allow the changes in travel patterns
to be reflected in the updated phasing strategy for the site.
b) To provide greater flexibility to construct the next phases of infrastructure and
development, including the approved eastern site access to allow the wider
Kirkstall Forge site to be delivered in an overall more efficient manner. The
delaying of the trigger point achieves this.
c) To reflect the development phasing strategy already delivered and future
emerging strategy that builds upon the significant infrastructure investment
already delivered at Kirkstall Forge, including the new railway station, and
Kirkstall One office building. The delaying of the trigger point will make best
use of this infrastructure.
d) To manage health and safety and security during construction works by
separating the public visiting the site from construction traffic and activities.
The delaying of the trigger point achieves this by allowing the eastern access
to be continued to be used for construction traffic and activities only.
e) The design of the highway infrastructure through the remainder of the site is
intrinsically linked to the detailed design of the development phases that will
have frontage and access onto these sections of highway. From a practical
Page 120

and cost effectiveness perspective it is therefore logical to deliver these
sections of the highway works at a similar time to the adjacent phases of
development. The delaying of the trigger point will achieve this.
f) To better align the construction phasing with construction of highway
infrastructure and the timing of its adoption. This will avoid the need for a
highway running through a fallow development site with associated health
and safety/personal security issues. In this situation the road would have no
surveillance to either side and secure fencing to both sides leading to
potential personal safety issues. The future phasing strategy and the delaying
of the trigger point for the eastern access and link will therefore achieve this.”
57.

The original conditions were originally listed primarily for highway safety / efficiency
reasons. These conditions (as varied) are still considered to meet the six relevant
tests for conditions to be applied, namely that they are:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)

Necessary;
Relevant to planning;
Relevant to the development to be permitted;
Enforceable;
Precise; and
Reasonable in all other respects.

Economic and Housing Growth Considerations
58.

Kirkstall Forge is a complex site for development with a number of infrastructure and
abnormal costs attached to it beyond the site clearance / preparation costs including
two new highway junctions and a number of lengthy connecting link / internal roads,
a flood relief channel and significant contaminated land remediation costs amongst
them.

59.

To date, some £97m has been committed / invested into the regeneration of Kirkstall
Forge, to which only 30% (£29m) has been invested in a building (i.e. plot J1) that
generates any form of income. Examples of this expenditure include £6m on
remediation and earthworks, £6m on roads, bridges and drainage and £9m in river
walls/utilities and flood alleviation. Included within these figures, is £15m spent upon
the first phase of infrastructure to allow plot J1 to successfully operate. £2m per year
is being paid back to Leeds City Council and WYCA for the loan provided for this
first phase of works, which enabled the railway station to be also delivered. The
applicants highlight that 70% of the costs (close to £70m) has been invested in the
site and no return is being received from that investment. It is crucial that the project
can start to receive more revenue, in order for further investment to be justified.

60.

Included in the £97m above is £7.1m, which is required to deliver the infrastructure
works that will enable the delivery of residential plots E/F (213 homes) and J3/J4
(425 homes). Funding for this work has in principal been secured from Homes
England. The loan agreement commits the applicants to the delivery of the
apartments within blocks E2/E3 (136 homes) and plots J3/J4 (425 homes).

61.

The focus of the first phase of residential is to deliver ‘Build to Rent’ units and
establish a critical mass of residents who can support the amenities on site and start
to create a residential community at the core of the scheme. The buildings will also
produce an income stream, which will help address the imbalance described
above. Once the Homes England infrastructure is secured, the remaining (town)
houses on plots E/F can come forward based on market demand.
Page 121

62.

The main access and utilities are already in place for the delivery of plots K3/K4
(offices and the MSCP) and the site has been remediated with no further significant
investment is required to bring this part of the project forward. However, the
applicants point out that no development finance currently exists or is readily
available for the speculative development of this scheme. The applicants continue to
seek pre-letting the building in part or full to an occupier(s), which will then allow the
cost of delivering the project to be secured against the future income. In order to
attract an occupier(s), the scheme must have an attractive offer of sustainable travel
options and car parking, which compares favourably against other developments
e.g. at sites like White Rose and Thorpe Park.

63.

Plots K1 and K2 can also come forward with reduced infrastructure spend. There
are still some river wall works required, but the plots will already have been serviced
and these can also help re-balance the burden of upfront costs made to date.
However no Reserved Matters application or detailed design for these plots has
been submitted to date.

64.

The applicants aim is that once the core of Kirkstall Forge around the Stitch Bridge
is developed out and the existing imbalance of upfront infrastructure costs have
started to be addressed by the phases described above, investors will want to
deliver the Eastern Access Road, which is currently forecast to cost £9m. The
design of this piece of infrastructure fixes the levels and positions for all plots east of
the stitch bridge so it is seen as a very important and complicated piece of design
work, which will be started 12 months before the anticipated delivery of the actual
road and junction itself.

65.

The applicants outline that subject to market conditions, it is anticipated that delivery
of the access road will take place alongside plots G and N. These plots are
apartments and the applicants considered that the take up of these units and
quantum of development is likely to (at best) mitigate the further cost of the
infrastructure. These homes are contained between the river and the access road,
allowing construction activities to occupy plots B, C and D and ensuring separation
of these activities as much as possible.

66.

The previous applications 11/01400/EXT and 15/04824/FU saw these planning
conditions considered prior to the Railway Station becoming operational. The
applicants have outlined that the station has had 2 major impacts. Firstly, it led to a
review of the phasing of the scheme with a focus on the area around the station.
Whilst the station is a huge positive for the regeneration of the site, it has brought
forward significant infrastructure spend to date. Secondly, the use of the station has
reduced the car movements to the site and travel planning is shown to be having a
significant impact, reducing vehicle movements and therefore justifying a review of
the trigger for the Eastern Access Road.

67.

Since the last major recession resulting from the global financial crash in 2007/08,
securing development finance has got significantly harder. The impact of Brexit and
the pandemic has further constrained lending from the leading banks and finance for
“off plot” infrastructure is not generally found to be available. The applicants have
therefore had to put significantly more capital/money into the site than was originally
anticipated and this explains to an extent the pace of development to this stage in
the evolution of Kirkstall Forge. Securing the Homes England funding for these
works is now seen by the applicants and the Council to be crucial to secure delivery
of homes on the site.
Page 122

68.

The cost of delivery to the eastern access road is more readily understood now and
forecast to cost approximately £9m. This is due to be the single largest remaining
infrastructure cost. Whilst it is understood some further smaller amounts are
required in later phases for ground works, utilities and river wall works, no single
element here is expected to be forecast over £1m.

69.

The applicants consider the combination of residential plots E/F and J3/J4 alongside
office plot K3 is crucial to having a critical mass of development (set around the
‘Stitch’) to generate sufficient revenues for outstanding infrastructure (including the
eastern access road) to come forward in the short – medium term.

70.

The delivery of plots K3/K4 is a £60m capital investment project with approximately
415 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs expected to be created. The applicants’ outline
that they expect a further 460 indirect FTE jobs to be supported during construction.

71.

Once built, these plots K3/K4 are seen would provide / accommodate over 2000
new jobs on site and the creation of up to 995 FTE indirect jobs across the wider
region.

72.

The delivery of commercial plots K3/K4 within this mixed use allocated site is
considered strategically important and which aligns with Core Strategy policy SP8 in
particular and key sustainable economic development objectives within the NPPF.

73.

Also as a mixed used allocated site the timely delivery of the sustainable housing
component within Kirkstall Forge is also strongly supported through Core Strategy
policy SP6 and the NPPF. The SAP allocation has initially identified that the site can
offer 1385 housing units and being sustainably located this is important strategic
consideration in the timely delivery of these units within the Plan period.
Highway Safety and Efficiency, Accessibility

74.

Policies T1 and T2 of the Core Strategy are particularly pertinent here to the
consideration of the application.

75.

Policy T1 states that to compliment new infrastructure the following management
priorities are key:
-

76.

Information and support to encourage sustainable travel choices;
Travel planning measures for employees (and schools);
Parking policies controlling / supplying the use and supply of parking across the
City, including at part c) support for wider transport strategy objectives for
sustainable travel and to minimise congestion during peak periods.

Policy T2 states that new development should be located in accessible locations
that are adequately served by existing or programmed highways, by public transport
and with safe and secure accesses for pedestrians, cyclists and people with
impaired mobility. In locations where development is otherwise considered
acceptable, new infrastructure may be required on/off site to ensure that there is
adequate provision for access from the highway network, by public transport for
cyclists, pedestrians and people with impaired mobility, which will not create or
materially add to problems of safety, environment or efficiency on the highway
network. Developer contributions for off-site highway works, Transport Assessments
/ Statements, Travel Plans and parking guidelines are all relevant in full
consideration of this policy.
Page 123

77.

Alongside policies T1 and T2, the Street Design Guide SPD is key guidance.
Section 3.06 of the SPD notes that any road that is intended to serve more than 700
dwellings (i.e. carries more than 450 vehicles during the peak periods) is in effect
not a residential street and therefore may need to be designed in accordance with
the ‘Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB)’ (published by the Department
for Transport). The Guide also recommends that the street hierarchy should be
developed through an understanding of a site’s surrounding context; its attractors,
the possibility for new connections and its relationship to other modes of travel as
well as the implication for the existing network.

78.

In defining a street hierarchy the higher standard of residential street type, a
‘connector street’ (main streets providing structure and connection) should be
provided where in the case of over 300 dwellings, two points of access should be
ideally provided. This includes to maximise accessibility and efficient operation in
emergencies. In the case of mixed use schemes, the SPD at sections 3.78 – 3.83
outlines that developments served from one access should be sufficiently flexible.

79.

In regard to ‘Connector Streets’ and in respect of a mixed use scheme, the SPD at
section 3.80 states:
“Such a Street Type will be appropriate where the peak hour traffic flow is
not expected to exceed that which could be generated by 700 dwellings (i.e.
in the order of 455 two-way peak hour vehicle movements). Above this level
the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges should be used, although this
should be discussed with the City Council.”

80.

The site highway infrastructure works consisting of the western junction and spine
road connecting from it ‘Butlers Wharf’ was constructed between 2014 and 2015
under a combined Section 278/38 Agreement entered into between CEG and the
Council. A plan can be shown at Panel which shows the extent of these works that
have been adopted by LCC and therefore form part of the highway maintainable at
public expense.

81.

The infrastructure links closely to pedestrian and cycle routes to the south of the
station including National Cycle Route 66 and the Leeds-Liverpool canal.

82.

There are bus stops close to the development on either side of the A65 Abbey
Road, located some 100 metres from the Kirkstall Forge site and approximately 600
metres from plot J1 and the Railway Station. The A65 Quality Bus Corridor started
operating from 2012 where a series of improvement measures to this radial route
were introduced to improve journey times and bus priority measures. Travel Plan
monitoring for plot J1 suggest that nearly 5% of occupiers use A65 bus services.

83.

In terms of the railway station, this currently provides two rail services per hour in
each direction (i.e. eastbound to Leeds, westbound to Bradford). Since its inception
in June 2016, the applicants Highway Consultants, Bryan G Hall have undertaken
monitoring of the station / car parking during 7 weeks up to January 2018.

84.

The key headline results of these surveys suggest:
-

average daily use has increased by 293%
January 2018 show following split in rail uses:
•
•
•

29.2% visiting plot J1
33% parking in station car park
24.6% walking to/from station
Page 124

•
•

3.8% cycling to/from station
9.5% drop off/pick up from station

85.

Bryan G Hall (highway consultants to the applicants) have also outlined that figures
from the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) suggest that the railway station was used by
54.7% more users in 2019 than in 2018.

86.

To the rear of plot J1 in the existing temporary car park there is an Enterprise car
club car available for hire.

87.

The Kirkstall Forge Travel Plan is being implemented by the applicants and
comprises of the following actions/measures to date:
-

88.

Kirkstall Forge Travel Information website.
Travel guide for employees.
Holding Travel Roadshows in August/September 2017 including offering
free public transport taste tickets.
One-to-one personalised journey planning sessions.
Provision of 23 showers, 121 lockers, a drying room and 135 cycle parking
spaces to support active travel.
Bike Friendly Business/Walk Friendly Workplace Accreditations.
Introduction of a Cycle and Scooter Hire Scheme.
Improved way finding signage around Kirkstall Forge.
Corporate Public Transport Ticketing Schemes.
Public Transport Real Time Information Screen at plot J1
Enterprise Car Club vehicle (plot J1)
Site-wide car share scheme has been set up with 63 spaces dedicated for
car sharers.
Two electric vehicle charging points that facilitate four cars charging
simultaneously.

Bryan G Hall in undertaking surveys of Kirkstall Forge to help inform the annual
Travel Plan monitoring have outlined the following modal split (based on 2019 data)
between employees currently travelling to work at Kirkstall Forge (i.e. principally
within plot J1):
Mode
Walk
Cycle
Bus
Train
Train and Bus
Motorcycle
Car Driver (single occupancy car driver)
Car Passenger
Other
TOTAL

89.

%
6.3
2.1
4.2
13.1
0.6
0.3
67.8 (49.9)
3.6
2.0
100.0

The above table suggests that the original target of 61.2% single occupancy car
drivers to be reached by 2022 has been already met and well exceeded. The figure
thus was revised to 50.4% in 2018 and target is to maintain or better this over time.
This 2019 survey data suggests this is being met. The data also suggests a
decreasing pattern in the proportion of office workers travelling by private car to /
Page 125

from Kirkstall Forge, indeed since the previous year by 5%. This suggests that travel
planning measures are starting to show positive fruition at the site.
90.

Bryan G Hall have undertaken surveys of the western junction in both January and
September 2019 (i.e. both pre-pandemic). The survey data suggests less single
occupancy vehicle trips were made in the latter suggesting that following initial
occupations of plot J1 for new office based businesses relocating to Kirkstall Forge
in previous months, sustainable travel planning may have started to have an impact.

91.

The Highways consultee has advised that a combination of both survey results
should be used in appraising the impact upon the western junction of both existing
and future predicted traffic. Modelling has been undertaken based upon the
following development taken off the western junction:
Block

Planned

Plot J1
E2/E3 Apartments

Complete
Jul 2021 – Apr
2023
Jul 2021 – Apr
2023
Nov 2022 – Oct
2024
Aug 2021 – Dec
2024
Oct 2022 – Mar
2024

E2/E3
Townhouses
J3/J4 Apartments
K3
K1/K2 Apartments
TOTAL
92.

Commercial
Gross Internal
Area (excluding
car parking)
12,599m2

No of Dwellings

136
77
425

13,355m2
200
25,954m2

838

The survey metrics show that the ‘AM peak’ saturation of the junction is calculated
at between 75% - 90% on the four parts of the junction. These are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Site Access
A65 (W) – i.e. travelling eastbound
Hawksworth Road
A65 (E) – i.e. travelling westbound

The survey metrics also show that the ‘PM peak’ saturation is between 50% - 89%.
Both the ‘am’ and ‘pm’ peak periods show that the increased development upon this
western junction is set within acceptable levels of operating capacity at the junction
all of which are 90% or considerably less. The table with the data behind this can be
provided at Panel if required.
93.

The operation of the western junction in combination with the Hawksworth Road
junction on the A65 has been assessed using Transyt 15 and the modelling
parameters and results checked and agreed by the council.

94.

The model results have been considered as a scenario to represent an interim
phase in the development before the eastern access is delivered, although it is
apparent that a specific timeframe cannot be offered at present until timings around
occupation of these plots (generating the required revenues) become clearer.
Page 126

95.

The application was initially proposed to allow both plots K3 and K4 office buildings
(as well as plots E/F, J3/J4 and K1/K2) to be occupied prior to the eastern access
being brought forward, the modelling undertaken using the council’s parameters
showed that the western access would suffer a much higher level of congestion i.e.
beyond 90% saturation. As a result a further assessment was done removing plot
K4, the results of which are referred to above in para. 92.

96.

The applicants have therefore since initial submission now offered to remove plot K4
from the combination of plots being brought forward off the western junction for the
time being whilst further ongoing data can be collated in the future, further travel
planning measures promoted and ongoing connected work to reduce car parking in
the longer term undertaken in a controlled manner (the latter of which is controlled
through conditions for Reserved Matters to blocks E2/E3 and plots K3/K4).

97.

This is considered to be acceptable for this interim period until the eastern access is
delivered. It is therefore proposed to limit the level of development using solely the
western access to the residential elements E2/E3, J3/J4 and K1/K2 and office
building K3.

98.

Additionally, the applicants are also keen to stress other positive factors that should
be considered in the determination of the application and that the modelling itself
hasn’t accounted for in any way:
-

-

-

-

Based on current on-site parking ratios which are to reduce and the Council
have control of parking provision through the planning process (i.e. through
condition discharge on previous consents both within the Outline and Reserved
Matters approved to date);
Assumes no future modal shift (where as the Council are targeting 30%
reduction in car usage by 2030);
Assumes no future changes to working patterns, how offices are used or travel
behaviour may reflect more ‘flexible’ working between companies and staff;
Residential trip rates based on 1 space per apartment, where as the emerging
parking ratio in the new ‘Build to Rent’ model of development proposed for
blocks E2/E3 (and which is expected to be applied also to emerging apartment
plots J3/J4 also) totals 38% and this is also within the Council’s control;
Transyt model includes ‘conservative’ saturation flows in line with Urban Traffic
Management guidance;
The modelling includes the impact of the ‘Stonebridge Homes’ residential
development but no consent exists at present;
No allowance has been made for ‘transponder’ technology that detects an
approaching bus and would apply a ‘hurry’ call to the green signal on that
approach (this is not technology fully operating across the signals on the A65 at
present but may do in the future);
Assumes no one lives and works on site together.

99.

The Highways consultee has confirmed that a modest improvement is required to
the site exit arm of the signalised junction to increase the two lane approach to the
stop line, this can be achieved by removal of the cycle lane markings on the
carriageway, to compensate for this an off carriageway cycle track will be provided
within a widened footway area over the predicted length of the vehicle queue to the
signals. This can be controlled through condition.

100.

The Highways consultee notes that the Council’s Street Design Guide recommends
that developments of more than 300 dwellings have two points of vehicle access to
the wider highway network, in the longer term with provision of the eastern access
Page 127

this will be the case, however in the interim situation, measures are proposed to
assist with connectivity of the site for pedestrians and to deal with a potential
blockage of the single access point.
101.

The applicant has offered to additionally provide a pedestrian access onto the A65
on a continuation of the ‘Stitch’ central route through the site; this will significantly
improve pedestrian connectivity particularly to the Hawksworth estate and
Abbeydale and Vesper streets within Kirkstall. Pedestrians can safely cross the A65
at the existing pedestrian refuge near the Abbeydale Way junction and shorten the
walk from these various residential roads that would otherwise be via the western
access by 550m. In comparison with the council’s Core Strategy Accessibility
Standards the benefits would also be for residents of blocks E2/E3 in particular as
follows:
•
•
•

•

•
•

Primary schools should be within a 20min walk (1600m); the
Hawksworth Wood Primary is 1600m walk
Doctor’s Surgery (Vesper Road Surgery) should be within 20mins
walk (1600m); it is 1300m using a new pedestrian access.
Shops (Hawksworth Wood Co-op and adjacent pharmacy, hair
dressers, bakery, take-aways should be a 10min walk (800m), the
actual distance is 1100m but would be even further without the
new pedestrian access (additional shops are expected also to
come forward within plots E/F within the commercial space
approved)
Bus stops should be a 5min walk (400m), the Hawksworth Road
stops are this distance but a new pedestrian access would mean
the stops near Abbeydale Road (whilst a little further) give
passengers have the choice of not riding passed their destination
to walk back.
Secondary School (Lawnswood or Abbey Grange) would most
likely be accessed from the western access, so no effect.
The walk distance for local residents on the Hawksworth estate
and Abbeydale / Vesper roads to the station would also be
significantly improved; where it is understood this is a strong desire
of local residents.

102.

As outlined above the new pedestrian access via blocks E/F makes a significant
difference in current policy accessibility standards in the Core Strategy
(notwithstanding the original Outline application was approved prior to this
guidance). It makes the difference to enable a ‘pass’ on access to primary school
and doctor’s surgery, makes the current accessibility to local facilities less onerous
(prior to any delivered on site at Kirkstall Forge) and provides significant added
value for public transport users, and majorly helps address connectivity in relation to
otherwise seeking two points of access requirement in the Street Design Guide.

103.

A second reason for two points of access to large developments is to minimise the
risk of a blockage of an access making the site inaccessible by vehicles. As an
interim measure, a surfaced road does exist to the eastern access used by
construction traffic / security personnel (where in respect of the latter there is a base
currently). This could be used in the event of a blockage of the western access to
allow emergency vehicle access and allow office workers and residents to leave or
enter the site in a managed way. The applicants have outlined that this would be
made available in such circumstances should it be required.

104.

The details of the above two measures can be controlled by condition.
Page 128

105.

In respect of bus penetration and accessibility it is noted that under current bus
routing arrangements along the A65, the nearest bus stops are at the Hawksworth
Road junction accessed via the western access. Blocks E2/E3 are approximately
400mm walk from this and the rail station, plot J1 and J3/J4 are closer to 600m from
these stops. The preferred walk distance to bus stops is provided in local and
national guidance as 400m. So for access into the Forge estate for wider site bus
penetration (in the medium – long term) would still beneficial.

106.

Further to the revised arrangements including the pedestrian access onto the A65,
at the time of writing, the updated proposals are being communicated with West
Yorkshire Combined Authority and any additional comments will be verbally
presented to Plans Panel.

107.

It is however considered the variation will allow for the connecting road to be better
set for a quicker future delivery within the site and that alongside the additional
measures in so far as the opening onto the A65 above the Pocket Park, this will
significantly benefit greater bus and train usage at the site.

108.

The varied conditions also allow for the design work to the access road and junction
to be triggered upon a level of occupation threshold and this should assist in
delivery of this circa £9m infrastructure.
CONCLUSIONS:

109.

The application as a variation of the original permission, is considered will further
help facilitate more efficient / quicker delivery of key upcoming plots, whilst at the
same time improving upon existing pedestrian accessibility between the Forge and
neighbouring communities and key public transport nodes both by bus and train.

110.

The application is also considered to maintain highway safety and efficiency at the
western junction whilst better facilitating the timely development of plots in the short
to medium term which will in turn generate an important cluster of new sustainable
housing and commercial floorspace delivery.

111.

The application is therefore considered to be consistent with economic,
environmental and social objectives set out within the NPPF and is recommended
for approval.

Background Papers:
Application and history files.
Certificate of ownership: Signed on behalf of the applicant.

Page 129

20/08541/FU

SOUTH AND WEST PLANS PANEL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

Page 130

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

SCALE : 1/9000

°

Note
The contractor will beheld to have examined the site and checked dimensions and
levels before commencing construction works.
No assumptions should be made without reference to the architect.
No dimensions should be scaled from this drawing.
Rev

Description

Date

By

SITE OWNERSHIP

Page 131
The Eagle Building
215 Bothwell Street
Glasgow G2 7ED
COOPER CROMAR

T: +44(0) 141 332 2570
F: +44(0) 141 332 2580
E: info@coopercromar.com
www.coopercromar.com

PLANNING ISSUE
Client

KirkstallForge Investment Property I Limited

Project Title

KIRKSTALL FORGE
LEEDS - J1

Drawing Title

MASTER PLAN

Scale

Date

@ A3

SCALE 1:5000

June 2015

Drawn by

Checked by

JM

SW

Job No

Drawing No

14096G

AL(PL)00

Revision

This page is intentionally left blank

